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his book reco rds the di ve rse and signif­
icant Nebraska landmarks, buildings, 
and di stri cts that have been li sted on the 

Na tional Reg ister of Historic Places. From 
prehi stori c Indian ca mps of 12,000 years ago 
to our magnifi cent state capitol building of the 
1930s, these sites and structures renect the 
fasc inating hi story of Nebraska and the vision 
and cuura ge of the people who ha ve made it 
th eir hom e. 

I invite all Nebraskans to take pride in 
the beauty and signifi ca nce of their state's 
tangib le pa st and tujoin with me in preserving 
these surviving sy mbol s uf our unique heri ­
tage . 

Sincere ly, 

Cf~~ 
Governor 
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ebraska's hi story is more than si mply a collec­
tion of buildings a nd archeological sites, or a 
li st of people and events. Yet the prese rvation 

of our hi story includes the preservation of notable 
a rchitecture, and of the places assoc ia ted with people 
and events from our past. 

The National Register of Histo ri c Places, created 
by the National Historic Preservation Ac t of 1966, is 
the na tion's official li st of historic and cultural resour­
ces, part of a con tinuing national effort to identify, 
eva luate, and protect them. Inclusion on the Na tional 
Register demands adherence to ca refully defin ed 
standards described on page 15 ; inev itably, because 
o f improper renova tion o r a lterations, some historic 
places do no t meet those uniform standards and are 
not included. Additional properti es simply await 
iden tifica ti o n, eva luati on , and doc um e nta tion 
through the hi stori c preservation program adm inis­
tered by the Nebraska State Histori ca l Society . 

This book, produced jointly by Nebraska His/Dry 
and NEBRASKA/al/d Magazine, describes the nea rl y 
500 Nebraska Na tional Registe r properti es approved 
through September, 1988. The properties are li sted 
alphabeti ca ll y by loca tion (county, ci ty, or locality), 
and the na me of the property. The hi storic name is 
g iven first, fo llowed by the common na me when app li ­
cable, and a brief description of the property's signifi ­
cance. Some Nat ional Registe r properties have been 
designated National Historic Landm arks, and are 
identified by the letters "N HL." A g lossa ry a t the end 
of the vo lume defines technica l te rm s used in the text. 

The majo rity o f Nebraska's Nat ional Registe r 
properties, many of which are private homes, a re not 
open to the pub lic. Those which are open, such as 
museum s and sta te hi storica l park s, a re no ted. For 
more information about the National Reg ister pro­
gram or spec ific Nebraska propert ies, contac t the 
State Histo ri c Preserva tion Office, Nebraska State 
Historical Society, P.O. Box 82554, Lincoln , NE 
6850 I, te lephone (402) 471-4787. For Info rmation 
about state hi sto ri ca l park s, con tac t the Nebraska 
Game and Parks Commission, Box 30370, Lincoln , 
NE 68503, te lephone (402 ) 47 1-064 1 . 

.Joni G. Gilkerson, Architectural Historian 
NEBRASKA STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY 
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ADAMS COUNTY 


-----HASTINGS----­

WILLIAM BRACH HOUSE 
823 North Lincoln Avenue 
The frame house was built about 1884 for Will iam Brach 
in a simplified Queen Anne style and was remodeled 
shortly after 1900 incorpora ting Neo-C lassical Revival 
elements. The orig inal porch was replaced with classica l­
ly-styled columns and bal ustrade. William Brach, a native 
of Germ any, settlcd in Hastings in the late 1870s. He was 
president of Wolbach and Brach, a prospcrous dry goods 
and department store. 

BURLINGTON STATION 
First Street and St. Joseph's Avenue 
Hastinos (found ed 187 1) was located where the SI. Joseph 
and D~n ver City Rai lroad crossed the Burlington line 
bet ween Inl and and Juniata. By 1880 Hastings had 
beco me a major di vision point for the railroads, When the 
new Buriin oton Stat ion was completed in 1902 , Hastings 
was the third largest ra il road cc nler in Nebraska. Designed 
by Omaha architect Thomas Rogers Kimball , the Burling­
Ion Station is 3n excellent though modest example of 
Spanish Colonial Revival architecture. 

CHAUTAUQUA PAVILION 
Chautauqua Park (Old Prospect Park) 

In November 1905 Georg ia eva ngelist Lincoln McCon­
nell conducted a series of revival meetings in Hastings. 
The meetings proved so popular that a group of local 
businessmen and the Reverend Hiram B. Harrison of the 
Fi rst Co ngregationa l Church formed the Hastings Chau­
tauqua Associat ion. 

Su mmer Chautauqua assemblies brought music, re li­
gious and ph ilosophical di scussions, and literary read ings 
to people who were relatively isolated from such cultural 
and educational advantages. 

The success of the fi rst Hastings Chautauqua assembly 
in 1906 resulted in the dec ision to build a permanent 
pavilion. Dedicated in July 1907 , the pavil ion is a unique 
octagonal struct ure wi th open sides except where walls 
enclose a stage and choir area. Capable of seating 3,500 
people, the pavil ion was the largest in the state. 

CLARKE HOTEL 
233 North Hastings Avenue 

Designed in the Renaissance Revival style, the six-story 
bri ck bu ilding was constructed in 1914 wi th an addition 
made in 19 16. Local arc hitect C. W. Way employed ele­
gant touches in the interior of the city's grand hotel , incl ud­
ing the famous grill room, which has a series of murals 
painted by It alian arti st Giuseppe Aprea depicting seven­
teenth -century European tavern scenes. The Clarke Hotel 
operated unt il March 1987 . It has been renovated lor use 
as retirement housing. (photo p. 12) 

FARRELL BLOCK (STONE BLOCK) 
Second Street and Denver Avenue 
The Farrell Block was designed by C. C. Rittenhouse and 
constructed of Colorado sandstone in 1880. 1t was built as 
a commercial and office building by Thomas E. Farrell , an 
ea rly sett ler and community leader. A fire destroyed half of 
the structure in 195 3. 

McCORMICK HALL 
800 North Turner Avenue (Has tings College Campus) 

Hastings College opened in September 1882. In April 
1883 ground was broken fo r McCormi ck Hall , the first 
bui lding erected on the campus. It was named for reaper 
inventor Cyrus McCormick, who made the in itial contri­
butio n for the bui lding's construction. The hall was com­
pleted and dedi cated in October 1884. The two-story brick 
structure di splays Itali anate detai ls. (photo p. 10) 

NEBRASKA LOAN AND TRUST COMPANY 
BUILDING (CLARKE-BUCHANA N BUILDING) 
Second Street and Lincoln Avenue 
The Nebraska Loa n and Trust Com pany Bu ilding is a fine 
example of a commercial building designed in the Italian­

51 Mark 's Episcopal Pro·Ca1hedraL Hasllngs (p. l 0) 
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An\lOch School (OISlflC t 20), Pauline vlCIMITy (p.t t ) 
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McCormick Hall, Hasllngs College, Hastings (p.S) 

VictOry (Dunon) OUl ldmg, Hastings (p.ll ) 

ate style. The build ing was co nstructed in 1883-84 as an 
office with space for the Nebraska Loan and Trust Com­
pany. For over two decades the Nebraska Loan and Trust 
prospe red, contributing to the settlement and g rowth of 
Nebraska and po rtions of Kansas. Succeeding the Loan 
and Trust was another savings and loa n, the C larke­
Buchanan Company, organi zed in 1903. (photo p. I I) 

NOWLAN-DIETRICH HOUSE 
1105 North Kansas Avenue 
The o rigina l house was built by A. J. Nowlan , a Hastings 
grocer, in 1886-87. C harles He nry Dietrich, former gov­
ernor and U.S. senator, purchascd it in 1909. Dietrich 
made ex tensive alterations to the house and created a 
period ho use of Eclectic design. The ex terio r cha nges 
included a tile roof, a bric k front porch, Pa lladi an win­
dows, and a columned balcony. Dietrich's wiFe, Margretta 
Shaw Stewart Dietrich, was prominent in the sta te woman 
suffrage move ment a nd women's and children's ri ghts 
campaigns. 

ST. MARK'S EPISCOPAL PRO-CATHEDRAL 
Fourth and Burfington streets 
O ne of the two cathedrals in the Episcopal Diocese of 
Nebraska, SI. Mark 's was designed by the nationally prom­
inent architect Ra lph Ada ms C ram. Pl ans were drawn in 
19 19 and the Late Gothic Reviva l structure was com­
pleted a decade la te r. (photo p. 8) 

10 



STEIN BROTHERS BUILDING 
630 West Second Street 
The Ste in Brothers Building, constructed in 1906, is onc of 
the most refined turn-of-the-century buildings in Hastings. 
It is a notable exampl e of Prairie style commc rcial archi ­
tecture. Edmund and HeTman Stein, nati ves of Harvard, 
Nebraska, cstablished the Stein Brothers Store, which for 
twenty-seven years was a genera l merchandise business 
that servcd patrons from a wide area of central Nebraska 
and northern Kansas. 

VICTORY BUILDING 
(DUTTON BUILDING) 
Second Street and SI. Joseph Avenue 
Built to commemorate America's victory during World 
War I, the Victory Build ing is a six-story ma nufac turing 
a nd wa rehousc fac ility constructed for the Dutton Com­
pany, which was o rigin ally foundcd as a wholesale harness 
a nd saddlery compa ny. The bu ilding was completed in 
1920 and is an excellcnt exam pic of I 920s-cra industri al 
architecture. It incorporates adva nced techn ica l fealUres, 
including concrete frame co nstruction, a sprinkler system, 
stecl firc doors, stee l sash windows, and stccl furni shings. 
The build ing is now the headquarters for the Dutton-Lai n­
son Company's wholesale di vision. (pho to p. 10) 

----HASTINGS VICINITy--- ­

THIRTY-TWO-MILE STATION SITE 

Constructcd in 1860, Thirty- two-Mil e C ree k Station, or 
C lark e's Ranch, was a "home" sta tion on the fa med Pony 
Express Routc, provid ing meals as well as fresh ho rses. 
The estab lishm ent, operated by George A. Comstock , 
consisted of at lea st one long single- sto ry building, 
although stables and other fac ilities were probably a lso 
construc ted. Afterthe end of the Pony Express in the fa ll o f 
186 1, Thirty- two- Mile C reek servcd brieny as a stage 
station. The stati on was burned by Indi ans in the summ er 
of 1864. 

----PAULINE VICINITy---­

ANTIOCH SCHOOL (DISTRICT 20 SCHOOL) 
Adams County School Distric t 20 was fo rmed on Scp­
te mber 23, 1872. Replacing sod and frame structures, the 
red brick schoolhouse was built in 1902 and is a well -pre­
served example of the one-room rural schoo lhouse. Thc 
sc hool property al so includes fra me pri vies, a storm cella r, 
and playground eq uipment. C lasses were last held in thc 
school in 1965. The building is now used as a township 
hall. (photo p. 9) 

ANTELOPE COUNTY 


------NELIGH ----- ­
AN TELOPE COUN TY COURTHOUSE 
501-511 Main Street 
The Antelopc County Courthousc is one of the o ldest 
courthouses in ebraska. The bric k build ing was erected 
in 1894-95 in the Romanesque Reviva l style. The ori gi na l 

fo ur-sided clock tower which crowned the roo f was re­
moved in the I 960s. (photo p. 13) 

GATES COLLEGE GYMNASIUM 
(ANTELOPE COUNTY JAIL) 
509 L Street 
The 1892 Gates College Gymnasium is the las t remaining 
bui ld ing of Gates College, a Congregational C hurch 
school. The coll ege, fo unded in 1882 , was closed in the 
la te I 89 0s, and by 1900 the gymnasium building had been 
purchased by Antelope County for a j ai l. In 1964 the 
building was don ated to the Antelope County Historical 
Soc iety for use as a museum. 

NELIGH MILL AND ELEVATORS 
111 West Second Street 
The Neligh Mill , constructed in 1873-74 on the Elkhorn 
Ri ver, is one of hundreds of mills established during Ne­
braska's early settlement years. John D. Neligh, founder of 
the town, had the mill built to e ncourage rura l se ttlement 
a nd lOwn growth . The Neligh Mill prospered and by 1900 
was shipping nour th roughout the U.S. and Europe. The 
Ne ligh Mill e levators and warehouse, located adjacent to 
the Neligh Mill , provided the storage capacity needed to 
assure a ready market for grain grown in the region. With 
these faciliti es the Neligh Mill became the largest milling 
company in no rtheastern Nebraska . In 1970 the Nebraska 
State Hi storica l Society acquired the mill , complete with 

Nebraska Loan and Trust Company (Clarke-Buchanan) BUlldmg, Hasllngs (p. 8) 
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Clarke Hotel, Hastings (p.8) 

much of the original equipment, and now operates it as a 
branch museum. It is one of the oldest and best examples of 
a large water-powered mill in America. (photo p. 13) 

ST. PETER'S EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
411 L Street 
St. Peter's Episcopa l Church is a simplified version of 
Gothic Revival architecture. The first Epi scopal Church 
services in Neligh were conducted by the Reverend J. C. 
Eldred, who arrived in the small village before the coming 
of the rail road. In March 1887 Neligh Episcopa li ans pur­
chased the building site. St. Peter's was consecrated in 
1888 by Bi shop George Worthington , who call ed it " the 
best small frame church in the diocese." (photo p. 15) 

ARTHUR COUNTY 


-----------ARTHUR--------- ­

PILGRIM HOLINESS CHURCH 

(BALED HAY CHURCH) 

The Pilgrim Holiness Church was bu ilt in 1928 of ba led 
rye straw. Baled hay or straw proved an alternative to 
lumber or sod as a bui lding material and was used 
throughout the Sandhill s. The stnlcture is the only known 
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church bui lt of baled straw. and the bui lding is a un iq ue 
example of Nebraska fo lk architecture. (photo pp. 14-1 5) 

BANNER COUNTY 


-----HARRiSBURG VICINITy----- ­

c. c. HAMPTON HOMESTEA D 
(WA RNER RANCH) 
The Hampton Homestead is located in the high plains of 
Ba nner County along the headwaters of Pumpkin Creek. 
The ranch headquarters consists of several buildings and 
corrals incl uding the 1890 log ranch house. Commodore 
C. Hampton came to the area in the 1880s, filing a home­
stead clai m of 160 acres. He established one of the lirst 
Aeromotor Windmi ll distri butorshi ps in Nebraska and 
promoted this wi ndmill to his fe llow ranchers to ass ure an 
adequate water supply in the Pu mpkin Creek va ll ey. 
Within tcn yea rs the homestead grew to a ranch of over 
3,000 acres. After various ow nership changes, the prop­
erty was purchased by Lawrence Warner in 1942 and 
became known as the Warner Ranch. 

BOONE COUNTY 


----------RAEVILLE--------- ­

ST. BONAVENTURE 
CATHOLIC CHURCH COMPLEX 
The St. Bonaventu re complex consists of the brick church, 
a three-story brick school, a two-story frame rectory, a 
one- story frame parish hall , and the church cemetery and 
orchard. The mag nificent church was built in 19 17- 19 in 
the Romanesque Revival style. Jacob M. Nachtiga ll of 
Omaha was the architect. Surrounded by rolling hill s and a 
vast agricuitural landscapc, the church is a noted landmark 
with its twin towers visible for miles. The complex forms 
an important ethnic and religious hamlet for the German­
Catholic commun ity. (photo p. 14) 

BOX BUTTE COUNTY 


------ MARSLAND VICINITY ----- ­

RUNNING WATER STATION SITE 
Running Water was onc of several key stat ions located 
along the Sidney-Black Hill s Trail between 1874 and the 
mid - 1880s to serve tra ve lers and freighters on their way to 
the go ld fields. Running Water fun ctioned as a wayside 
station for trail travelers, providing food , supplies, and 
fresh horses. 

BOYD COUNTY 




--- -LyNCH VICINITy---­

LYNCH SITE 
The Lynch Site was a large village of circular ea rthlodges 
occupied abo ut A.D. 1450- 1550. Few villages from thi s 
peri od were located in Nebraska, the majority having been 
establi shed along the Mi ssouri River in South Dakota. 
Lynch, and villages like it , renec t a prehi storic blending of 
cultures from central Nebraska and the Missouri River 
va lley in the Dakotas from which the historic Pawnee and 
Arikara tribes emerged severa l centuries Imer. 

BUFFALO COUNTY 

-----------KEARNEy-----­

JOHN BARND HOUSE 
320 Eas t Thirty-firs t Street 
The John Barnd House, a large two-and-one-half- story 
frame dwelling built about 1892, is a good example of the 
Queen Anne style. Barnd ca me to Kea rney in 1874 , estab­
lished a law prac tice, and later was elected Buffa lo County 
judge for two terms. In 1888 Barnd establi shed the Mutua l 

An1elope Co. Courthouse, Ne'lgh (p.ll ) 
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Loa n and In vestment Company of Kearney; the following 
year he became co·owne rof the Commercial and Savings 
Bank . (photo p. 17) 

GEORGE W. FRANK HOUSE 
Kearney State College Campus 
The George W. Frank House was constructed in an excl u­
sive suburb of Kearney developed by the George W. Frank 
Improve ment Company. Frank was invo lved in many of 
the town's industrial and commercial affa irs. Bu ilt in 1889 
ofColor3do sandstone, the house represen ts the prosperity 
Kearney enjoyed during this period. It is a produc t of 
Eclec ticism. combining the Shingle style and Richardson­
ian Romanesque architecture. (photos p. 17) 

HA NSON-DOWNING HOUSE • 
733 West Twenty-second Street 
The Hanson-Downing House, built in 1886, is an exce llent 
example of the Ame rican ornamented cottage. The asym­
metry of fOfms, variat ion in roof sections, and textural 
variety crea te a picturesque effect and demonstrate the 
versatility of wood as a building materi a l. The house was 
built by Charles E. Hanson and later sold to Wallace A. 
Downing. Both were businessmen in Kearney. The house 
is owned by the Kearney Woman 's Club. (photo p. 16) 

ST. LUKE'S PROTESTANT 
EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
2304 Second Avenue 
The church, constructed in 1908-9, is the third building to 
be erec ted for the congregat ion. The structure was 
desig ned by Chicago architect John Su tcliffe in the Gothic 
Revival style. 

DR.. A. O. THOMAS HOUSE 
222 Nin th Avenue 
The Thomas House was designed by Ncbraska archi tect 
George A. Berlinghof in 1906 in the Nco-C lassica l Revi­
val style. Dr. A. O. Thomas, a nati ve of Illinois, was the first 
president of the Kea rney State Norm al School, now Kea r­
ney State College. 

U.S. POST OFFICE 
2401 Central Avenue 
Completed in 191 I , the Post Office Building is a fin e 
example of the Nco-C lassical Rev iva l style. It was 
designed by James Knox Taylor. Taylor's education and 
ea rly practice was in 51. Paul , Minnesota. In 1897 he 
became the supervising architec t of the U.S. Treasury. The 
Post Offi ce Building is a landmark in Kearney and now 
houses the Nebraska Art Collection, which is open to the 
public. 

----SHELTON VICINITY ---­

GEORGE MEISNER HOUSE 
The large two- story frame house was constructed in 1893­
94 fo r George Meisner, a successfu l rancher and busi­
nessman in the Shelton area. M eisner was an avid enter­
tainer and used his home for elaborate dances, pa rt ies, and 
dinners. The property once boasted a fountain , paved path­
ways with numerOllS plantings, and a circular driveway, of 

81. Bonavonlule Church. Raevi lle lp.121 
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Pllgrlrn Holiness Church, Arthur (p.12) 

51. Petef·s Episcopal Church. Neligh (p. 12) 

John Holman House, Humboldt (p. 11 7) 

Qualifying for the Register 

Developed to recognize districts, sites, build­
ings, or objects significant to the history of the 
United States, the National Register includes 

properties in every locality. To be listed on the 
National Register, properties generally must be at 
least 50 years old, and retain their historic character. 
Properties must: 

(1) be associated with events that have con­

tributed significantly to the broad patterns of our 

history; or 

(2) be associated with the lives of persons sig­
nificant in our past; or 
(3) embody the distinctive characteristics of a 

type, period, or method of construction, repre­

sent the work of a master, possess high artistic 

values, or represent a significant and distin­

guishable entity whose components may lack 

individual distinction; or 

(4) have yielded, or be likely to yield, informa­

tion important in prehistory and/or history. 


A property must also have integrity of location, 
deSign, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and 
association. If it has been dramatically altered, or its 
setting has been lost, it is probably not eligible for the 
register. 

TAX INCENTtVES 

Historic preservation tax incentives have helped to 
preserve and revitalize older areas of Nebraska 
communities through Federal laws establishing a tax 
credit for the rehabilitation of historic buildings for 
income prodUCing purposes. To qualify, buildings 
must be listed on the National Register and renova­
tion must be in keeping with the historic character of 
the property. The State Historic Preservation Office is 
the primary contact for certifying a rehabilitation 
project. 
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HansQfl-Downing House. Kearney (p.14) 

which only the latter remains. Originally designed as a 
Queen Anne rural mansion, the dwelling was remodeled 
around 1915 to reflect the then popular Neo-Classica l 
Revival style. 

BURT COUNTY 


----LyONS VICINITY --- ­

DEUTSCHE EVANGELISCHE 

LUTHERISCHE ST. JOHANNES KIRCHE 

(ST. JOHN'S LUTHERAN CHURCH) 


St. John 's German Evangelical Lutheran Church is an 
excellent example ofa German folk version or the Gothic 
Revival style. Unique in its rich wood and metal detailing, 
St. John 's is one of the fin est and least altered frame 
churches in Nebraska. Emigration to the Lyons area began 
in the early 18705, when German immigrants who had first 
sett led in Eitzen, Minnesol:.i , moved there. The congrcga· 
tion was formed in 1874. Thc present church was erected 
in 1902 and was designed by a German -born architect, 
J. P. Guth of Omaha. (photo p. 19) 
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----OAKLAND VICINITy---­

LOGAN CREEK SITE 
Hunter-gatherers of the Early Archaic peri od intermit ­
tently reocc upied a campsite on a now deeply buried tcr­
racc of Logan Creek. Archcological excavations revca lcd 
successive layers, each representing a reocc upat ion of the 
site. The site dates 6000-4000 B.c. and offers an unusu­
ally ri ch record of activity during this early period of 
Nebraska's preh istory. Inhabitants hunted bi son and 
obtained a wide variety of small er ga me, fi sh, and wild 
plant foods. Logan Creek was occupied during a dry, 
warm climatic episode in the central and western Plains, 
which may have forced hUlllan groups to relocate to areas 
like Logan Creek in the eastern margins of the Plains. 

- -----TEKAMAH----­

E, C. HO USTON HOUSE 
319 North Tilirteenth Street 
The E. C. Houston House was built for Emsley Clinton 
Houston. Houston was the owner and founder of the Hous­
ton Lumber Com pany in Tekam ah and also served as vice 
president of the First National Bank of Tekamah for ovcr 



twenty years. He was elec ted mayor of Tekamah in 1893 
and was a state senator in 1919. The large frame house 
const ructed in 1904-5 incorporates Nco-C lassical Revival 
details in it s porches, door and window openings, and 
corni ces. The Illost di stinctive part of the dwelling is the 
prominent porch, which has a wooden railing on the first 
level and wrought iron railing on the seco nd and attic 
stori es. It is now the Burt Cou nty Museum. (photo p. 18) 

H.S.M. SPiEtMAN HOUSE 
1103 I Street 
Pennsy lvan ia nat ive 1-1 . S. M. Spie lm an settled in Burt 
County in 1857, ten yea rs before Nebraska achieved 
statehood. Spie lm an wa s a slIccessful , enterpri sing farmer 
fur over fifty years before moving to this house in 1906 
after his re tirement He served as directo r and vice- presi­
dent or the Farmer's Grain and Li vcs(Ock Associat ion of 
Tekama h, director and trCll$UrCr of the Tekamah and 
Farmer's Telephone Company, and vice-president of the 
Burt Count y State Bank. The house ex hibit s both Queen 
Anne and Nco-C lassica l Rev iva l detailing in its design. 

----TEKAMAH VICINITy---­
JOHN HENRY STORK LOG HOUSE 
John Henry Stork ca me to BUrl County frolll Prussia in 
1864 and settl ed on a fa rm in Arizona Prec inct. Stork later 
bui lt the log house and in September 187 1 received his 
homestead palent fro m the U.S. governm ent. The ollc-and­
une-half-story, hewn log structure is a unique example or 
Ge rlll an culture in Nebraska. 

BUTLER COUNTY 


------ABIE VICINITy----­
BARCAL OR SKULL CREEK SITE 
The Ba rcal Site is a large Pa wnee earthl odge village on a 
prominent nat ural terrace ove rl ook ing Sk ull C reek. Three 
lodge sites and a varie ty of other village features such as 
storage fac ilities, horse corra ls and meat drying racks were 

George Frank House, Kearney (p.141 

excavated. St ruct ures showed ev idence of rebu ilding, 
impl ying the community was abandoned and later reocc u­
pied_ On the basis of pOllcry characteri st ics the site ha s 
been dated A. D. 1700- 1750, spanning the period of first 
Europea n contact wi th the Pawnee. 

----BELLWOOD VICINITY -- ­

BELLWOOD SITE 
The Bellwood Site is a large Pawnee village located on a 
Pl atte River terrace. Two occ upation ep isodes are evide nt. 
The ea rliest occurred during the period A.D . 1650-1 750, 
prior \0 the Pawnee having close contact with Europea ns. 
The latter occ upation was about A.D. 1795- 1800 by the 
Grand Band of the Pawnee co nfede ration. These separate 
occ upati ons prior to and follow ing Pawnee acquisiti on of 
the horse. gun, and other Europea n cOlllmodities have 
furni shed archeologists with an excell ent opportunity to 
evaluate the nature or Pawnee-Europea n interaction. 

George Frank House, Kearney (p.14) John 8arnd House. Kearney (p.l 3) 
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--- --DAVID CITY----­

CHAUNCEY TAYLOR HOUSE 
(RICHARD ZEILINGER HOUSE) 
715 Fourth Street 
The Zeilinger House was buill in 1888 for C hauncey S. 
Taylor, a loca l jeweler. Local legend states that Taylor 
brought with him to David City an "18· inch- square" 
model of a former home, which was copied by the carpen­
ter to construct the present house. The property was later 
ow ned by the John and Richard Ze ilinger fa milies, found ­
ers in 1892 of a successful hardware business in David 
City. The house is an ec lectic composite of the Queen 
An ne and French Second Empire styles and feature s a 
prom inent three- story corner tower. (photo p. 20) 

THORPE'S OPERA HOUSE 
457 V, O Street 
The three- sto ry brick commerc ial building was con­
structed in 1889 by William Thorpe as a rec ital hall for hi s 
daughter, Es te lle. Estelle's favo rite color, b lue, was used in 
the interior of the second !loor opera house, which contains 
box seats, a "u., shaped ba lcony, a nd a mulli-Ieveled 
gal lery. Groups such as the Boston Comic Opera Com­
pany and the Tennessean Jubilee Singers perfo rmed at 
Thorpe's Opera House. The faci lity is currently used as a 
co mmunity theater. 

------DWIGHT-------­

FREMONT, ELKHORN, AND MISSOURI 
VALLEY RAILROAD DEPOT (CHICAGO 
r1ND NORTHWESTERN RAILROAD DEPOT) 
First and MapJe streets 
The Dwight Depot is a typica l example of a small town 
railroad station , of the architectura l style used by the Fre­
mont, Elkhorn and Mi ssouri Valley Railroad, a former 
Chicago and Northwestern subsidiary. Using a standard 

set of blueprints, the railroad constructed nearly identical 
depots in each town, making only minor st ructural 
changes from one to another. Construction of these simple 
fra me buildings was a cost- saving factor for the railroad. 
The Dwight Depot was buill in 1887 and served the town 
until 1962. The building is used as a museum. (photo p. 21 ) 

------LINWOOD VICINITY-----­

LINWOOD SITE 
This impressive Pawnee village is mentioned in the jour­
nal s of Meriwether Lewis and William Clark (1804) and 
Zebu lon Pik e ( 1806) as well as in those of numerous other 
travelers through the 1850s. The vill age was occ upied at 
least twice, the first time from 1777-1809 and the second 
from 1850-5 7. The latter occupation was the last for the 
Grand Pawnee as a distinct cullura l group prior to their 
relocation to the Genoa Reservat ion in present-day Nance 
County. It is believed that the Oto tribe also occupied 
Linwood during the 1820s. Mi ssionari es in the 1850s and 
settlers in the 1870s noted over 100 earthlodge sites, defen­
sive sad embankments, pony corral s, burial grounds, a 
possible ceremonial structure, and deeply rutted trail s 
leading in a nd out of the community. (photo p. 2 1) 

------SURPRISE-----­

SURPRISE OPERA HOUSE 
Miller and River streets 
The one-story concrete-block community hall and opera 
house was constructed in 19 13 by the town of Surprise. 
The interio r has a stage and balcony, with a wooden Iloor 
and pressed tin ceiling. The last performance, "Sparking 
Down in Arkansas," was held in the opera house in 1954. 
The building was then used fo r square dancing, auctions, 
and graduations. 

CASSCOUNTY 


- -----ASHLAND VICINITY-----­

ASHLAND SITE 

Several ep isodes of Native America n occupation have 
been documented at this site. Excavations uncovered both 
sq uare and circular ea rthlodge ruins and a diverse assort­
ment o f native and European artifacts. The earli est occu­
pat ion was by a late prehistoric (A D . I000- 1400) g roup, 
foll owed by very early historic (around 1650-1750) Oto 
and Pawnee villages. Etienne Veniard de Bourgmont men­
tioned an occ upied Oto village at or near this location 
during hi s 1714 visit in the region. (photo p. 108) 

- ------AVOCA VICINITY------­

KEHLBECK FARMSTEAD 

The Kehlbec k Farmstead is a remarkably well -preserved 
farmstead composed of twenty- three build ings illustrating 
an ea rl y twentieth century general farm operation. Note­
wort hy bu ildings include the two-sto ry frame house, bui lt 
in 1907 , and the large fra me barn, constructed arou nd 
19 10 to house both ho rses and cattl e. Several of the build­
ing s, as well as the landscaping, rellect the German back-

E C Houston House. Tekamah 10.16) 
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Deutsche EYangehschc Luthcrlschc 51. Johannes Kuchn (51. John's Lutheran Church) Lyons Ylclnity (p.t6) 
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ground of Henry Frederick Kehlbeck, who emigrated to 
the United States in 1885. One of the most striking features 
of the farmstead is the system of allees crea ted by cedar 
tree pl antings framing the main farm lane and the front 
yard . (photo p. 25) 

----------ELMWOOD--------­
THE ELMS 

(BESS STREETER ALDRICH HOUSE) 

East of Elmwood City Park 
"The Elms" was the home and study of Bess Streeter 
Aldri ch, a prominent writer born at Cedar Falls. Iowa. in 
1888. After a teaching career in Iowa and Utah. she moved 
to Elm wood, Nebraska , in 1909. Mrs. Aldrich's nove ls and 
short stories dcpict life on the Nebraska prairie in the late 
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries and provide 
authentic interpretations of midwestern small towns. The 
two· slory frame dwelling waS constructed in 1922. 

--------MURRAy VICINITy------­
WALKER GILMORE SITE (NHL) 
Successive layers of cultural deposits ex posed in the cut 
bank of Sterns Creek are the remain s of onc of the l11 os1 
important prehistoric cultures in the eastern Great Plains. 
The Sterns Creek Phase, dating A.D.800- 1200, is an early 
group which relied heavil y for food on wild pl ants, ani­
mals. and cu ltivation of gourdsand squash. Archeological 
work althe site has recovered an abundance offooel refuse. 
Slone. bone, and ceramic artifacts; and evidence of both 
tiuli ched roof dwellings and food drying or processing 
racks. 

Dates assoc iated with the Stern s Creek site ovcrlap in 
part wi th another much different local group, the Nebras­
ka Pha se, suggesting both cultures may ha ve occ lipied 
southeast Nebraska simultaneollsly for as long as a 
century. 

linwood SilO VICinity. Buller Courrly Ip 18) 

------NEHAWKA VICINITy---­

NEHAWKA FUNTQUARRIES 
Early archcolog ists observed nca rl y 300 unusual deprl!s­
sions in Ilint -rich areasof Pennsy lvanian limestone ro nna ­
li on along Weeping Wate r Cree k. These features pruvl!d to 
be quarry pits dug by prehistori c Nebraskan s to depths of 
over ten feet. The massive amount of labor expended tu 
obtain Ilinl Icstilies to the importance of chipped stolll! 10 

prehi storic peopl e. The group most responsible for the 
mines is the Nebraska Phase, a fanning and hunting cul ­
ture that flouri shed ill eastern Nebraska from A.D. I 100­
1400. 

Fremont Elkholn. aM M,S!>OUII Valley FI;,droad Oepol O.... .Ql11lp 1B) 
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Thomas Rogers Kimball 


T
homas Rogers Kimball (1862-1934) is often consid­
ered Nebraska's greatest architect. Born near Cin­
cinnati, Ohio, Kimball studied at the University of 

Nebraska, the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, the 
Cowles Art School in Boston, and in Paris. In 1891, with 
C. Howard Walker and Herbert Best, Kimball formed the 
Boston architectural firm of Walker, Kimball and Best. 

Late in 1891 Walker and Kimball established a practice in 
Omaha under Kimball 's management. Some of Kimball 's 
early commissions in Omaha include the public library 
(p.52), the Burlington Station (p.39). and the Gurdon Wattles 
residence. Kimball 's relationship with Gurdon Wattles, presi­
dent of the Trans-Mississippi and International Exposition in 
Omaha in 1898, led to the selection of Walker and Kimball 
as architects-in-chief for the exposition. 

Omaha's most famous festival, the Trans-Mississippi 
Exposition was a huge fair sponsored by city businessmen 
to ,inform America about Omaha and the west. 

Under the architectural direction of Walker and Kimball , 
the exposition grew into a fantasy-land of domed-and­
columned classically styled buildings. Built largely of pIas­
ter-at-paris, the exposition structures were never intended 

to be permanent. They were dismantled following the expo­
sition, but influenced the architectural trends then coming 
into vogue in the state. The success of the Trans-Missis­
sippi Exposition and its architecture brought national fame 
to the firm. 

Shortly thereafter, the partnership was dissolved and 
Kimball established his own practice. He served as profes­
sional advisor to the Nebraska State Capitol Commission 
and wrote the design competition which led to the selection 
of Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue as architect forthe Nebras­
ka State Capitol Building (p. 89). In 1901 he was elected a 
fellow in the American Institute of Architects and served as 
its president from 1918 to 1920. 

Kimball designed many outstanding Nebraska buildings, 
including the Hall County Courthouse in Grand Island 
(p.69). the Paddock Hotel in Beatrice (p.64). and the Fonte­
nelle Hotel, St. Cecilia's Cathedral (p. 55), and the Webster 
Telephone Exchange Building (p. 59), all in Omaha. 

During the latter part of his career Kimball joined William 
Steele and Josiah Sandham to form the Omaha architec­
tural firm of Kimball, Steele and Sandham. Thomas Kimball 
died in 1934 at the age of 72. 

Thomas Rogers Kimball in his Omaha office 
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Ha l County Courthouse. Grand Island (p.691 
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Omaha Public Library. Omaha (p.52) 51. Ceclha's Cathedral. OmAha (P. 551 
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---------PLATTSMOUTH-------­

McLAUGHLIN-WAUGH-DOVEY HOUSE 
414 B Avenue 
The McLa ughlin -Waugh-Dovey House was built in 1883 
for A. W. McLaughlin, an early cashier of the First 
National Bank in Plallsmouth. The property served as the 
home for succeeding cashi ers of the bank (Samuel Waugh, 
Horatio Dovey) for nearly forty -fi ve years and became 
known to area resident s as the "Banker's HOllse." A fine 
exa mpl e of the Queen Anne style, the house has long been 
a Plattsmouth landmark. 

PLATTSMOUTH MAIN STREET 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Third, Seventh, Main streets, and 
Avenue A 
The Plattsmouth Main Street Hi stori c Di strict includes 
fort y-five late nineteenth and early twentieth century 
bui ldin gs loca ted along the main street in Plattsmouth, the 
co unty~se at of Cass County. The district is composed 
primarily of two- story masonry bu ildings of commercial 
Italianate des ign and also in cludes several exceptional 
exa mples of governmenta l architecture. The 1892 county 
co urthouse is the foca l point forthe di strict and is set back 
from Main Street on a ge ntly slop ing hill. Designed by 
William Gray, an architect from Lincoln who was known 
for hi s co urthollse designs, the Cass County bui lding is of 
the same County Capi tol form of Gray's ea rlier designs 
but is notable for its Romanesque Revi val detailing. 
Plattsmouth , in corporated in 1855, ha s one of the oldest 
comm ercial streets in Nebraska.(photos below, p. 27) 

----PLATTSMOUTH VICINITy----­
NAOMI INSTITUTE (ROCK BLUFF SCHOOL) 
Situated on a slope overlooking Rock and Squaw creeks in 
the Missouri River bluffs, the one-story brick school is a 
remnant of the defunct village of Rock Bluff. Established 
by Joseph Di ven Patterson and built in 1870 as the Naomi 
Institute, the building was originall y a two- story structure. 
The Naomi In stitute was known as one of the leading 
educational institutions in the state and the first institution 
in the county to offer secondary-level education. The 
school served as the Nao mi Institute for only two years, 
and in the fall of 1872, the building became known as the 
Rock Bluff School. The buildin g, purportedly the oldest 
schoolhouse in Cass County, is owned by the Cass County 
Hi storical Society and used as a museum. 

--------WEEPiNG WATER -------­

GIBSON HOUSE 
107 Clinton 

The Gibson House is an excellent example in Nebraska of 
Georgian arch itecture.The house also incorporates Italian­
ate features in its design. The two-story brick dwelling was 
built for Mary Gibson , the wife of a loca l attorney, some­
time in the late 1880s or early 1890s. (photo p. 26) 

WEEPING WATER HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Randolph and H streets 
The town of Weeping Water was incorporated 111 

December 1870. It was known as the "sto ne ci ty" because 
of the town's prosperous limestone industry. The first 
quarry opera tions began in the I 860s. The Congregational 

Ptallsmouth Maon SttCct HistOriC DistriCt. Ptallsmouth. about t 900 labovc) 
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Church, buill in 1870-7 1. and the pa rsOIwgc. buill abo ut 
1865, were constructed of loca lly quarried limestone. The 
distri ct also contains an 1880s fal se- front cOlllmercial 
building of frame construction, which was the offi ce and 
cl in ic of Dr. Jesse C. Fate. an early physician. (photo p. 27) 

---WEEPING WATER VICINITY--­

THEODORE DAVIS SITE 

On a prominent natura l terrace of Weeping Water C ree k, 
the Davis village is the 1110st ex tensively studied COlllmu ­

nity of the Nebraska Phase. This culture nourished along 
the Missouri Ri ver and it s tributari es from AD . I 100­
1400 and represents the beginning of a new lifeway lo r 
eastern Plains Indians typified by constructi on of subs tan ­
tial timber-frame, earth -covered dwellings; a sedentary 
settlement pattern; and increased reli ance on domestic 
plant foods, particularly corn . 

CEDAR COUNTY 


-----HARTINGTON----­

CITY HALL AND AUDITORIUM 
(HARTINGTON MUNICIPAL BUILDING) 
101 North Broadway 
Construction of the Hartington City Auditorium began in 
th e spring of 1922 and was completed in 1923. The build ­
ing was designed by Sioux City architect William Steele, 

Kchloock Farmstead. Avoca vicinity (p.18) 

who fo rmerly worked fo r Louis H. Sulli van, a prominent 
member of the Chicago School of Architecture. It is an 
out standing example of the Prairie style. 

----LAUREL VI CINITY --- ­
COUSER BARN 

The Couser Barn is a twelve-s ided fra me barn buill about 
19 12- 13 for Willi am Couser. Couser Came to Cedar 
Co unty from Shelby County, Iowa , in 1899 and engaged in 
ra rming and cattle rai sing until 19 17, when the family 
moved to South Dakota . The barn is the only " round" barn 
recorded in Ceda r County. 

KOhlocck F,umSlCad, AYoca YIClnlty, about: 91 0 Ip. 18) 
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-----MENOMINEE- ---­
ST. BONIFA CE CATHOLIC 
CHURCH COMPLEX 
Main Street 

The St. Boniface Catholic Church was establi shed for the 
German-Catholic families who settled in the Antelope 
Crec k va ll ey in the late nineteenth century. The key build­
ings incl ude the 1886 church and the 1923 school, both 
utili zing nati ve chalk rock in their construction. Partially 
destroyed by firc in 1900, the church was reb uilt and 
dedi cated in June 1902. Fra nz Zavad il , a nalive of Bohe­
mia, wa s primarily responsible for the constructi on of the 
present building (sec Franz Zavad il Farmstead). The 
church's highl y decorat ive combination of chalk rock and 
brickwork demonstrates a medieva l approach to church 
desig n. Zavadil incorporated design elements found in 
nati ve Czech churches into St. Bonifacc Church. Thc 
property also includes a brick rectory, built in 19 11 , and 
thc church cemelcry. (pholo p. 28) 

---MENOMINEE VICINITY--­
FRANZ ZAVADIL FARMSTEAD 
The Fra nz Zavad il farm stead is an outstanding exa mple of 
an carly Nebraska fa rm stcad. It still rctains the majorily of 
structures used in the farming and stock raising operations 
of the Zavadil fam ilies from the 1870s to the present. The 
moS! nUlable bui Iding is the one-and-one-hal f- story, chal k 
rock and glacial rock dwelling, which is an important 

product of folk architec lure. A native Bohemian, Franz 
Zavad il , erected the dwelling, utilizing hi s own masonry 
skill s and read il y avai lable materials (sec St. Boniface 
Ca lholic Church Complex). (photo p. 29 ) 

--- -ST HELENA VICINITY--­
SCHULTE SITE 
AlicaSI eighteenearthl odge loca tion s have been identifi ed 
at thi s prehi storic village above the Missouri Ri ver nood 
plain . The village has been assigned to th e prchistoric St. 
Helena Phase, which developed in ex treme northeast Ne­
braska about A.D. 11 00 and declin ed prior to A.D. 1500. 
The Schulte Site is one of the finest exa mples of a St. 
Helena vill age complex and has provided data with which 
to assist in understanding late prehi storic cultural adapta­
tion in northeast Nebraska. 

----WyNOT VICINITY---­
BOW VALLEY MILLS 
Lewis E. Jones was born in 1825 in Ca rn arvo n, Wales, and 
settled in Ceda r County, Nebraska , in 1858. ln 1867 Jones 
bought land along Bow C reek several miles so utheast o f 
St. Helena and bega n construction of the Bow Va lley nour 
mill , whi ch was completed in 1868. The mill played a vital 
role in the cOlllmerce of nort heastcrn Nebraska . providing 
nour to settl ers in the reg ion. Large quantiti es of flour also 
were shipped by steamboat as far west as Montana. The 
building is an important exa mple of early industrial archi ­
tecture in the state. 

Gibson House. Weepmg Water (p.24) 
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Weeping Water Historic Distr ict, Weeping Water (p.24 ~ 

WISEMAN SITE 

The Wiseman Site is the largcst prehi stori c earth lodge 
co mmunity yet recorded in Nebraska. Over thirty lodges 
compri sed the village, wh ich is attributed to a sedentary 
hunting- fa rming culture kn own as the St. Helena Phase 
(A.D. I 100- 1450). 

CHASE COUNTY I

~=========::::! I CHERRY COUNTY

-----CHAMPION----­
CHAMPION MILL 
Second and Mill streets 

C hampion Mill served the south west Nebraska area as a 
nom and feed mill beg inning in the late nin eteenth cen­
tury. The mill building was co nstructed on the Frenchm an 
Ri ver in 1892, wi th later additions being made in 19 18 and 
1929. The mill pond offered ac ti vities such as li shing, 
swimming, boating, icc skating, and picnicking. When 
Champion Mi ll ccascd operation in 1968 , it was the last 
functional water-powered mill in the state. Purchased by 
the State of Nebraska in 1969 , the mill property is a state 
hi slOrica l park admini stered by the Nebra ska Game and 
Parks Commission. (photo p. 30) 

----WAUNETA VI CINITY --- ­
LOVITT SITE 
Betwee n A. D. 1675-1725 Apac he peoples known as the 
Di smal River Complcx (and related to popu lat ions in the 
so uthwest, eastern Co lorado, and western Kansas) devel­
opcd a scmi-sedentary, earth lodge-c1welling lifestyle in 
western Nebraska. Some aspects of the materi al culture 
and li festy le arc di stinctively so uthwcstern , whil e other 

Cass County COurlhouse. Plansmouth Main Street HistoriC District. Pla!1smoulh (p.24) 

aspects renec tthe culture of tribes such as the Pawnee. 
The Lov in Site is one of the most ex tensively studied 

Dismal River sites in the state. Food was obtained prim ar­
ily by hunting bison, deer, and other game, and was sup­
plemented by grow ing corn and squash. Artifacts manu­
fa ctured by village inhabitants, along with trade items of 
both European and southwestern Na ti ve Ameri ca n manu­
facture, have been found 

~====================~ 
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-----VALENTINE----­

VALENTINE PUBLIC SCHOOL 
Third and Macomb streets 

The bond issue to bu ild the Va lentine Public School was 
approved in February 189 7. It was designed by Omaha 
arc hitect Charles F. Beindorff, and construction was com­
pleted in 1898. The two-story brick structure wa s bu ilt for 
primary and secondary students of Cherry County School 
Di strict I. The building in corporates Queen Anne and 
Romancsqlle Rev iva l design elemcnts. The school is 
owned by the Centennial Hall Corporation, a non-profit 
organization which uses it for cOllllllunity functions. 

F. M. WALCOTT HOUSE 
431 North Hall 

This onc-and-onc- half-story frame house is a sim pli fied 
example of a Nco-Classical Rev iva l dwelling, based upon 
earlier G reek Reviva l style houses in the eastern and 
mi dwcstcrn states. F. M. Wa lcon establi shed one of the 
largest legal practices in the state and also held the offices 
of co unty judge and county anorney. (photo p. 31) 
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- ---VALENTINE VICINITy---­

BRYAN BRIDGE 
Located on U.S. Highway 20, the Bryan Bridge was con­
structed in 1932 to spa n the Niobrara River. Named after 
Charles W Bryan, governor of Nebraska, 1923-25 and 
193 1-35, the 289-foot structure is an example of a pin­
connected cantilever arch bridge. Designed by Jose f Sor­
kin , a Russian immigrant who graduated from the Univer­
sity of Nebraska in 1929 with a civil engineering degree, 
the bridge is the only one of its kind in the state. 

CHEYENNE COUNTY 


---------LODGEPOLE----­

LODGEPOLE OPERA HOUSE 
Oberlelder Street 
The two-story fa lse-front com merc ial building was con­
structed by Frank Isenberger in 19 11 as a garage, with the 
opera house located on the upper floor. " Lodgepole Opera 
House," painted in large letters, rem ains visible on the 
front facade. The opera house has a stage and a projection 
booth, added later when it was used to show motion 
piclUres. 

51. Bomlace Calhohc Church, Menommee (p.26) 
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-------POTTER VICINITy------­
WES STEVENS SITE 
The Wes Stevens Site is one of a handful of Native Ameri­
can "stone feat ure" sites in Nebraska. Situated on the lip of 
a terrace overlooki ng Lodgepole Creek, the site contains 
alleast twenty-five circular arrangemen ts of stones with 
an average diameter of fifteen feet as well as nine ot her 
semi-circular or linear stone alignments. 

Stone circles are common on the northwestern Plains, 
where they have been demonstrated to be rocks used in 
anchoring Indian tipis. No artifacts were noted on the 
surface of Stevens. However, research in other states has 
shown that stone circ le sites may have come into use as 
early as 2000 B.c. (photo p. 32) 

--- ----SIDNEy-----­

FORT SIDNEY HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Fifth. Seventh avenues, and Jack­
son, Linden streets 
U.S. troops first occupied a temporary camp known as 
Sidney Barracks in the summer of 1867 to protect Union 
Pacific Railroad construction crews. The post was offi­
cially established by spec ial orderofthe Department of the 
Platte in November 1867. ln 1869 it was relocated to a site 
southeast of Sidney, which had been established by the 
railroad. Sidney Barracks became Fort Sidney by exec u­
tive order in May 1874. By 1875 the fort co ntained quar­
ters for three compa nies, five officers' quarters, a hospital, 
guard house, bakery, lau ndry, stables, and other structures. 
It was abandoned in 1894, and most buildings were sold. 

The histori c district includes the commanding officer's 
quarters, built in 187 1; a duplex oflicers' quarters built in 
1884; and the 1872 powder magazi ne, all located now in a 
residential area of the town of Sidney. To the southeast are 
the remains of the fort 's rifle range. The commanding 
oflicer 's quarters and the officers' duplex have been re­
stored as a museum by the Cheyenne County Historical 
Association. (photo p. 3 1) 

CLAY COUNTY 


----DEWEESE VICINITy --- - ­
ST. MARTIN'S CATHOLIC CHURCH 
SI. Martin 's Church had its beginnings in the late 1880s 
when Moravian immi gra nt s from Czechos lovakia 
fou nded the small Catholic pari sh. These settiers located 
in Spring Ranch Township of C lay County and called their 
com lllunity "Loucky" in remembrance of their homeland. 
The church was designed by architect James H. Craddock 
in the Gothic Revival style and was erected in 1907 -8. The 
property is owned by the Clay Coun ty Historical Society. 

-----------SUTTON---------- ­
ISAAC NEWTON CLARK HOUSE 
407 West Cedar Street 
Built about 1877 the Isaac Newton Clark House is a good 
example of a Gothic Revival residence, a relati vely rare 
building type in Nebraska. Isaac Newton Clark was born 



in Ohio in 1836 and moved to Sutton in January 1872. He 
plalled much of the Sutton townsite and served as the 
driving force in securing a railroad line. Clark established 
the first hardware store in Clay County and founded the 
SUllon Brick Company. (photo p. 33) 

COLFAX COUNTY 


----------CLARKSON--------­

Z.CB.J. OPERA HOUSE 
Fourth and Pine streets 
The two-sto ry brick building was constructed in 1915 as a 
combination opera house and Czech fraternal lodge hall. 
The opera house has a balcony with built-in woode n 
benches and a stage with a prompt box and a trapdoor. The 
building continues in use today as a lodge hall and com­
munity center. 

-------CLARKSON VICINITy------­

ZION PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 

Designed by M.D. Flechor, a Czech architect, the frame 
church was constructed in 1887-88 as the first Czech 
Presbyterian church in the sta te. The church cemetery was 
dedicated in 1875. Regular church services were held until 
December 1975. The building is owned by the Zion 
Church Preservation Society, which uses it for religious 
and soc ial functions. 

----------SCHUyLER---------­

COLFAX COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
East Eleventh and C streets 

Built in 192 1-22, the Colfax County Courthouse is a 
Second Renaissance Revival style building, which is an 
important landmark to the city ofSchuyler and the county. 
George A. Berlinghof, a prolific designer of public build­
ings in Nebraska, was the architect. (pho to p. 34) 

JOHN JANECEK HOUSE 
805 East Eighth Sireel 
John Janecek em igrated to the United States from Bohe­
mia in 1870 and settled in Colfax County in 1873. He was 
best known in Schuyler as the builder and proprietor of the 
Janecek Opera House, the hub of socia l activity in the 
county around the turn of the century. The house was 
designed by Henry Voss, a German-born architect from 
Omaha, Nebraska. Constructed in 1885-86, the fram e 
house was stuccoed in 1927. 

OAK BALLROOM 
City Park 
The Oak Ballroom is located on the bank s of Lost Creek 
and is the foca l point of Schuyler's city park . Designed by 
loca l architect Emiel Christensen, the ballroom incorpo­
rates architectural elements common to Period houses. 
The building has been an important entertainment and 
cultural center for the surrounding region. It was con­
structed as a relief project of the Work s Progress Adminis-

Zavadil Farmstead, Menominee vic:OIty (p.26) 

Iration in 1935- 37 and derives it name from the huge 
limbers and beams cut from native oak. (photo p. 35) 

SCHUYLER CITY HALL 
1020 A Street 
The cily council considered plans for a new city hall in July 
1907. In December the plans of architect Joseph Guth 
were accepted, and C. F. Kaul was awarded the building 
con tract. The building was completed in 1909 at a cost of 
$ 1 1,000.The two-story masonry building feature s a prom­
inent clock / bell tower and houses a fire station on the first 
level and a council chamber on the second floor. The 
German nativity of the arch itect and the widespread use of 
this medieval town hall type in German and Italian cities 
suggest that Guth drew on this background to design the 
Schuyler C ity Hal l. (photo p. 33) 

-------SCHUyLER VICINITy ------­

OUR LADY OF PERPETUAL HELP 
CATHOLIC CHURCH AND CEMETERY 

Also known as the Wil son C hurch, the building is a fin e 
example of the Gothic Revival style, constructed in 191 8. 
The parish originated in the 18705, and the church was a 
religious and social center for Czech and German immi­
grants who settled in the area. 

WOLFE AND GRAY (SCHUYLER) SITES 
These two adjacent sites overlook Shell C reek . These 
villages apparently date from A.D. 1500-1650, and they 
were probably occupied by ancestors of the Grand Band of 
the Pawnee. Even during this ea rly period, Euro-American 
manufactured ilem s were filtering into Pawnee life 
through intertribal trade network s. Archeolog ists have not 
determined if the sites were a single vi lla ge. (pholo p. 34) 
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CUMING COUNTY 


----------BANCROFT--------­
JOHN G. NEIHARDT STUDY 
Washington and Grove streets 

The Neihardt Study is the most important building asso· 
ciated wi th the distinguished literary career of John 
Gneisenau Ne ihardt, Poet Laureate of Nebraska, and 
author of some twen ly-five volumes of poetry, fi ction, and 
philosophy. IL is believed to have been conmucted in the 
18905 as a residence. During the years 19 11-2 1, Ne ihardt 
renled the dwelling for use as an offi ce and library. The 
properly is owned by the Nebraska State Historica l Society 
and operated as a branch museum. (photo p. 36) 

CUSTER COUNTY 


---------BROKENBOW-------­
ARROW HOTEL 
509 South Ninth Street 
The Arrow Hotel, built in 1928, immediately became the 
social center fo r Broken Bow and the surrounding area. As 
an example of a major hotel in a small town setting, and 
with ils stylisti c association with the Prairie sly Ie, it is an 
important architect ural landmark. John Latenser and 
Sons, a prominent Omaha firm , served as the architect for 
both the original building and the 193 1 addition. 

CUSTER COUNTY COURTHOUSE AND JAIL 
Courthouse Square, Main Street 
The Custer County Courthouse and Jai l, built in 19 11 - 12 
and in 1914 respectively. represent line interpretations of 
Nco-C lassicism. They were designed by Omaha architect 
John Latenser. The courthouse was one of central Nebras­
ka's ea rliest fireproof structures. (photo p. 37) 

SECURITY STATE BANK BUILDING 
403 South Ninth Street 

The one-story concrete and terra cott a building is a simpli ­
fi ed version of the Renaissance Reviva l style. It is an 
excell enl exa mpl e of an earl y t wentieth-cenlllry Ncbraska 
banking house and is remarkably intact, complete wi th 
many of the origi nal 19 15 furnishings. The bank opera ted 
as the Security Sta te Bank until its closing in 1985. The 
building is currently owned by the Custer County Histori­
cal Society. 

---------COMSTOCK--------­
WESCOTT, GIBBONS AND BRAGG'S STORE 
Main Street 

The store bui lding is an oUlstand ing example of the typical 
fra me, false-fro nt commerc ial building erected in Nebras­
ka tow ns during the lale nineteenth century. Constructed 
in 1888 as a gencral store in Wescoll by Walter Wescoll, 
founder of the lown, the slore was moved across the Mid­
dle Loup Ri ver in 1900 to Ihe newly establi shed railroad 
town of Comstoc k. In the new location Wescoll , along 
with hi s partners, son-in-l aw E. C. Gibbons and Charles D. 

Champion Mil!. Champion, 192 1 (p. 27) 
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F.M. Wa lcon House, Valenllne (p.27) 

Bragg, established a thriving business in one o f the few 
trading centers in the Sandhi lis. In 1912 an addition wa s 
made to house the Comstock City Ph armacy. (photo p. 36) 

--- -COMSTOCK VICINITY 

WILLIAM R. DOWSE HOUSE 
The Dowse Sod House was built in 1900, ut ili zing sod 
"bricks" for wall construction. In 1924 wood-frame wings 
were added. The technology of sod construction facilitated 
settlement in the Plains, where traditio nal building mate­
rials were unavailable. Perhaps nowhere was the technol­
ogy more important than in central Nebraska. D uring the 
1880s "soddies" came to characterize Plain s settlement, 
and while literally hundreds were built , few survived the 
ravages of time. The Dowse House, recently stab ilized as a 
project of the family and the community, is all excellent 
exa mple of the sod house phenom enon. (photo p. 6- 7) 

DAKOTA COUNTY :=J 
-----DAKOTA CITY 

EMMANUEL LUTHERAN CHURCH 
1500 Hickory Street 
The Emmanuel Lutheran Church is believed to be one of 
the oldest church buildings in the state. De,; igned and 
constructed in 1860 by congregation member Augustus T. 
Haase, the church incorporates Greek Revival e lements in 
its design. The congregation was organized in 1859 by 
the Reverend Henry W. Kuhns, a Lutheran missionary se nt 
to Nebraska Territory in 1858. The building is owned by 
the Dakota County Hi storical Society. 

----HOMER VICINITY---­

CORNELIUS O'CONNOR HOUSE 
The two- story, brick house was designed and built by 
Cornelius O'Connor, an Iri sh immigra nt. O'Connor had 
been a carpenter but became a farmer after settling in 
Nebraska. He represented Dako ta County in the te rrito rial 
legislature, and he was instrumental in establishing the 
first school in Dak ota county, the O 'Collnor School, which 
he directed for over twenty years. Presently owned by the 
Dakota County Historical Society, the house is an excel­
lent example of Italianate architecture found in rural 
Nebraska. (photo p. 38) 

BIG VILLAGE SITE 

Big Village or " Ton won tonga," the principal village of 
the Omaha tribe, was occ upied intermittently for nearly 
seventy- fi ve yea rs. The community was first constructed 
about 1775, abandoned, and then reoccupied sometime 
prior to 1795. 

During the 1790s the Omaha at Big Village, under the 
leadership ofChief Blackbird, resisted Spanish attempts to 
gain control of the Mi ssouri River fur trade. Along with the 
Ponca, the Omaha succeeded in discouraging the Spa ni sh 
efforts by blocking their north wa rd ad vance and estab­
li shing themselves as "middlemen traders," Big Vi ll age 
was struck by thc devastating 1800- ISO I smallpox epi­
demic, forcing the Omaha to abandon the site. When 
Lewi s and Clark ascended the Misso uri in IS04, they 
found nea rly 300 empty lodges at the site. Big Village 
probably was occ upied again during the years IS IO-22, 
IS32-4 1. and IS43-45. 
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Wes Stevens Site. Poner vicinity (p.28) 

----SOUTH SIOUX CITY---­

MEISCH HOUSE 
213 Seventeenth Street 

The Meisch House is a well preserved and notably elabo­
rate exa mpl e of one of Nebraska's most common house 
types: the one-story "square" or "cubic" house. The house 
was constructed in 18 88, only a year after South Sioux 
C ity was incorporated, and it remains the best example of 
an early brick house in town. Very little is known about 
builder Peter Meisch except that he owned a brick yard. 
Local legend holds that Meisch set up a kiln directly west 
of the site and fired the bricks to construct the house. 

DAWES COUNTY 


- ------CHADRON-------­

CHADRON STATE COLLEGE 
HISTORIC BUILDINGS 
Chadron State College Campus 

Chadron State College is the state's primary educational 
institution in western Nebraska. It was established as a 
state normal school in 191 I. The five campus bui ldings 
include the women's dormitory, Women's Hall, Crites 
Hall, gymnasium, and library, all erected during the found­
ing years of the college. Their architectural design refl ects 
the popular styles orthe time: Prairie, Neo-C lassica l Revi­
val, and Art Deco. (photo p. 39) 

-----CHADRON VICINITY-----­

JAMES BORDEAUX TRADING POST 
This small trading house was established in the winter of 
1837 -38 by James Bordeaux, an employee of Pierre Chou­
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teau, Jr. and Company. Bordeaux maintained this post 
unti l 1872 and carried on a successful trade with the Brule 
Sioux Indi ans. The site includes two reconstructed build­
ings, a combined trading house and living quarters, and a 
small warehouse. The property is now part of the Museum 
of the Fur Trade and is open to the pUblic. (photo p. 39) 

------CRAWFORD-----­

CO-OPERATIVE BLOCK BUILDING 
435-445 Second Street 
The Co-operative Block Building, erected in 1909, is an 
exa mple of commercial architecture utili zing reinforced 
concrete construction. It represents an ea rly use of an 
innovative building design in the Panhandle of Nebraska. 
The building was the home of the Crawford Co-operative 
Company from 1909-77. 

------CRAWFORD VICINITY--­

FORT ROBINSON AND 
RED CLOUD AGENCY (NHL) 
Fort Robinson , established in 1874 to protect the nea rby 
Red Cloud Indian Agency, remained an active military 
post until 1948. It was a cavalry post until 1919 and after 
World War I , became a quartermaster's remount depot to 
provide horses for the U.S. Army. In 1942 a war dog 
reception and training center was added; a prisoner of war 
camp was located at Fort Robinson from 1943-46. The 
fort was transferred to the U.S. Department of Agri­
culture in 1948 for lise as a bee f cattle research stat ion. 
In 1971 titl e to Fort Robinson was granted to the State 
of Nebraska . 

Significant events in the hi story of Fort Robi nson were 
the 1877 killing of Sioux Chief Crazy Horse, the 1879 
Cheyenne Outbreak , and the participation of troops from 
the fort in the 1890-9 1 Sioux Campaign on the nearby 
Pi ne Ridge Ind ian Reservation. The U.S. Army Equestrian 
Team trained at Fort Robinson in preparation for the 1936 
Olympics. 

Forty-nine buildings dating from 1875- 19 12, including 
officers' quarters, barracks, stables, shops, and the former 
Army Theater, remain at Fort Robinson. Some are used for 
staff and tourist housing, wh ile others have been restored 
or reconstructed as museums. 

Nearthe fort is the site of the Red Cloud Indian Agency, 
1873-77; the World War II prisoner of war camp; and the 
post cemetery. Fort Robinson State Park is operated by the 
Nebras ka Game and Parks Co mmission. The Nebraska 
State Hi storica l Society and the University of Nebraska 
operate museum s and interpreti ve program s at Fon 
Robin so n. (photo p. 41 ) 

DAWSON COUNTY 


------ -COZAD---------­

ALLEN'S OPERA HOUSE 
100 East Eighth Street 

The opera hou se was bu ilt by Charles Allen in 1906. The 
concrete block used in its construction was manufactured 



by loc al bu si nessman Charles Hart. The first noor origi ­
nally housed the Cozad State Bank, co-owned by Allen, 
and the Allen General Store. The opera house and profes­
sional offi ce space were located on the second level. The 
opera house held its grand opening in February 1907 with 
the comedy "Old Arkansas." 

HENDEE HOTEL 
220 East Eighth Street 
The two-story brick (later stuccoed) building was con­
structed about 1879 by lohn J. Cozad , who founded the 
town in 1874. Local legend holds that the hotel was the 
scene of a shooting incident between Cozad and a local 
farmer. In 1883 he so ld the hotel to Stephen A. Hendee, a 
grain deal er. The hOle l served as a prominent business and 
social center in Cozad. John Cozad's son , Raben Henry 
Cozad. who changed hi s name 10 Robert Henri following 
the shooling incident, achieved inte rna tional fame as an 
artist. The building is now the Henri Museum. (photo p. 4 1) 

--------GOTHENBURG-------­
ERNEST A. CALLING HOUSE 
1614 Lake Avenue 
The Calling House was bu ilt in 1907 fo r Ernest A. Calling, 
a pioneer businessman of Gothenburg. Born in Kli pp, 
Sweden, in 1870, Ca lling emigrated to the United States in 
1889. The house is a weil -preserved exa mple of a Queen 
Anne residence. It illustrates the retention of Queen Anne 
characteristics in Pl a ins architecture past the tllrn of the 
century. 

GOTHENBURG CARNEGIE LIBRARY 
1104 Lake Avenue 

The Ca rnegie Public Library, erec ted in 19 15- 16, is a 
sim plified exa mple of the lacobethan Revival style. 

Designed by local architect Moses N. Bair, the building is 
unique among libraries in the state duc to its eli -shaped 
pl an and lacobeth an detailing. Other libraries in Nebraska 
fo llow the rectangular plan and Neo-C lassical Revival 
detailing established by the Carnegie Corporation. The 
building cOJ1linues to be lIsed tlS the c ity libra ry. 

DEUEL COUNTY 


---------BIG SPRINGS-------­

PHELPS HOTEL 
Second and Pine streets 

The Phelps Hotel is typi cal of many hotels erected during 
the late nineteenth century in western Nebraska . The 
building is Deuel Co unty's oldest hotel, constructed in 
1885 by the Edwin A. Phelps fa mily, who were among the 
first selliers in the Big Springs vicinity. (photo p. 4 1) 

DIXON COUNTY 


------ NEWCASTLE VICINITY ---- ­
INDIAN HILL DISTRICT 
A cluster of eighteen prehi storic archeo logica l sites within 
less th an one- half square mil e comprises the Indian Hill 
Di strict. Indian Hill is the only exc lusively prehi stori c 
archeolog ical district ye t designated in Nebra ska. It 
includes sixteen habitation sites encompass ing over thirty 
indi vidual cl:lrthlodge ruins. One site ll1 <1y contain a prehi s­
toric ag ricultural fi eld. Of the two remaining sites, one is a 
cemetery and the other is of unknow n fun ction. All sites 

Isaac Newlon Clark House, Sunon (p28) Schuyler City Hall, Schuyler (p.29) 
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Wolle and Gray (Schuyler) Siles vICinity . Colfax Counly (p.29) 

Cotrax County Counhouse. Schuyler (p.29) 

are attributed to the SI. Helena Phase, a prehistoric hunt­
ing-farming peopl e who occupied northeast Nebraska 
from A.D. 1100 to 1450. (photo p. 42) 

------------PONCA----------­
COOK BLACKSMITH SHOP 
204 Third Street 
The blacksmith shop was built in 190 I by C. O. Cook, who 
operated his business for over thirty years. It is representa­
ti ve of the vital role of blacksmiths in the history of Ameri­
can communities. The building is owned by the Ponca 
Historical Society, which uses the shop as a living history 
mu seum. 

PONCA HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Court, East. alleys between First, 
Second, and Third, Fourth streets 
The Ponca Historic District comprises a ten-square-block 
area that includes the downtown commercial area and a 
portion of the residentia l environs. The di strict contains 
houses, churches, commercial buildings, and public and 
civic structures. The majority of structures in the district 
date from the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. 
Di stincti ve buildings include the Richardsonian Roman­
esq ue bank of Dixon County, the Carnegie Library, a 
Neo-C lass ical Revival style building . and the Ayres­
Adam s House. a brick Italianate dwelling. The town of 
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Ponca, located in the Aowa Creek valley, is one of the 
oldest in the state, fo unded in the 1850s. (photo p. 43) 

--- - - WAKEFIELD- ---­

SWEDISH EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN 
SALEM CHURCH 

The Sal em church, built in 1906, is one of Nebraska's 
outstanding examplcs of Swedish-American Gothic Revi­
val wood church architecture. It was designed by Swedish 
architect Olof Z. Cervin. The Sa lem congregation pro­
vided the Swedish settlers of the surrounding area with 
social and religious opportunities. (photo p. 42) 

DODGE COUNTY 


-----FREMONT--- -­
SAMUEL BULLOCK HOUSE 
508 West Military Avenue 

An example of the Gree k Revival style, the house was built 
in 1869 for Samuel Bullock , a prominent interior decora ­
tor. In the 1890s the frame lea n-to in the rear was replaced 
by a brick addition. The house was later owned by Dr. 
Joshua S. Devries, a pioneer Nebraska physic an and sur ­
geon, who graduated from the University of Nebraska 
Medical Department in 1888. 

LOVE-LARSON OPERA HOUSE 
545 North Broad Street 
The theater was built by James Wheeler Love in 1888. In 
1905 it was purchased by L. P. Larson and renamed the L. 
P. Larson Opera House. The three-story brick and stone 
building is a landmark in the town of Fremont and is one of 
the largest remaining opera houses in the state. A loca l 
nonprofit corporation, Friends of the Fremont Opera 
House, was organized to preserve the historic building as a 
performing arts and community center. (photo p. 43) 

J. D. McDONALD HOUSE 
310 East Military Avenue 

The J D. McDonald House, built in 1888, is an excellent 
example of the Queen Anne style. While employing the 
varied building materi als and roof lines typica l of Queen 
Anne architecture, this structure has a distinctive rounded 
and engaged tower set back from the corner of the house. 
1. D. McDonald was a prominent railroad contractor and 
banker in Fremont. (photo p. 44) 

NYE HOUSE (LOUIS E. MAY MUSEUM) 
1643 North Nye Avenue 

The Nye House is an elegant , two-story brick residence 
originally constructed about 1874 and slowly modified 
during the first decade of the twentieth century. The orig­
inal dwelling was a two-story brick Italianate structure 
built fo r Theron Nye. He engaged in various businesses 
including grain freighting, lumber, banking, and farming. 
Nye was elected Fremont 's fi rst mayor and also served as 
county commissioner. Upon Nye's death, his son Ray 
began a series of additions and alterations to the house. 

The Georgian Revival renovation was perfo rmed by the 
Mil wa uk ee arc hitectural fi rm of Ferry and Class and aave 
the dwelling its present appearance. (photos pp. 43, 45) 

OSTERMAN AND TREMAINE BUILDING 
(IDEAL STEAM LAUNDRY) 
445 North Broad Street 
The origin al building was constructed in 1884 by Charles 
Osterman and George Tremaine, wholesa le produce 
dealers in Fremont. The Ideal Stea m Laundry, John son 
and Company, proprietors, moved into the building in 
1894 and doubled the size of the structure in 19 11 . The 
building is an exa mple of commercial architecture of the 
late nineteenth and ea rl y twentieth centuries, and it has 
been rehabilitated for office use. (photos pp. 44. 45) 

R. B. SCHNEIDER HOUSE 
234 West Tenth Street 

The large two-story fram e house exemplifies a transitional 
product of Queen Anne and Neo-C lassical Reviva l styles. 
Businessman R. B. Schneider, fo under of the Nye, 
Schneider, Fowler Company, grain dea lers, built the house 
in 1887 with later additi ons being made about 1897 and 
1909. 

- --- FREMONT VICINITy ---­
CHRISTOPHER KNOELL FARMSTEAD 
(KNOELL-BANG FARMSTEAD) 

The Christopher Knoell Farmstead is an exa mple of a 
well-preserved, late nineteenth century farmstead in east­
ern Nebraska. The homestead retains most of the struc­
tures used in the fanning and cattl e rai sing operations of 
the Christopher Knoell and Lyle Bang famili es sin ce the 
I 880s. The most striking building of the farm stead is the 
two-story bri ck Itali anate house constructed in 1888. The 
property also incl udes a large frame barn , built in 1908-9, 
and vari olls outbuildings. 
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John G. Neihardl Sludy. Bancrof1 (p.30) 

-----------HOOPER----------­
HOOPER HISTORIC DISTRICT 
An J(regular pattern along Main Street, Fulton, Elk and Myrtle 
streets 
The Hooper Historic District consists a lmost entirely of 
one- and two-story brick com mercial buildings located 
along the main street. Dating fro m the late nineteenth 
century, the district is a well-preserved vill age of " A mer i­
ca n Renaissance" architecture, incorporating elements of 
Roma nesque Revival a nd Itali anate sty les. Due to several 
fi res in the 1880s, an ordina nce was passed requiring all 
buildings to be of brick construction. This ordin ance 
helped insure the perm anence and integrity of Hooper's 
main street. (photo p. 45) 

--------- NORTHBEND--------­
NORTH BEND CARNEGIE LIBRARY 
140 East Eigh th Street 

The North Bend Ca rnegie Libra ry, dedicated in 19 13, is a 
typica l example of a small town library in the early twen­
tieth century. Andrew Carnegie, often called the " Patron 
Sain t" of libraries, was responsible for fun ding the con­
struction of sixty-eight Nebraska libraries and over 1,600 
libraries nationwide. Thi s library was designed by Lincoln 
architect 1. R. Smith. 
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-----------SNYDER---------- ­
SCHNEIDER'S OPERA HOUSE 
104 Ash Street 
The two- story brick build ing, constructed in 1900- 190 I 
for Conrad Schneider, has an elaborate pressed metal 
cornice and an unusual semicircular wooden balcony on 
the fro nt faca de. The opera house. above a first- fl oor 
hardware store, has a stage with a decorati ve wooden 
proscenium arch, a balcony wi th original bench scating, 
and a wooden railing. 

--------UEHLING VICINITy----­
UEHLING BARN 

The Uehling Barn is located on a hill overlooking the town 
of Uehling. The prominence of the structure and its loca­
tion have made it a local landmark since it was built in 
19 18. The wood-frame barn is one of a small number of 
" round" barns in Nebraska. Its bui lder, Frank Theodore 
Uehling, was the son of Theodore and Ca the rine Schwa b 
Ueh ling, emigrants from Germany. Theodore platted the 
town of Uehling in 1906. After a ttending the Uni vers ity of 
Nebraska College of Agricu lture, Frank Ueh ling estab ­
li shed a stock farm , which became a model and the center 
of purebred li vestock raising in Dodge County. 

DOUGLAS COUNTY 


----------BOYSTOWN--------­
FATHER FLANAGAN'S HOUSE AND 
FATHER FLANAGAN'S BOYS HOME (NHL) 
Boys Town Campus 
Boys Town is internationally famous as a refuge for home­
less boys. It bega n in O maha in 19 17 and evolved into a 
separa te municipali ty on the outskirts of the city through 
the e ffort s of its founder, Father Edward Joseph Flanagan. 
The personal home of Father Flanaga n was the second 
bui ld ing erected on the campus and is now the o ldest 
remaining structure at Boys Town. The dwelling was 
designed by architect Jacob M. Nachtiga ll in the Georg ian 
Revival style and was constructed 1926-27. 

----ELKHORN VICINITY---­
LINCOLN HIGHWAY 

Now part of Douglas Cou nty road 120 east o f Elk horn , 
th is 4 ,580-foot seg ment was part of the orig in al Lincoln 
Highway. Regraded and improved in 1920 with brick 
pavers covering a sa nd and concrete base, the road is 
thought to be the o nl y rural section of the Lincoln Highway 
in Nebraska which re mains in good condition. The Lincoln 
Highway was envisioncd in 19 13 by the Lincoln Highway 
Association as the tran scontinental road which wou ld link 
New York City with San Francisco. (photo p. 5 1) 

-----------OMAHA----------­
ANHEUSER-BUSCH OFFICE BUILDING 
Twelfth and Jones streets 
The Anheuser-Busch Office Building is the o nly rem aining 
structure of the Anheuser- Busch Beer Depot, a nineteen th 

Cusler County Courthouse. Broken Bow (p.lO) 

century di stributing complex. The office build ing is one of 
the most e labora te ex amples of the Rom anesque Revival 
style in thc c ity. Ot her major components o f the beer depot 
included: a stable, beer vault / icc house, and cobblestone 
a lley. Architec t Henry Voss of Omaha designed the com ­
plex ror the A nheuser Busch Brewing Assoc iation of St. 
Loui s. 
AQUILA COURT BUILDING 
1615 Howard Street 
The Aq uila Court Building is a large, U-shaped structure 
incorpora ting offices, retail shop s, and townhouses around 
a central co urtyard. Designed as a cO l1lmercial adaptation 
of the Rena issa nce Rev ival style, the bU.ilding was co n­
structed about 1923 as a rea l estate venture of C hi cago 
capitalists Charles and Raymond Cook. (photo p. 57) 

ASTRO THEATER 
2001 Farnam Street 
Opened in 1926 as the Ri viera , the thea ter was one of the 
highly elega nt entertainment facilities of the time and wa s 
noted for its lavish stage shows combined with movies. 
La ter known as the Astro T heater, the building was 
designed by nationally renowned architect John Eberson, 
and is an exce ll ent example or the " atmospheric" thea ter 
popular during the 19205. C reated by Eberson, these 
atmospheric theaters simulated romantic outdoor M edi ­
te rranean courtyards wit h a ni ght sky above, complete 
with twinkling stars and drirting clouds. 

BANK OF FLORENCE 
8502 North Thirtieth Street 
The bank of Florence was chartered by Nebraska's terri ­
torial legislature in 1856. The building was erected the 
fo llowi ng SUlllill e r a t a cost 01'$4,500 by Levi Harsh for the 
financ ial fi rm of Cook, Sargent, and Parker of Davenport , 
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Comehus O'Conner House, Homer \/lClmly (p,31) 

Iowa. The bank played an important role in the develop­
ment of the town of Florence, now a section of northeast­
ern Omaha. (photo p. 56) 

BEMIS OMAHA BAG COMPANY BUILDING 
614 -624 South Eleventh Street and 1102-1118 Jones Street 
The Bem is Bag Bui lding, occupying nearly one-ha lf a ci ty 
bloc k and standing fi ve stories tall , is an imposing part of 
Omaha's historic warehouse area. The building was con­
structed in three phases between 1887 and 1902. The 
BemisCompany was a national leader in the manufactur­
ing and sa le of bags and sacks for flour, grain , and other 
commodities. 

BLACKSTONE HOTEL 
302 South Thirty-sixth Street 
The Black stone Hotel, Omaha's most prestigious hotel 
following its construction in 19 16, was bui lt by the 
Bankers Realty Investment Company. Charles Schimmel 
purchased the bu ilding in 1920 and made the Blackstone a 
"symbol of elega nce" for Omahans for half a century. 
Under Schimm el, the hotel published its own magazine, 
The Black SlOl1ial1, and maintained its own Pierce Arrow 
limousine which met visiting dignitaries arri ving by 'train. 

The pastry shop and various dining room s, espec ia lly the 
Orleans Room, were famous for fin e food . The hotel 
represents a fin e exa mple of the Second Renaissance Revi­
val style. (photo p. 5 I) 

BRADFORD-PETTIS HOUSE 
404 South Thirty-ninth Street 
The Bradford-Pettis House was designed by Omaha archi ­
tect John McDonald for Dana and Savi ll a Bradford in 
19 10. Dana Bradford was president of the Bradford­
Kennedy Lumber Company. After his death in 1923 , his 
widow married Edward F. Pettis, secretary- treasurer and a 
director of the J. L. Brandeis and Sons Store. The house 
comb ines Prairie style and Georgian Revival style in­
nuences. 

1- L. BRANDEIS AND SONS STORE BUILDING 
200 South Sixteenth Street 

The J. L. Brandeis and Sons Store Building was the flagship 
of the Brandeis store operation founded by Jonas L. Bran­
deis, who ca me to Omaha in 188 1. Under Brandeis's lead­
ership and that of hi s famil y after his dea th in 1903, the 
business beca me one of the largest department store oper­
ation s in the region . The original e ight -story building, 
compl eted in 1906, was designed by architect John 
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Latenser, Sr., in the Second Renaissance Revival style. A 
two-story addition in 1921 made the building its present 
ten stories. (photo p. 5 I) 

BRANDEIS-MILLARD HOUSE 
500 South Thirty-eigth Street 

The Brandeis-Millard House, designed by architect Albert 
Kahn of Detroit, is an early and fine example of the Jacobe­
than Revival style. Built in 1904 for Arthur and Zerlina 
Brandeis, the house was purchased in 1909 by Jessie H. 
Millard as a residence for herself and her fath er, Senator 
Joseph H. Millard. Senator Millard was involved in the 
development of Omaha, serving as president of the Omaha 
National Bank, mayor ofOmaha in 187 1, and U.S. senator, 
190 1-7. (photo p. 47) 

BURLINGTON HEADQ UA RTERS BUILDING 
1004 Farnam Street 
The Burlington and Missouri (later the Chicago, Burling­
ton and Quincy) Railroad Headquarters Building is a com­
mercial adaptation of the Italianate style. The original 
three-story brick structure was built in 1879, with a fourth 
floor added around 1886. The building was remodeled in 
1899 by Omaha architect Thomas Rogers Kimball to 
resemble the Chicago, Burlington, and Quincy Rai lroad 
Company building in Chicago, recognized as a showplace 
of the time. The interior displays a unique combination of 
skylight, cast iron railings, staircases, columns, and orna­
mental detailing. The building has been rehabilitated into 
prestige office space. 

BURLINGTON STATION 
925 South Tenth Street 

The Burlington Railroad Station, completed in 1898, 
served both passengers and frei ght interests for many 

years. Originally designed in the Greek Revival style by 
Thomas Rogers Kim ba ll , it was ex ten sive ly remode led in 
1930 by Graham, Anderson, Probst, and White of Chicago 
in the Neo-Classical Revival style. (photo p. 59) 

CENTER SCHOOL 
1730 South Eleventh Street 
Center School, now known as Lincoln School, was con­
structed in 1.893 as a neighborhood grade school and 
en larged in 1916 with the addition of classroo ms and a 
gymnasium. The bu ildi ng is a local adaptation of the 
Richardsoni an Romanesque style by arc hi tect John 
Latenser, Sr., a designer or publi c sc hools in Nebraska and 
Iowa. 

CHRISTIAN SPECHT BUILDING 
1110 Douglas Street 
The 1884 Christi an Specht Bu ilding is a three-story co m­
mercial structure designed by Durrene and Mendelssohn , 
Omaha architects. The cast-iron front was manufactured 
by the Western Cornice Works. Chri stian Specht, a nat ive 
of Berlin, moved to Omah a from Ci ncinnati in 1880 and 
established the Western Cornice Works, wh ich manu fac­
tured galvanized iron cornices, metal dormer windows, 
finial s, window caps, tin and iron roofing, and a metal 
skylight patented by Specht. The ga lvanized iron front is 
designed in the Renaissance Revival style, popu lar in cast­
iron facades of the period. 

CITY NATIONAL BANK BUILDING/ 
ORPHEUM THEATER 
Sixteenth and Harney streets 
The sixteen-story steel and brick office building erected 
for the City National Bank in 19 10 was Omaha's first 
skyscraper. The design was based upon Chicago principles 

Chadron S1ale College Historic Buildings, Chadron (p.32) 
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Jobber's Canyon, Omaha 

The Loss of Historic Places 

D
espite recognition through National Register 

. listing, the loss of historic places continues 
today. Buildings and sites are destroyed by 

demolition, fire, and new development. Some proper­
ties deteriorate through neglect and vandalism. 
Others can be irreversibly damaged by improper res­
toration methods, such as removing a distinctive 
porch, inappropriate repointing of the brickwork, and 
sandblasting. Nebraska has experienced the loss of 
notable historic properties including the York County 
Courthouse in York, the Isadore Haumont sod house 
in Custer County, Old Main at Dana College in Blair, 
and the Jobbers' Canyon Historic District in Omaha. 

and exec uted by the prominent Chicago School architec­
tural firm of Holabird and Roche. In 1927 the newly 
expanded Orpheum Theater, a three-story brick building 
which bulted against the bank, projected a lobby to the 
bank 's main facade, giving the theater an established and 
prestigious entrance. 

JOEL N. CORNISH HOUSE 
1404 South Tenth Street 
The Joel N. Corni sh house, built in 1886, is an excellent 
example of the French Second Empire style. Colonel Cor­
nish, a lawyer and businessman, moved to Omaha in 1886 
and served as president of the National Bank of Com­
merce. The Corn ish family li ved in the house until 19 1 I, 
when it was convened into apartments. 

DOUGLAS COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
1700 Farnam Street 

The 1909- 12 Douglas County Courthouse is an outstand­
ing example of the Renaissance Revival style. The court­
house is important in the career of architect John Larenser, 
Sf., as a mature and triumphant work that commenced the 
lalter halfof hi s practice. Decorative stone work, superbly 
executed, is plentiful on the building's exterior. The court­
house is a landmark in downtown Omaha. (photo p. 58) 

DRAKE COURT APARTMENTS AND 
DARTMORE APARTMENTS 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Jones Street between Twen tie th and Twenty-third streets 
Constructed between 1916 and 1921 , this complex of 
nineteen residential buildings was erected by the Drake 
Realty Construction Company. William Drake'scompany 
was respon sible For over 1,000 Omaha apartment units 
between 19 18 and 1929. The district's architecture com­
bines Georgian Revival and Prairie styles and demon­
strates trcnds that were popular in the Midwest between 
1916 and 1921. 

FIRST NATIONAL BANK BUILDING 
Sixteenth and Farnam streets 
One of the most di stinguished skyscrapers in Omaha, the 
bank building, erected in 1916-17, is a U-shaped, four­
teen -story, steel-frame office building. It was designed by 
the Chicago finn of Graham, Burnham, and Com pany. Its 
sophisticated composition and height make the building a 
visual and architectural landmark in downtown Omaha. 
The bank traces its origin to the Kountze Brothers, early 
Omaha financiers. 

FIRST UNITARIAN CHURCH 
3114 Harney Street 
The church building, ded icated in 19 18, is an early and 
fine example of the Colonial Revival style, designed by 
John and A lan McDonald. The building reproduces in the 
Midwest an eighteenth century house of worship typical of 
the New England region where Unitarianism originated. 
Former U.S. President William Howard Taft, then serving 
as president of the Unitarian Church Conference, o ffi ­
cia ted at the cornerstone-laying ceremony. (photo p. 55 ) 
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Hendee Hotel, Cozad (p.33) 
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Sl'Iedlsh Evangelical Lutheran Salem Church, Wakefield (p.351 

~ FLATIRON HOTEL 
1722 St. Mary 's Avenue 

The three-sided struclUre on a triangular block is a land­
mark in the downtown area. Designed in the Georgian 
Revival style by architect George B. Prinz, the building 
was constructed in 1911-1 2. Augustus F. Kountze, a local 
banker and landowner, had the building erected as com­
mercial and office space. (photo p. 50) 

FORD HOSPITAL 
121-129 South Twenty-fifth Street 
The fo rmer Ford Hospital was erected in 19 16 by Dr. 
Mi chael 1. Ford. The building was the last small , privately 
owned hospital established in Omaha. Probably the most 
fa mous case in the hospital's history was the treatment 
there of Mayor Ed Smith after he was nearly lynched by a 
mob during Omaha's courthouse riot September 28, 19 19. 
Dr. Ford owned the hospital until 1922, and by 1929 the 
struClUre had been purchased and remodeled as the Fifth 
Avenue Hate\. 

FORT OMAHA HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Thirtieth Street between Fort Street and Laurel Avenue 
Troops were first stationed in Omaha in 1862 when the 
city became headquarters for the Military District of 

Indian HIli olslllCI, Wakel ield vicinity (p_l3) 
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Osterman and Tremaine Building (Ideal Steam laundry), Fremont (p.35) 

Nebraska. Omaha was made headquarters for the Depart ­
ment of the Plane in April 1866. The site for a new post 
was se lected by Major General C. C. Augur and inspected 
by Genera l William T. Sherman. By mid-November 1868 
barracks had been completed. Originally ca lled Sherman 
Barracks, the post was renamed Omaha Barracks and 
linally, Fort Omaha in 1878. In 1879 Ponca Chief Stand­
ing Bearwa s held there awaiting trial in the case of Stand­
illg Bearvs. Crook. The case set lega l precedent in granting 
Indi ans status as persons under the law. During World 
War I Fort Omaha was the site of a major balloon school. 
The hi storic di strict includes a group of structures around a 
rectangular parade ground: the General George Crook 
House (see separa te summary); department headquarters 
and sto rehouse, all constructed in 1879; a nd the guard­
house, magazine, and officers' quarters built in the I 880s. 

GARNEAU-KILPATRICK HOUSE 
3100 Chicago Street 
Built in 1890 for Joseph Garneau, Jr. , of the Garneau 
Cracker Company, the house was later assoc iated with 
Thomas Kilpatrick , who occupied it from 1903 until hi s 
death in 19 16. Kilpatrick , Omaha dry goods retailer a nd 
clothing manufac turer, founded Thomas Kilpatrick and 
Company, acquircd later by Younker Brothers Stores. 

GENERAL GEORGE CROOK HOUSE 
Fort Omaha Street 
General George Crook was a distinguished Civ il War 
offi cer and Indian fi ghter. He lived a t Fort Omaha (see 

J.D. McDonald House, Fromon! (p.35) 
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separate summary) as comm ander of the U.S. Army's 
Department of the Plalte from 1875 to 1882 and aga in 
from 1886 to 1888. He moved into the Ita li anate style 
two-story residence, comm only known as the Crook 
House, following its completion in 1879. (photo p. 49) 

GEORGIA ROW HOUSE 
1040. 1042, and 1044 South Twenty-ninth Street 
The Georgia Row House is a fin e and well-preserved 
example of the Queen Anne style_ The three-story building 
was erec ted in 1890 for J. Herbert Van Closter, preside nt 
oFthe Nebraska Mortgage and Loan Company. The struc­
ture is named after Georgia Avenue, the previous nam e of 
South Twe nty-ninth Street. The building is a residential 
type of urban high density housing, which in Nebraska 
nourished only in Omaha and Lincoln. 

HAVENS-PAGE HOUSE (101 BUILDING) 
101 North Thirty-ninth Street 
The Havens- Page House was constructed in 1900 and 
designed in the Second Ren aissa nce Revival style by local 
architect F. A. Henninger. Thomas C. Ha vens, who built 
the house and occ upied it until hi s death in 1908, was 
president oFthe Havens- White Coa l Compa ny. The house 
was la ter purchased by Wal ter T. Page, manager of the 
America n Smelting and Refin ing Company. 

HILL HOTEL 
509 South Sixteenth Street 
Omaha businessmen John W. and Lem H. Hill bega n 
construction of the thirteen-story, steel-frame, masonry 
building in the fall of 19 19. Designed by Omaha architects 
John and Alan McDonald , the Commercial style structure 
incorporates Colonia l Revival decora ti ve detai ls. The 
hotel is the most im portant survivi ng exa mple of the 
McDonalds' work in commercial construction . 

.. \.• "~,,,,"'I 

Osterman and Tremaine BUilding (Ideal Steam Laundry). Fremonl. abou1 1900 (p. 35) 
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Nyc House (LOUIS E. M ay Museum), Fremont (p .3S) 

HOLY FAMILY CHURCH 
915 North Eighteen th Street 
Holy Family was the third pa rish esta bl ished in Omaha by 
the Roman Catholic Vicarate of Nebraska. The present 
church was built in 1883 to servc Irish rail road workers 
and their families and is an im pon ant example of an 
ecc lesiastical building designed as a combined church, 
school, and rectory. It is rectangular with classrooms in the 
basement, the chu rch proper on the main floor, and li ving 
quarters for the clergy at the rea r. Vari ations of this build­
ing type were common in Roman Catholic parishes in 
Omaha during the late nineteenth century. Holy Fam ily is 
the earliest and least altered of two known remain ing 
st ructures of this type in the ci ty. The church is also the 

Hooper HistOriC Dls1rlct, Hooper (p.36) 
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Brandeis-Millard House. Omaha (p.39) 

earliest known commission produced by the architec t 
brothers Charles and August Cleves of Omaha, who 
designed a number of the ci ty's important commercial and 
ecclesiastical buildings in the early 1880s through 1909. 

JEWELL BUILDING 
(DREAMLAND BALLROOM) 
2221-2225 North Twenty-fourth Street 
Constructed in 1923 for black businessman James C. 
Jewe ll , Sr., the two- story commercial building has been 
importan t to Omaha's musica l, social , and black history. 
The second story housed the Dreamland Ballroom, where 
nationally prominent jazz musicians, such as Count Sasie, 
Duke Ell ington, Dinah Washington, Earl Hines, and many 
others, performed from the 1920s through the I 960s. 

GEORGE A_ JOSLYN MANSION 
3902 Davenport Street 
Construction of the "Joslyn Castle" began in 1902 and 
was completed eleven months later at a cost of $250,000. 
The thirty-live-room limeslOne mansion, desig ned by 
Omaha architect John McDonald, was bui lt for George A. 
and Sarah H. Joslyn. Joslyn was president of the Western 
Newspaper Union and also operated a lucrative pa tent 
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Mason School. Omaha (right) 

medicine business. The Joslyn name is probably most fre­
quently associated with the Joslyn Memorial Art Museum 
at 220 I Dodge Streel. Built by Sarah Joslyn in memory of 
her husband, the museum houses Nebraska 's larges t art 
collec tion. (photo p. 49) 

GEORGE H. KELLY HOUSE 
1924 Binney Street 
The hou se was built in 1904 by George H. Kelly, secre ­
ta ry!treasurer and later president of the Adams and Kelly 
Company, manufac turers and distributors of architectural 
millwork . The company was one of several early Omaha 
mill work s that supplied doors, windows, and architectural 
woodwork to local builders during the boom periods of the 
1880s and ea rly 1900s. The dwelling is a fin e example of 
the Neo-C lass ical Revival style. 

KENNEDY BUILDING 
15 17 Jackson Street 

The Kennedy Investment Company, a loca l family corpor­

ation, built the Kennedy Building as a speculati ve com­

merc ial building in 19 10, leasing it lirst to the People's 

Furniture a nd Carpet Company and later to the Union 

Outfitting Company in 1924. The building exhibits cle­

ments of the Commercia l style and shows the influence of 

C hicago architect Lo ui s Sulli van. 


LEONE, FLORENTINE AND 

CARPATHIA APARTMENT BUILDINGS 

(KENT APARTMENTS) 

832, 834 South Twenty-!ourth Street, 907-911 South Twenty­
fifth Street 

The Leone, Carpathia, and Florentine, known today as the 
Kent Apartments, are a grouping of three apartment build­
ings and a rear courtyard . Vincenzo P. C hiodo, a nati ve of 
southern Italy, erected the buildings between 1909 and 
19 12 and utilized Italian stone masons in the construction. 
C hiodo's cho ice of an Italian version of the Renai ssance 
Rev ival style for the design, and the use of stone and cobble 
masonry in the construction, is unique in Nebraska apart­
ment buildings of thi s period and was no doubt influenced 
by his heritage. C hiodo became a leader in Omaha 's Ital ­

ian soc ial and religious organizations and acquired a con­
siderable fortune in real estate. 

MALCOLM X HOUSE SITE 
3448 Pinkney Street 
The house site is hi storically important for its association 
with Malcolm X, origina lly named Malco lm Little, born in 
Omaha on May 19, 1925. Malcolm X was known for hi s 
outspoken views on racial segregation, advocating a 
" back to Africa" movement, and later promoting soc ial 
and economic self- sufficiency for blacks. He was assassi­
nated in New York City on February 21,1965. Malcolm X 
contributed to an awareness in many blac ks which helped 
fo ster the birth of the bl ac k nationalist movement of the 
late 1960s. 

MASON SCHOOL 
10 12 South T wenly-fourth Street 
Mason School was erected in 1888 during a tim e of tre­
mendous economic growth in Omaha. In 1888, $200,000 
worth of bonds were issued to bui ld Mason School and five 
other structures to accomlllodate the growing school-age 
population. The schoo l was designed by the Omaha archi­
tec tural firm of Mendelssohn , Fisher, and Lawrie in the 
Richardson ian Romanesque style. (photo above) 

CHARLES D, McLAUGHLIN HOUSE 
507 South Thirty-eighth Street 
Designed by Omaha architect John McDona ld , the house 
is a distinctive example of the Georgian Revival style, 
located in Omaha's Gold Coast neighborhood. Built in 
1905 for Charles McLaughlin, the most prom inent resi­
dents of the house were Edward E. Bruce, a wholesa le 
druggist, and Dr. R. Russell Best, a nationally known sur­
geon and professor of anatomy and surgery. 
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DR. SAMUEL D. MERCER HOUSE 
(MERCER APARTMENTS) 
3920 Cuming Street 
Samuel D. Mercer, who built the house in 1883-85, organ­
ized the first hospital in Omaha in 1868 and also organized 
the Omaha Medical College. He served as chief surgeon of 
the Un ion Pacific Railroad for many years and was affil­
iated wi th the University of Nebraska Medical Depart­
men t, the United States Pension Examiners, and the Ne­
braska Medical Association. The Mercer family occ upied 
the dwelling until 1920, when it was converted into apart­
ments. The house is a fin e example of the Queen Anne 
style. 

MONMOUTH PARK SCHOOL 
4508 North Thirty-third Street 
The Monmouth Park School is a two-story-over-rai sed­
basement structure built of brick in a simplified Second 
Renaissance Reviva l style. Constructed in 1903 with 
symmetrical additions in 1908, the school was designed by 
Omaha architect Thomas Rogers Kimba ll. 

NASH BLOCK 
902- 12 Farnam Street 
The Nash Block was built by Mrs. Catharine B. Nash for 
M. E. Smith and Company in 1905-7 at a cost of 
$ 190,000. The eight-slOry-over-raised-basement struc­
ture was designed by Thomas Rogers Kimball as factory 
and warehouse space. Kimball incorporated the latest fire 
safety techniques, including brick enclosed stairways and 
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elevators, standard fire doors, and an automatic sprinkler 
system. The Nash Block was the first factory-warehouse in 
Omaha to have these features. By 1900 the M. E. Smith 
Company was the largest wholesale dry goods firm in 
Omaha, doing business throughout the West and Alaska. 

NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE BUILDING 
(OMAHA NATIONAL BANK BUILDING) 
Seventeenth and Farnam streets 
Constructed in 1888-89, the building was designed in the 
Renaissance Revival style by the New York architectural 
firm of McKim , Mead , and White. The firm designed a n 
identical offi ce lOwer for the New York Life Insurance 
Company in Kansas C ity, Missouri. The bui lding was 
Omaha's first ten-story structure. (photo p. 46) 

NORTH PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
3105 North Twenty-fourth Street 
The North Presbyterian Church is a fin e example of the 
Neo-C lassical Reviva l style. F. A. Henninger, Omaha 
architect, designed the 1910 building wi th inspiration 
from several buildings at Omaha's 1898 Trans- Mississippi 
and International Exposition. The church has served North 
Om aha since the area was an affl uent suburb of Omaha. 
Later it became an integrated congregation, renamed the 
Calvin Memorial Presbyterian Church in 1954. The 
church is a prominent landmark in the predominantly 
black North Omaha community. 

OLD MARKET HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Irregufar pattern between Tenth and Thirteenth streets and 
Farnam and Jackson streets 
The Old Market Historic District, located in the eastern 
section of downtown Omaha, was part of the wholesa le 
jobbing area of the city, which mushroomed in the 1880s 
and operated well into the twentieth century. This area was 
the distribution center for goods shipped on the Union 

Pacific Railroad and its branch lines. The district is com­
prised of former light industria l and warehouse buildings 
and wholesale jobbing houses. 

OLD PEOPLE'S HOME 
3325 Fontenelle Boulevard 
The two-story brick building was built by the Women's 
C hristian Aid Society in 19 17 as one of the city's first 
faci lities expressly designed to house the elderly. Omaha 
architects John and Alan McDona ld designed the building 
in the Colonial Revival style. 

OMAHA HIGH SCHOOL 
(CENTRAL HIGH SCHOOL) 
124 North Twentieth Street 
Omaha High School, commonly known as Central High, is 
an outstanding example of the Renaissance Revival style. 
It was designed by architect John Latenser, Sr. The build­
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Union Passenger Terminal, Omaha (p. 591 

ing was constructed in four phases between the years 1900 
and 1912. The school building, with its ten-acre campus, is 
prominently located in downtown Omaha and occupies 
the site of the second territorial capitol building. (photo p. 50) 

OMAHA PUBLIC LIBRARY 
1823 Harney Street 
The library is one of Omaha's most impressive architec­
tural landm arks. Designed in 1891-92 by architect 
Thomas Rogers Kimball , the structure was completed in 
1894. The building is a good example of the Second 
Renaissance Revival style. (photo p. 23) 

OMAHA QUARTERMASTER DEPOT 

HISTORIC DISTRICT 

Irregular pattern bounded by Hickory Street, Twenty-second 
Street, Woolworth Avenue, Twentieth Sireet, and the north­
western line of the Union Pacific Raifroad right of way 
The Omaha Quartermaster Depot Historic District com­
prises several substantial brick structures dating 1881-94. 
It was established as a supply depot for the U.S. Army's 
Department of the Plalle for storage and distribution of 
supplies to military outposts. The peak activity at the depot 
occurred during World War I, when it supplied camps and 
Nat iona l Guard units throughout the Plains. During the 
New Deal , the depot was a supply base for C ivilian Con­
servation Corps camps. The district is now known as the 
United States Army Reserve Center Facility. (photo p. 54) 

PACKER'S NATIONAL BANK BUILDING 
4939 South Twenty-fourth Street 
Packer's National Bank , one of three banks that began in 
the first decade of South Omaha's history, was founded in 
189 1 to accommodate the grow ing financial activity of 
thi s industrial suburb of Omaha. The city ofSouth Omaha 

Union Passenger Terminal, Omaha (p, 591 

owed its existence to the Union Stockyards Company and 
its associated meat packing industry. By 1893 John F. 
Coad, an Omaha banker, had become president and estab­
lished the Coad family in South Omaha banking for the 
next seventy-five years. The present bank building, 
designed by architect Thomas Rogers Kimball , was con­
structed in 1907 in the Second Renaissance Revival style. 

POPPLETON BLOCK 
1001 Farnam Street 
The Poppleton Block was built by Andrew Jackson 
Poppleton, a pioneer Omaha allorney who held the posi­
tion ofGeneral Allorney for the Union Pacific Railroad for 
many years. Perhaps the most important case in Popple­
ton's legal career was his successful 1879 defense of Ponca 
Indian Chief Standing Bear (see Fort Omaha Historic 
District). Based on the issue of whether Indians could li ve 
outside reservations, the case set legal precedents in grant­
ing Indians status as person s under the law. The building is 
a fine example of commercial Italianate architecture in 
Omaha. The three- story brick structure was erected in 
1880 with Henry Voss serving as the architect. 

PORTER-THOMSEN HOUSE 
3426 Lincoln Boulevard 
Designed by Omaha arch itect Frederick A. Henninger, the 
house is a product of the Georgian Revival style and 
contains a rare collection of well-preserved landscape and 
decorative murals painted by artist Gustave A. Fuchs, born 
and trained in Germany. The house was built in 1902 for 
Dr. Elmer R. Porter, who established a large medical 
practice in Omaha. Arthur C. Thom sen, owner from 1923 
to 1970, was dean of the University of Omaha Law School, 
ed itor of the Night LalV Bulletill, and District Court Judge 
from 1928 to 1961. 
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PRAGUE HOTEL 
1402 South Thirteenth Street 
The hotel was built in 1898 by the Omaha Brewing Asso­
ciation, forerunner to .the Storz Brewing Company. Local 
architect J. P. Guth was commissioned by the brewing 
association to design the three-story brick st ruct ure, which 
housed a tavern and restaurant on the first fl oor, hotel 
rooms on the second floor, and a dan ce ha ll on the third 
floor. The building was a social center for Czech immi­
grants who settled in this south Omaha comm unity, often 
referred to as "Bohemian Town" or "Praha." (photo p. 58) 

REDICK TOWER 
1504 Harney Street 

The Redick Tower was designed to house offices, com­
mercial space, and automobile parking fac ilities. Built of 
reinforced concrete with a brick and terra-cotta exterior, 
the eleven-story tower is designed in the Art Deco style. 
The Redick Tower was built in 1930 by the Parsons Con­
struction Company to the design of Omaha architect 
Joseph G. McArthur. The owner, Garrett and Agar, Inc., 
named the st ructure after the Redick family , pioneer 
settlers of Omaha and longtime owners of the Redick 
Tower site. (photo p. 54) 

ROSEWATER SCHOOL 
3764 South Thirteenth Street 

The two-story brick structure was built in 19 10 and is a 
simple ye t well-designed example of the Second Renais­
sance Revival style. The school was named for Edward 
Rosewater, a Czech immigrant who founded The Omaha 
Daily Bee in 187 1. He was elected to the Nebraska House 
of Representatives in 1870 and in 187 1 sponsored leg isla­
tion which estab lished a si ngle Omaha school district and 
an elected board of education. (photo p. 54) 

SACRED HEART CATHOLIC CHURCH 
COMPLEX 
2218 Binney Street 
The most significant building of the complex is the Late 
Gothic Revival church, whose tall spire and stone con­
struction make it a landmark in the surrounding residential 
neighborhood. The church was built in 1900- 1902 to the 
design of the Omaha architectural firm of Fisher and 
Lawrie. The complex, which also includes two brick 
schools, a rectory, and shrine, was created under the lead­
ership of the Reverend Patrick J. Judge. Born in Ireland and 
ordained in Rome,Judgecame to Omaha in 1892. In 1895 
he was appointed to the infant Sacred Heart Pari sh and 
served until his death in 1942. 

ST. CECILIA'S CATHEDRAL 
701 North Tenth Street 
The cathedral, designed in a Spanish version of the Renais­
sance Revival style, is a dramatic departure from the 
common architectural styles selected for Roman Catholic 
churches in the early twentieth century. It is one of the ten 
largest cathedrals in the United States. The church was 
designed by Omaha architect Thomas Rogers Kimball , 
and the cornerstone was laid in 1907. (photo p. 23) 

ST. JOHN'S AFRICAN METHODIST 
EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
2402 North Twenty-second Street 

St. John's African Methodist Episcopa l Church was con­
structed in 1921 in the Prairie style. An auditorium exten­
sion was added to the building in 1947, and auxi liary 
rooms were fi nished in 1956. Designed by Omaha archi ­
tect Frederick S. Stott , the building refl ects a progressive 
att itude on the part of this black congregation at a time 
when traditional va lues in religious architecture were pre­
valent 

ST. JOSEPH'S PARISH COMPLEX 
1730 South Sixteenth Street 

St. Joseph's Parish was organi zed to serve Omaha's Ger­
man -speak in g Ca th olics. Th e prese nt church wa s 
designed in the Romanesque Revival style by Franciscan 
architect Brother Leonard Darscheid in 19 15 . The friary, 
built in 1886, was planned by Brother Adri an Wewer, who 
also designed the convent/school in 190 1. A second school 
building was co nstructed in 1928 to plan s prepared by 
Omaha architect Jacob Nachtiga l!. St. Joseph's Parish con ­
tinues under the admin istration of the Franciscan Fathers 
with parishioners of Germ an heritage comprising a large 
percentage of the church's membership. (photo p. 57 ) 
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ST. MARTIN OF TOURS 
EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
2312 J Street 
St. Martin Church is an excellent small- scale exa mpl e of 
the Late Gothic Revival style. Built in 1899- 1900, the 
limestone church was the first Epi scopal mission in the 
new town of South Omaha and, after the failure of subse­
quent mi ssions, remains the on ly parish today. It is located 
on South Omaha's main thoroughfare, South Twenty­
fourth Street. 

ST. MATTHIAS' EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
(DIETZ MEMORIAL UNITED METHODIST 
CHURCH) 
1423 South Tenth Street 

Gifts to the Episcopal Diocese of Nebraska made possible 
the construction of St. Matthias ' Ep iscopal Ch urch in 
1888-89. The building was both a pari sh church for Epis­
co palians and a chapel for the neighboring Brownell Hall, 
a female seminary operated by the diocese. It was designed 
by architect John W. H. Hawkins, a native of New York 
and a graduate of Cornell. The stone church combines 
both Gothic and Roman esque Rev ival elements in its 
design. The building is presently known as Dietz Memorial 
United Methodist Church. 

ST. PHILOMENA'S CATHEDRAL AND 
RECTORY (S7: FRANCES CABRINI) 
1335 South Tenth Street 

Designed by architect Thomas Rogers Kimball and 
erected in 1908, St. Philomena 's Cathedral represents a 

Bank o! Florence. Omaha (p.371 
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Spanish version of the Renaissance Revival style. The 
church ha s a red- tiled roof, stucco walls, and a prominent 
side tower. Kimball al so designed the 19 10 rectory build­
ing in the Spanish mode. In 1958 the name of the church 
was changed to SL Frances Cabrini. 

SANFORD HOTEL (CONANT HOTEL) 
1913 Farnam Street 
The Sanford Hotel was constructed in 1916-17 during an 
Omaha building boom. It is a well-preserved example of 
high rise hotel architecture in early twentieth century 
Omaha. Dr. Harold Gifford , owner and developer of the 
hotel, was known internationally as a pioneer in ophthal­
mology and loca lly as a prominent philanthropist. He was 
a founder of Methodi st Hospital , one of Omaha 's largest 
medica l centers, and al so organizer of the Omaha Medical 
College. After the hotel's construction, the Sanford was 
leased to Harley Conant, who operated it until 1950. 

SAUNDERS SCHOOL 
415 North Forty-first Avenue 

Opened to students in 1900, Saunders School is one of the 
earliest surviving exa mples of schoolhouse design by John 
Latenser, Sr. The Omaha architect built his reputation on 
designs for more than twenty of the city's public school s 
and later compl eted commissions for many of Omaha 's 
large civic and commercial buildings. The school was 
named for Alvin Sa unders, Nebraska's last territorial gov­
ernor and United States se nator from 1877 to 1883. 
Saunders served on the Board of Regents of Omaha's high 
school. 

THE SHERMAN (SHERMAN APARTMENTS) 
2501 North Sixteenth Street 

The three-story Sherman Apartment Building was built in 
1897 for businessman George H. Payne, president of East­
ern Realty Company and financier of numerous develop­
ment projects. The building is named for Sherman Avenue, 
the former name of North Sixteenth Street, which had 
developed in the 1860s as a country drive to estates on the 
dramatic bluffs north of the city. The building is a fine and 
well-preserved example of the Neo-Classical Revival 
style. 

STANDARD OIL COMPANY BUILDING 
OF NEBRASKA 
500 South Eighteenth Street 

The six-story brick and limestone building, commonly 
known as the Law Building, was designed in 1919 by 
architects John and Allen McDonald, a local father-and­
son team who ob tained seve ral important commissions in 
the Omaha area. The structure was erected in 1920-22 as 
the headquarters for the central region operations and 
sales of the Standard Oil Company. 

GOTTLIEB STORZ HOUSE 
3708 Farnam Street 
The residence is an excellent example of the stately man ­
sions built in Omaha's Gold Coast area around the turn of 
the century. Designed in the Jaeobethan Revival style by 
Omaha architects Fisher and Lawrie, the house was con­



structed in 1905. The well -manicured grou nds also 
include a three -story carriage house and bier siube 
(gazebo). Gottl ieb Storz emigrated from Germ any and 
fo unded the Storz Brewing Company, establishing the 
fami ly fo rtune. His so n Arthur C. Storz, Sr., continued to 
develop the firm and pl ayed a major role, loca lly and 
nationally, in promoting aviation. (photo p. 47) 

S TREHLOW TERRACE 

(TERRACE GA RDEN APARTMEN T COMPLEX) 

2024 and 2107 North Sixteenth Street 
The Terrace Garden complex is located in the northeast 
part of Omaha on la nd an nexed by the city in the late 
1850s. The complex's six buildings incl ude: three multi ­
unit apartment houses-the Majestic, the Strehlow, and 
the Ro land, bui lt in 1905 , 1907, and 1909, respectively; a 
one-story annex/ apartment, a two-story residence, and a 
garage/apartment, built between 19 10 and 1920. The 
buildings are arranged around a ce ntral courtyard, which 
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Douglas County Courthouse, Omaha (p.40) 

Prague Hotel, Omaha (p.55) 

retains elements of the original landscape design , includ­
ing a concrete fountain and benches. A collaborative effort 
between client-builder Robert C. Streh low and Omaha 
architect Frederick A. Henninger, the complex is the 
state's earliest known example of an integrated grouping 
of related apartment buildings. Robert Strehlow, an 
Omaha-based bui lder, gained a national reputation for his 
construction work at world's fairs, beginning with Oma­
ha's 1898 Trans-Mississippi Exposition and continuing 
through the Panama-Pacific Exhibition in San Francisco 
in 1915. During this period, Strehlow developed his 
apartment complex, incorporating aspects of turn-of-the­
century exposition design, including an axial court arrange­
ment, a scu lptured fountain, and landscaped grounds. 

TRINITY CATHEDRAL 
113 North Eighteenth Street 

Completed in 1883 the cathedral is a well-preserved 
example of the Late Gothic Revival style. Designed by 
English architect Henry G. Harrison, the cathedral dis­
plays rock-faced masonry walls and stone tracery in the 
stained glass lancet windows. Trinity Cathedral was 
organized as Nebraska's first Episcopal parish in 1856 and 
became its first Episcopal cathedral in 1872. The church 
served as the base of many Episcopal missions to areas of 
the western United States. (photo p. 53 ) 

U.S.S. HAZARD (NHL) 
U.S.S. MARLIN 
2500 North Twenty-fourth Street (East) 
The U.S.S. Hazard, a navy minesweeper, was launched 
May 21 , 1944, by the Winslow Marine Railway and Ship­
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build ing Company, in Winslow, Washington, and was 
com missioned October 3 1. Hazard received three battle 
stars for World War II service and arrived in Omaha in 
June 1971. U.S.S. Marli" was launched October 14, 1953, 
a nd was designed as a target submarine. It was built by the 
Electric Boat Division, General Dynamics Corporation, in 
Groton, Connecticut. Marli" was brought to Omaha from 
Key West, Flo rida, in 1974. The U.S.S. Hazard was desig­
nated a National Historic Landmark on January 14, 1986, 
a nd is one of the best preserved World War n warships in 
the country. 

UNION PASSENGER TERMINAL 
Tenth and Marcy streets 

The Union Passenger Terminal was designed by Gilbert 
Stanley Underwood of Los Angeles and completed in 
193 1. The massive exterior walls are of cream-colored 
glazed terra cotta a nd display Art Deco detailing. The 
building typifies the numerous passenger stations Under­
wood designed as consulting architect to the Union Pacific 
System. The completion of the terminal and the recon­
struction of the connected Burlington Station fi rm ly estab­
lished Omaha as an important railroad term inus in the 
Midwest. The building is presently occupied by the Omaha 
History Museum. (photos p. 52) 

WEBSTER TELEPHONE EXCHANGE 
BUILDING 
22 73 Lake Street 

Located in the Near North Side ne ighborhood of Omaha, 
the brick building was opened in June 1907 by the Nebras­
ka Telephone Company as one of its ·exchanges. It was 
designed by architect Thomas Rogers Kimball. The build­
ing was remodeled as a community center in 1933 and 
now houses the Great Plains Black Museum . 

EDGAR ZABRISKIE HOUSE 
3524 Hawthorne Avenue 
The house represents a flamboyant version of the Q ueen 
Anne style. The residence, constructed in 1889, is one of 

the best Eastlake- innuenced hOllses in Omah a and one of 
the few rema ining Queen Anne dwell ings. Edga r Zabri s­
kie led an adventurous life as a Ci vil War sold ier, Union 
Pacifi c general agent, and accountant. Born in New York 
C ity in 1840, Zabriskie was of Po lish descent. (pholO p. 59) 

----OMAHA VICINITy---­

CABANNE'S TRADING POST 
In 1822 the firm of Berthold. C houteau and Pra tte, more 
commonly known as the "French C ompany," built this fur 
trad ing post on the Mi ssouri Ri ve r north or present -day 
O maha. It was operated by John Pierre Cahannc unti l 
1833. Joshua Pil cher assumed cOlllm and uf the post in 
1833-35 un ti l its abandonme nt in the early I 840s. The 
post's success was bolstered in part by its ab ility tu provi­
sion the garrison at nearby Ft. Atkinson ( 18 19-27). The 
post consisted of a row of storehouses. shops. ilnd hOll ses. 
including Cabanne's large two-story home with a balcony 
facing the ri ver. 

59 



Fairmont Creamery Company Building, Fairmontlbelow) 

CHAMPE-FREMONT SITE 
Approximately A.D. 1300-1400 prehistoric hunters and 
fa rmers established this community overlooking the Elk ­
ho rn River fl ood plain. The villagers constructed a cluster 
of fi ve to seven square, earth covered lodges and possibly 
two burial mounds. The most interesting feature oC the site 
is the presence of fragmented , charred human skeletal 
remains on the floor of one lodge. The structure probably 
was used as a crematorium or "chamal house." 

----------WATERLOO---------­
J. 	C. ROBINSON HOUSE 
102 East Lincoln Avenue 
The James C. Robin son House, built a t the turn of the 
century in the Neo-C lassical Revival style, is an excellent 
example of the two-story square, a common Nebraska 
house type. Robinson was the founder-owner of the J. C. 
Robinson Seed Company, which became one of the best 
known commercial enterprises in the region . (photo p. 48) 

FILLMORE COUNTY 

----------FAIRMONT---------­
FAIRMONT CREAMERY COMPANY 

BUILDING 

Sixth Avenue and F Street 
The one- story brick comm ercial building, erected in 1884, 
was the general offi ce of the nationally known Fairmont 
C reamery Company. Fou nded by Wallace Wheeler and 
Joseph Rushton, the company became well known in the 
dairy industry for its quality control a nd progressive 
met hods of food production and distribution. The general 
offi ces of the company moved from Fairmont to Omaha in 
1907. In 1947 the Fairmont Creamery Company became 

First Congregational Church INaponee Octagon Church), Naponeo Ip.62) 

Fairmont Foods Company. During the 1970s, Fairmont 
Foods moved its headquarters from Omaha to Houston 
and later changed its name to Utotem, Inc. (photo above) 

-----------GEN EVA----------­

AUDITORIUM 
160 North Ninth Street 
Constructed at a cost of $20,000, the two-story brick 
building opened in December 19 15 as the new ci ty hall. 
Access to the former opera house is provided through 
double doors and a spacious lobby. The opera house inte­
rior has a raked floor, balcony, stage, and orchestra pit. 
The building is used today as a fine art s theater by the 
Geneva Arts Council. 

FILLMORE COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
Ninth and G streets 
Completed in 1894, the Fillmore County Courthouse is a 
simplified version of the Richardsoni an Romanesque style. 
The courthouse was designed by architect George E. 
McDonald and was modeled after the Gage County 
Courthouse in Beatrice. The two-story brick building has a 
prominent three-story tower with a community clock, 
installed by jeweler W. P. McCall in 1909. (photo p. 61 ) 

GEORGE W. SMITH HOUSE 
Twelfth Street 
This house was built in 1890 for early Geneva settler 
George W. Smith, who established a loan offi ce, the prede­
cessor of the First National Bank of Geneva. Through hi s 
ba nking bu siness and also as a partner in a land develop­
ment company, he platted and promoted the sale of build­
ing lots in Geneva in the early 188 0s. In 1925 the house 
was converted to a hospital by Ann a Eggenberger, a regis­
tered nurse, and remained as such until 1942. The frame 
house is a good example of Queen Anne style. (photo p. 59) 
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FRANKLIN COUNTY 


---BLOOMINGTON VICINITY--­

LOST CREEK SITE 
Hunters and fa rmers of the Upper Republican Phase estab­
lished this small vi llage sometime during the thirteenth 
century A.D. Although the Lost Creek Site was occupied 
by onl y a single culture, the duration of use appears to be 
fa irly lengthy; and changes in artifact types and styles 
during the two-to- three century span of Upper Republica n 
occupation are likely to be represented there. 

------FRANKLlN----­

DUPEE MUSIC HALL 
1402 P Street 
The Dupee Music Hall is the only remai ning structure of 
the Franklin Academy. The academy was established in 
1881 under the supervision of the Republica n Valley 
Association of Congrega tional Churches. By 1888 Ne­
braska had five Congrega tional academies offering col­
lege preparatory courses to students who desired more 
academic tra ining than a typica l ninetee nth century high 
school provided. The Dupee Music Hall was erected in 
1902 to house the music department , which had become 

I-Ilimore Counly Courthouse, Geneva (p.60) 
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one of the major interests of the academy. The academy 
closed in June 1922, after serving 2,570 students in its 
fort y-one-year history. 

-----------NAPONEE---------­
FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 
(NAPONEE OCTAGON CHURCH, NAPONEE 
HERITAGE CENTER) 

The Naponee Octagon Church is one of the few octagon 
ch urches in Nebraska. The First Congregational Church 
was organized on May 15, 188 1, ten years after the settle­
ment of Naponee. Construction began in 1887, and the 
dedi cation service was held on July 10, 1887, by the Rev­
erend C. S. Harrison of Franklin. In 1974 the Naponee 
Histori ca l Society acquired it for a museum. (photo p. 60) 

FRONTIER COUNTY 


------CAMBRIDGE VICINITy----­
MOWRY BLUFF SITE 

Mowry Bluff is a small Upper Republican Phase hamlet 
occ upied during the twelfth century A.D. The site is 
located on the crest of a high bluff overlooking the Medi­
cine C reek valley. Archeological work at Mowry Bluff and 
a companion site on the Missouri River provided a frame­
work to re-eva luate late prehistoric cultural history in the 
Central Pl ain s. 

-----STOCKViLLE VICINITY-----­
RED SMOKE SITE 

Red Smoke is one of three Paleo- Indian Tradition sites 
excavated following World War II in response to construc­
tion of the Medicine Creek Dam and Reservoir. Fieldwork 
uncovered seven di stinct cultural layers in the banks of 
Lim e C reek, the earliest of which is about 8,500 years old. 
The Red Smoke inhabitants were probably large game 
hunters, who roamed across the Great Plains during and 
shortly following the last Ice Age. Activities carried out at 
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and near the site include: hunting of now extinct forms of 
bison and other animals; manufacture and sharpening of 
stone spear points, knives and scrapers; food preparation; 
and hide processing. 

GAGE COUNTY 


------BARNESTON VICINITY ---­
OTO AGENCY (BARNESTON SITE) 
The Oto tribe signed an 1854 treaty relinquishing their 
territory west of the Misso uri Ri ver except for a 250­
square-mile reservation in the Blue River basin. This vil ­
lage and agency, near present-day Barneston , became the 
centerofOto cu lture in Nebraska. In 188 1 the Oto moved 
to a permanent reservation in Oklahoma. The Agency 
complex included the village proper, a sawmill, school, 
agency buildings, and one or more cemeteries. A sketch 
produced by agent Albert Green in 1870 shows the main 
village consist ing of twenty-two earth lodges, five wig­
wams, several tipis, corn fields, and horse corrals. The 
Barneston Site is an except ional exa mple of an eastern 
Plains late hi storic Native American village. 

-----------BEATRICE----------­

BEATRICE CHAUTAUQUA PAVILION 
Chautauqua Park, Sixth Street and Grable Avenue 
The Pavilion is located on the grounds of the Chautauqua 
Park in Beatrice. The Chautauqua, which operated annual 
summer assemblies during the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth centuries, enlightened countless rural and small 
town residents of Nebraska . The C ha utauqua sessions 
featured performances, discussion s, lectures, and oratory, 
as well as lessons in fin e art and domestic science. The 
1889 pavilion is an impressive rectangular structure, and it 
is an engineering and arch itectural achievement of merit. 
The pavilion was originally open on all sides, but about 
1915 the gabled section of the roof was extended on the 
east, and frame wallswere built to serve as the extension's 
support. 

BEATRICE CITY LIBRARY 
220 North Fifth Street 

The Beatrice City Library, built in 1902-3, is an outstand­
ing ex ample of the Beaux-Arts style, designed by architect 
George A. Berlinghof. The establishment of a permanent 
library was due to the efforts of the Beatrice Literary Club, 
founded in 1890, which continued the earlier efforts ofthe 
Women's Christian Temperance Union. In 1902 the 
library board obtai ned a $20,000 gra nt from Andrew Car­
negie. A grand opening was held on January I , 1904, to 
celebrate the new building's completion. 

BURLINGTON PASSENGER STATION 
118 Court Street 
The Burlington Passenger Station was built in 1906 for the 
Chicago, Burlington, and Quincy Railroad in the Neo­
C lassica l Revival style. The building was constructed of 
Omaha pressed brick wi th Bedford stone trim at a cost of 
$35,000. On October I , 1908, presidenti al candidate Wil­



63 




Burlington Passenger Stallon, Beatrice, t 908 (p. 62) 

li am Howard Taft stopped at the station to spea k from his 
train to an estim ated crowd of 12,000. In March of 1973 
Burlington officials leased the building to the Gage 
County Historica l Society for a museum. (photos above) 

SAMUEL KILPATRICK HOUSE 
701 North Seventh Street 
The "Kilpatrick Mansion" is a two-and-one- half-story 
brick dwelling constructed in 1904-5 in the Renaissance 
Revival style. Sam ue l Davenport Kilpatrick was one of 
four brothers who established a rai lroad construct ion busi­
ness, which built many rail lines in Nebraska, including 
Union Pacifi c and Burlington. The Kilpatrick brothers 
were also pioneers in developing ranchcs and farmlands in 
several states, including Nebraska and Idaho. (photo p. 63) 

PADDOCK HOTEL 
105 North Sixth Street 
The present five-story hotel building was constructed after 
a 1919 fire destroyed the city's former Hotel Paddock. 
Designed in the Renaissance Revival style by architect 
Thomas Rogers Kimball , the hotel was pronounced a 
showplace whe n completed in 1924. Hotel operations 
ceased in 1970 when the property was converted into 
retirement housing. 

ALGERNON S. PADDOCK HOUSE 
1401 North Tenth Street 
The one-and-one-half-story, native limestone dwelling 
was bui lt in 1870. Algernon Sidney Paddock, a native of 
New York, moved to Nebraska in the 1850s and purchased 
the house in Beatrice in 1873. He became active in politics 
and served as secretary of Nebraska Territory and two 
terms as U. S. senator for Nebraska. Paddoc k pl atted the 
Fairview a nd Paddock addi tions to the ci ty. The 1887-88 
Paddock Block (Hotel Paddock) and the Paddock Hotel 
also bear his name. 

- ---BEATRiCE VICINITY ---­

FREEMAN HOMESTEAD AND 
FREEMAN SCHOOL (HOMESTEAD 
NATIONAL MONUMENT OF AMERICA) 
Most of the area within Homestead National Monument of 
America com pri ses the original homestead claim of 
Daniel Freeman in Gage Co unty. The national monument 
also includes the Freeman School, constructed in 1872 , 
and other buildings, sites, graves, and tree plantings. The 
Daniel Freeman Homestead was purportedly the first 160­
acre claim entered and patented under the Homestead Act 
of 1862. Established by Congress in 1936, the Homestead 
National Monument is a mcmorial to pioneers who setlled 
in the Plains. The property is admin istered by the National 
Park Service. (photo p. 65) 

---BLUE SPRINGS VICINITY --­
BLUE SPRINGS OR WONDER SITE 
The Bl ue Springs Site is an early nineteenth century Paw­
nee vill age on a prominent hilltop overlook ing the Big 
Blue River. When first visited by archeologists in 1904, 
nearly fifty earth lodge depressions and defensive earth­
works were visible. Fortifications at Blue Springs may 
have been constructed as a response to connicts with the 
Kansas Indians. There is evidence that the site was occu­
pied on an intermittent basis by the Tappage band of 
Pawnee from the late 1700s until 1825. 

----DEWiTT VICINITY---­

DEWITT FLOUR MILLS AND 
KING IRON BRIDGE 
The DeWitt Flour Mills and King Iron Bridge a rc located 
on the Big Blue River in Gage County. The mill is a large, 
three-story frame building constructed partially on the 
foundat ions of an earl ier mi ll. The main bu ilding dates 
from 1887 or 1888, with later additions in the early twen­
tieth century. The bridge, which spans the river adjacent to 
the mill, was built in 1887 by the King Iron Bridge and 
Manufacturing Company of C leveland, Ohio. 
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----FILLEy VICINITy--- ­

ELIJAH FILLEY STONE BARN 
The Elijah Fi lley Stone Barn, built in 1874, was form erly a 
part of Elij ah Filley's Cottage Hill Farm, estab lished in 
1867 when Filley and his wife Emily came to Gage 
County. The three-story limestone structure is one of the 
most magnificent barns in the state. Important for its sizc 
and structural qualities, the barn is a lso an excellent exam­
ple of a bank barn (a barn built into a hillside), a type 
whose use was compatible with the topography of south­
eastcrn Nebraska. Filley became a leading farmer and 
stock rai ser. In 1924 he was inducted into the Nebraska 
Hall of Agricultural Achievement. (photos Pl' . 62 , 63) 

WYMO RE---- -­
LAKE BRIDENTHAL HOUSE 
113 South Ninth Street 

The Lake Bridenthal House is the most distinctive local 
exa mple of the Queen Anne stylc. Built in 1900, the house 
demonstrates the style in transi tion, incorporating more 
contem porary NeD-Classical Revival elements in its orig­
inal design. The porch, with columns of simplistic design 
common at the turn of the century, is prominent. Briden­
thai was cashier for the First National Bank of Wymore 
and owner of Lake Bridenthal and Company, dea lers in 
lumber and coal. (photo p. 63) 
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Garfield County Frontier Fairgrounds (Burwe ll Rodeo Groundsl. Burwell (p.67) 

Church 01 the Visitat ion 01 the Blessed Virg in Mary, O'Connor (p.S7) 
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GARDEN COUNTY 


----LEWELLEN VICINITy ---­

ASH HOLLOW CAVE (NHL) 
Archeological explorat ion of more than six feet of noor 
material in this rock shelter revealed multiple occupation 
layers attributed to at least four distinct cultures span ning 
over 1,500 years. These include protohistoric Apache 
(A.D. 1675 -1 725); Central Plains Tradition (A.D. 900­
1450); Woodland Tradition (A.D. 0-1 100); and Late 
Archaic Tradition (1000 S.C.-A.D.500). Occupants 
apparently utilized the cave as a base camp for hunting and 
food collecting. The excavations have been left exposed to 
form a permanent exhibit affiliated with a nearby interpre­
tive center operated by the Nebraska Game and Parks 
Commission. 

ASH HOLLOW HISTORIC DISTRICT 
The district includes several examples of prehistoric 
Native American occupation, the most interesting being 
Ash Hollow Cave (sec separate su mmary). Several distinct 
Oregon-California Trail remnants from the 1840s-60s 
westward migrations are clearly visible. A pioneer cemc­



tery dating to the 1840s is located in Ash Ho llow, and a fur 
trad ing post operated there from 1850 to 1853. In 1855 
troops under the comm and of General William S. Harney 
att acked a nd de fe ated a band of Oglala and Brule Sioux in 
the Battle of Ash Hollow or Blue Wa ter. Aft er the battle a 
forti lied supply depot named Ft. G ratta n was estab lished 
near the mouth of Ash Hollow and abandoned in the spring 
of 1856. (photo p. 65 ) 

, I GARFIELD COUNTY ================== 

----------BURWELL--------- ­
GARFIELD COUNTY FRONTIER 

FAIRGROUNDS 

(BURWELL RODEO GROUNDS) 

The idea of a permanent rodeo at Burwell was co nceived 
by local real estate man Homer C. Stokes. In 192 1 while 
on a business trip, Stokes attended a rodeo at Norton, 
Ka nsas, and dec ided that Burwe ll would be a good loca­
tion fo r such an event in conjunction with the Garfield 
County Fa ir. A corporation was formed, la nd was pur­
chased, and the erection of permanent structures began. 
The first rodeo was held in September 1922 and attracted 
na tionwide interest. By the 1930s the rodeo had become 
one of the major shows on the rodeo circuit. " Nebraska's 
Big Rodeo" at Burwell is the oldest continuous rodeo in 
Nebraska and reta in s most 1922 structures. (photo p. 66) 

GRANT COUNTY 


---------- HyANNIS---------­
HOTEL DeFAlR 
Highway 2 and Main Street 
The two-and -one-half-story frame structure was built in 
1898 by Mrs. Rena Fair in the French Second Empire 
style. In 1929 the front porch was enclosed, and the enti re 
buil ding was stuccoed. Hya nnis emerged as a "cowtown" 
of the Sa ndhi li s area in the I 890s, and the hotel catered to 
the ranchers who brought their herds of cattl e to Hya nni s 
fo r ra ilroad shipm ent to mark et. The ho tel is still in opera ­
ti on and stands today as a landmark and reminder of the 
cattle business in western Nebra ska. (photo right ) 

GREELEY COUNTY 


- --------O'CONNOR----- ­

CHURCH OF THE VISITATION OF 

THE BLESSED VIRGIN MARY 

(O'CONNOR CHURCH COMPLEX) 

The church was one of the ea rly pari shes established by the 
Iri sh Catholic Colonization Associa tion of the United 
States. A major goal of the assoc iation was to improve the 
social and economic conditions of Iri sh- Americans in 
eastern cities by assisting their relocation to farm s in Ne­
braska and Minnesota. The town orO'Co nnor was named 
fo r Bishop James J. O'Connor of O maha, a Fou nder o f the 

associa tion. The complex incl udes a Romanesque Reviva l 
church, rectory, pari sh hall , and cemetery. Built in 1904-5 , 
the bri ck church was designed by architect James H. 
C raddoc k, a Catho lic of Iri sh descent. He a lso designed the 
churches of the other two Iri sh-Catho lic parishes in Gree ­
ley Co unty, St. Michael's (sce sepa rate sUlllln a ry) and 
Sacred Hcart. (pho to p. 66) 

-----------SCOTIA---------- ­

ED WRIGHT BUILDING 
(SCOTIA CHALK BUILDING) 
The Scoti a C ha lk Build ing is a one-s tory structure located 
on the mai n street of Scot ia. Erected in 1887 as a general 
store by Ed Wri ght , an earl y settler, the chalk roc k -used in 
the build ing was quarried from the chalk hi ll s south of 
town. It is the o nly chalk roc k com mercial build ing known 
in the state. 

--------- SPALDING --------­

ST. MICHA EL'S CA THOLIC CHUR CH 
COMPLEX 
The churc h complex includes the Gothi c Reviva l bri ck 
church built in 1909- 14; the acade my, a two-and-one­
ha lf-story bri cl building constructed in 19 12; and the 
convent, a three-sto ry brick structure da ted 1926-27. The 
town of Spa lding was establi shed in 188 1 and wa s a 
mission o f O'Connor, the center o f the Ca tho lic Coloni za­
ti on Society fo r G reeley Coun ty. Designed by architec t 
James H. C raddock, the monum enta l seal eofSt. Michael's 
C hurch makes the towers visible for miles. (photo p. 68) 

HOlel OeFan, HyanniS (Ielt) 
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SI. Michael's Calhollc Church Comp lo~, Spalding (p,67) 

HALL COUNTY 


---------GRANDISLAND------- ­
I'vIRS. H.]. BARTENBACH HOUSE 
720 West Division Street 

The hOll se is a di stinct and signifi cant example of a Ne· 
braska dwell ing designed in the Moderne style of the 
1930s. a Slyle neve r widely popular in the state. The ori gi­
na l hOllse, a one· story Victorian dwelling constructed in 
1893 for H. J. Bartenbach. wa s redesigned by local archi­
tec t Gordon Shattuck in 1937-38 for Mrs. Bartenbach, 

giving the house its present appearance_ Distincti ve in · 
teria r spaces include the open stairway and landing area, 
which features a ne\ve ll post and balustrade of Moderni stic 
design utilizing chromed rods and rai lings, (photo p. 70) 

CA THEDRAL OF THE NA TlVITY OF THE 
BLESSED VIRGIN MARY 
(ST. MARY'S CATHEDRAL) 
204 South Cedar Street 
S1. Mary's Cathedral is one o f the linest Late Gothic Rev i­
val churches in thc state. constructed in 1926-28 to the 
des igns of architec ts Henry W Brinkman and J. Stanley 
Hagan of Emporia, Kansas. The inte ri or of the large sand ­
stone church features a Gothi c dctailed main altar of white 
Italian marble. (photo p. 73) 

EVANGELISCHE LUTHERISCHE 
DREINENIGKElT KIRCHE 
(TRINITY EVANGELICAL 
LUTHERAN CHURCH) 
512 East Second Street 
Plans for the Trinity Evan gelical Lutheran Church wcrc 
adopted in 1890, but co nstruction did not begin until 1894. 
Brothers William and Jacob Scheffel , members of the 
co ngregation, were the primary builders. Born in Su lzfeld, 
Ge rmany, the brothers learned the trade of Illasonry and 
stone cutting there. Th e church, the key building in the 
co mpl ex, is an exce ll cnt exampl e of the Romancsquc Re­
vival style and is one of Nebraska 's outstanding examples 
a /" small town stone church architecture. Trinity Church 
refl ects subtl e innuenccs of German church architecture, 

New Uses 
For Old Buildings 

I
t is not always possible for historic buildngs 
to remain in their original use, but often 
adapting them to new functions may save 

them from demolition. 
In Nebraska, historic commercial or residen­

tial buildings have been rehabilitated to 
become restaurants. bed and breakfast inns, 
museums, apartments, or offices. The Nye 
House in Fremont (p.35) serves as the Louis E. 
May Museum. and the Leonidas A. Brand­
hoefer Mansion in Ogallala (p. 81) is used as 
the Keith County Historical Museum. Old hotels 
in Hastings (p. 8) and North Platte (p. 99) have 
been converted to retirement housing, a house 
in Grand Island now serves as a restaurant 
(p. 691. an old opera house in David City (p. 18) 
is being used as a community theater, a resi­
dence in Brownville (p. 103) is operating as a 
bed and breakfast, and a post office building in 
Nebraska City (p. 107) is now. a bank. 

Hamillon-Donald House, Grand Island (p.691 
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prim aril y ev ident in its form , the cross shape, a fa vorite 
style among Germans. The compl ex also includes a frame 
school and parsonage. (photo p. 7 1) 

GLADE-DONALD HOUSE 
1004 West Division Street 

The Glade-Donald House is a distincti ve example of the 
Shingle style. The house is co mpletely sheathed with 
wooden shingles, and incorporates many bay and oriel 
windows, including two prominent bow windows on the 
front fa cade. The hou se was built abou t 1905 by Henry 
Glade and remodeled by Lawrence Donald in 191 8 and by 
John Donald in 1934. Russell Rohrer of Hast ings was the 
decorator in the 1934 remodeling and crea ted a very 
formali zed and ri ch interior, with ve lvets, elaborate wall­
papers. chandeli ers. and other imported goods. Al l three 
owners were prominent businessmen in Grand Island. 
Glade was the founder of the Henry Glade Milling Co m­
pan y. and brothers Lawrence and John Donald est abli shed 
the Donald Company, a lead ing dry goods and grocery 
tirm which served Nebraska and surroundin~ states for 
over fifty yea rs. The property also includes"" a ga rage! 
serva nts' residence built in 1923 , wh ich orig inally pro­
vided quarters for the but ler and hi s wife. (photo above) 

Glade·Donald House. Grand Island (below) 

GRAND ISLAND PUBLIC LIBRARY 
321 West Second Street 
In February or 1902 the library boa rd and the city council 
or Grand Island proposed a new public library. In April a 
$20.000 grant was obtained from A ndrew Ca rnegie. 
Designed by the architectural firm of Tyler and Son of 
Lin coln , Nebra ska, the library is a notab le example or the 
Nco-Classica l Reviva l style. (photo p. 72 ) 

HALL COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
First and Locust streets 
D esigned by architect Thomas Rogers Kimball , the H all 
County Courthouse is an outstanding exa mple or the 
Bea ux -A rts style, one of the few examples of the style in 
Nebra ska. The building ha s served co unty government in 
Hall County since its completion in 1904. (photo p. 23) 

HAMILTON-DONALD HOUSE 
820 West Second Street 
The house was co nstructed by Henry Fa lldorf in 1905 for 
Ell swort h D . H amilton. cashier of the Commercial Slate 
Bank of Grand Island. In 1908 Hamilton sold the propert y 
to John Dona ld . one of the two brothers who establi shed 
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Mrs. H.J. Bartcnbach House, Grand Island (p.68) 

the Donald Compa ny (see Glade-Dona ld House). The 
house is an outstanding exa mple of the Neo~C lass i ca l 
Rev iva l style and incorporates a full height porti co in its 
design. (photo p. 68) 

ANDREW M. HARGIS HOUSE 
1109 West Second Street 
Bui lt in 1898 the Andrew M. Hargi s House is a fin e exam­
ple of the Queen Anne style and al so incorporates Neo­
Classical Rev iva l detailing in its design. Hargi s founded 

the Grand Island Business and Normal College in 1885. 
The house has been owned by the Grand Island Woman 's 
Club since 1953. (photo p. 74) 

HOTEL YANCEY 

(YANCE Y MOTOR HOTEL) 

123 North Locust Street 
Na mcd for its proprietor, William L. Yancey, the hotel was 
begun in April of 19 17, financed by the Bankers Rea lty 
In vestm ent Company of Omaha , Nebraska, for the North 
Ame rican Hotel Company. The company was building a 
chain of hotels in Nebraska, Iowa, and Kansas towns, 
accessible to the railroad depots and business districts. 
This "chai n concept" permitted a standardizati on of ser­
vice', bu lk purchase of supplies, quantity discounts, and 
lower costs to the consumer. From its openi ng in 1923 , the 
Yancey was the center of social and political activ ity for 
Grand Island. An early twentieth century high-rise struc­
ture, the Yancey illustrates the Renai ssance Revival style. 
Due to the developmen t of motels, a dcc line in railroad 
trade, and the building of shopping malls away from the 
downtown business di strict, the hotel closed in Dece mber 
1982. The building has been rehabilitatcd for commercial 
and residential use. (photo p. 7 1) 

L1EDERKRANZ 
401 West First Street 
In 1870 Germ an settlers mel to orga ni ze a German singing 
society or " Liederkranz" to provide musica l and social 

Mrs H J Bal1enoach House, Grand Island, belorc 1937-38 remodeling (p, 681 
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entertainment and to culti vate the members' musica l 
talents. The bric k building, constructed in 19 11 - 12, was 
designed by architect Oscar Kirche, a Liederkra nz 
mem ber, a nd reflect s influences of the Neo-C lassical Re­
vival style. The hall has long been a commun ity meeting 
place, an a uditori um fo r civic ac tivi ties, and a polling 
place. This organization is the only known Liederkranz in 
Nebraska . (photo p. 74) 

OSCAR ROESER HOUSE 
727 West Koenig Street 
The Osc ar Roeser House was built in 1908 by Henry H. 
Falldorf followi ng the pl ans of architect Thomas Rogers 
Kimball. It is a unique example of German-A merica n 
architecture exec uted in the Neo-C lassical Revival style. 
Roeser was a prominenl Grand Island businessman and 
civ ic leader. 

WILLIAM STOLLEY HOMESTEAD AND 
SITE OF FORT INDEPENDENCE 
(STOLLEY STATE PARK) 
Stolley Park Road 
William Stolley was one of a small band of German immi­
grants who c<lln e to the central Plane Valley of Nebraska 
Territory in 1857. Stolley fil ed the first squatter's claim in 
the county. He he lped organize School District I in Ha ll 
County and served as a director for many years. He also 
helped organi ze the State Grange and promoted tree plant­
ing. In 1927 the Nebraska Legislature designated the 
farm stead as Stolley State Park. The hom estead includes 
the Wi lliam Stoll ey house, a one-and-one- half- story log 
dwelling co nstructed in 1858-59; the frame school bui ld­
ing erected in 1869-70; and a reconstructed log house. The 
property a lso incl udes the site of Fort Independence, a 
fortification erected by citizens during the Indian war of 
1864. (photo p. 72) 

---GRAND ISLAND VICINITY--­

GRAND ISLA ND FCC MONITORING STATION 

This was the fi rst monitoring sta tion constructed fo r the 
excl usive use of the Federa l Radio Commission (la ter the 
Federal Com munica tions Commission), authori zed in an 
act a pproved February 23 , 1927. The main stat ion buil d­
in g was constructed from plans and spec ifi cat ions pre­
pared by the U. S. Navy. Groundbreaking ceremonies were 
held in October 1929. 

HAMILTON COUNTY 

-----------AURORA----------­

HAMILTON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
Courthouse Square 
The Hamilton County Courthouse, completed in 1895 , is 
located in the ce nter of A urora's business distri ct. 
Desig ned by Willi am Gray, an early Nebraska courthouse 
architect, the building is an exceptionally fine example of 
the Richardsoni an Romanesque style, as applied to the 
County Capitol form . (photo p. 76) 

Hotel Yancey (The Yancey Motor Hotell. Grand Island (p.70) 

Evangehsche Lulherlsche Drelnenlgkell Klich£!. Grand Island (p. 681 
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WIlham Stolley Homestead. Grand Island (p.711 

Grand Island CarnegIe LIbrary (p.691 

KATHLEEN HEARN BUILDING 
Tenth and 0 streets 
The Kathlee n Hearn building is a large classroom /gymna­
sium built in 1929-30 as an annex to the Aurora High 
Sc hool. The property was nam ed for Aurora's foremost 
ed ucator, Kathleen G. Hearn. After co mpl eting her mas­
ter's degree from the Univers ity of Nebraska, Hearn ca me 
to Aurora in 1899 and served as principal of the Auro ra 
High School fort wenty-seven years. The Hea rn building is 
an important local example of the Renaissance Revival 
style. 

ROYAL HIGHLANDERS BUILDING 
1235 M Street 
The Royal Highlanders was a frat ernal in surance organi­
zation organi zed in 1896 in Aurora. Joseph Johnson of 
Aurora was selected to construct the three-story brick 
headquarters bu ilding. The Royal Highlanders remained 
in Aurora until the orga nization merged with the Lincoln 
Mutual Life Insurance Company in 1923. The building is 
unique in Nebraska for its romantic design modeled aft er 
the Ba lmora l Castle in Scotland. (photo p. 75) 
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----------HAMPTON---------­

I.O.O.F. OPERA HOUSE 
North Third and B streets 

Built by owners James M. and Joshua Cox, the two-story 

brick building housed retail businesses on the first level, 

with the opera house and lodge ha ll on the second Ooor. 

The stage has a wooden proscenium arch and a vintage 
curtain ,depicting a nude with nower garlands, fringes, and 
tassels. The Holden Comedy Company gave the first per­
fo rm ance in the opera house in December 1893. 

HAYES COUNTY 


-----HAMLET VICINITy----­

JOHN M. DANIEL HO USE 
The two-story limestone house, constructed 1876-8 1, is a 
remna nt of the village of Estelle, estab lished by John 
Da nie l in 188 1. The house was the first post offi ce and 
general sto re for the small community. John Daniel a nd his 

wife Mary came to Hayes County in 1874 from India na. 
Da niel hoped that Este lle woul d be the county seat. but 
when Hayes Cou nty was o rgani zed, Estelle lost the elec­
tion fo r county seat to Hayes Center. Eventually the rail ­
road bypassed Estelle. and the post offi ce was discon­
tinued in 189 1. The property al so contains remn ants of a 
rock corral fence. which Daniel constructed. 

JOHN M. DANIEL SCHOOL, DISTRICT 3 
(ESTELLE SCHOOL) 

The one-story limestone school build ing, located just north 
of the John M. Daniel House, was constructed about 1884 ­
86. The orig inal structure had a nat roof; in 191 9 a gabl ed 
roof was added. Built by John Daniel, the school ope rated 
for approx im ately sixty-seven yea rs. The school and house 
are all that remain of the vill age of Estelle. 

---HAYES CENTER VICINITY---­

ST. JOHN'S EVA NGELICAL LUTHERAN 
GERMAN CHURCH AND CEMETERY 
The Germ an-Lutheran congrega tion was establi shed in 
1886, and the present fram e church building was con-

Calhedral 0' tne Nallvlly 0' the Blessed IIlrgln Mary (SL Mary"sl. Grand Island (p.68) 
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structcd in 1925 -26. The life styles or Germ"n immigrant 
fa nners in the community were reflected in the building of 
a simple yet fun ctiona l hOllse of worshi p, whi ch also 
se rved as a center fo r socia l act ivities. The property a lso 
includes the cemetery, established in 1888. Church ser­
vices werc discontinued in 1973. Thc bu ilding is still used 
for various religious fu nctions. 

IDTCHCOCK COUNTY 


- --CULBERTSON VICINITY--­

ST. PAUL METHODIST 
PROTESTA NT CHURCH 
State Highway 17 
The Method ist Protesta nt congregation was organized in 
June 1892. The congregat ion lIsed a sod building unti l 
1900. whe n the present stone structure was comple ted and 
ded icated dur ing the pastoral tcrm of the Reverend J. E. 
Darby. In 1904 the SI. Paul Method ist Protestant Church 
merged with the United Brethren in Chri st, and in Febru­
ary 1907, the group was organi zed as a United Brethren 
co ngregation. Regular church services were discontinued 
in 195 1. In 1975 the Stone Church Community Associa­
tion was fo rmed to restore and preserve the bu ilding as a 
memorial to area pioneers. 

----TRENTON VICINITY--- ­

MASSACRE CANYON BATTLEFIELD AND 
WOODLA ND SITE 
This narrow ca nyon feeding into the RepUblica n Ri ver 
va ll ey was the location of the fin al inter· tribal battl e in 
Neb raska and includes as wel l the remain s or an importa nt 

prehistoric archeolog ica l site. 
On the annual summer bi son hum to the RepUblican 

va llcy in ea rly August 1873 , the Pawnee established a 
camp ncar present-day Trenton. On August S, the Pawnee 
broke ca mp, trave led down river several miles, and then 
turned north up Massacre Canyon. During a bison hunt the 
Pawnee werc attacked by over 1,000 Brule and Og lala 
Sioux wa rriors. Between 70 and 100 Pawnee wcre killed 
or wounded compared to only six Sioux casualties. The 
Massacre Canyon incident was the final communal bison 
hunt for the Pawnee, and within three years the entire tribe 
moved to a permanent reservation in Oklahoma. 

The archeological site is a notable exa mpl e of the 
Wood land Tradition, whi ch fl ourished along the Republi­
ca n and its tribu taries from approximately A. D. 500- 1 000. 
The site appears to be the remains of a small village 
contain ing hearths, storage or refuse pits, and a burial area. 

HOLT COUNTY 


- -----O'NEILL-----­

MOSES KINKAID BUILDING 
Fourth and Douglas streets 

The brick and sandstone building was co nstructed in 
1882-83. The grou nd fl oor provided fac ilities for banking, 
and the seco nd fl oor was used fOr law offices by Moses 
Kinkaid, who moved to O'Neill in 188 1. Kinkaid served as 
a di stri ct judgc and was elected to the U.S. House of 
Representativcs in 1902. In 1904 he introduced the Kin­
ka id Act, which provided fo r 640-acre homestead claims 
in western Ncbra ska. The passage of the Kink aid Act 
promoted immigration into the Sa ndhills region. These 
sett lers were referred to as " Kinkaiders." (photo pp. 76-77) 

Llcdcrkranz. Grand Island (p.70) Andrew M. HargiS House. Grand Island (p.70) 
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----O'NEILL VICINITy---­
EAGLE CREEK SITE 
The mortuary and religious custom s of the Late Woodland 
period (A.D. 600- 1 000) in eastern Nebraska are known to 
a great exten t through archeologica l work perFormed at 
the Eagle Creek Site in the late 1930sThese prehi storic 
Nebraskans buried their dead and built mounds over the 
bodies. Gra ve offerings incl uded pottery vessels, slOne 
tools, and shell or bone orna ments. 

----REDBIRD VICINITy---­
REDBIRD SITE I 
During the period A.D. 1600- 1700 an ea rthl odge vill age 
was established along the lower Niobrara River. The 
co mmunity is rich in cultural remains including at least 
five c irc ular earth lodges, over 100 storage pi ts, and a 
diverse array of art ifac ts. Based on its loca tion , many have 
assu med Redbird is ancestral Ponca, although simil ariti es 
between Redbird and the late prehi storic Pawnee and 
Arik ara are strik ing. 

Royal Highlanders BUilding. Aurora (p.72) 

HOOKER COUNTY 


----MULLEN VICINITy---­

HUMPHREY SITE 
Brie fl y, from abo ut A.D. 1675 - 1725, portions orthe Sand­
hill s were settled by Apache re la ted to groups in western 
Kansas and northern New M ex ico. These people. known 
as the Dismal Ri ver Culture, est ablished vill ages slich as 
the H tim piney Site a long major stream s clra ini ng the Sand­
hill s. The Humphrey Site isone oi'on ly two in the Sandhill s 
providing fi rm ev idence or aborigin al corn culti vation. 

KELSO SITE 
Kelso is loca ted on a sand dune overl oo king the Midd le 
Loup Ri ve r. It is im port ant as i.l ra re example or a li ttle 
known Wood land cullu re orthe Sand hill s. Panhand le. and 
eastern Co lorado dating A. D. 500- 1 100. 
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Hamilton County Courthouse, Aurora (p.71 ) 

HOWARD COUNTY 


---COTESFIELD VICINITY--­

COUFAL RIDGE SITE (NHL) 
Sometime between A. D. 1250 and A.D. 1450 prehistoric 
Indians of the Itskari Phase establi shed thi s vill age on a 
prominent terrace above Davis Creek. Archeologica l 
excavations uncovered the ruins of over t\ve nty ea rth · 
lodges- the grea test number recorded for any Itska"; 
Phase se ttlement. Coufa l, together wi th six other exca· 
va ted vill ages in the Davis Cr'Cek va ll ey, provides signifi · 
can l data wi th which to study latc prehistoric ada ptation 
wi"th in a restricted geographical local ity. Itskari is consi· 
dered to bridge a gap between late prehistoric villagers and 
the origins of the Pa wnee. 

----PALMER VICINITY---­

PALMER SITE (NHL) 
The Pa lmer Site is the locat ion of a Skidi Pawnee vill age 
occ upied from 1804 to 1844. The village was visited by 
nUl11 erous persona li ties in'cluding Major George C. Sib ley 
( 18 1 I). Stephen Long ( 18 19), Reverend Jedediah Morse 
( 1820), Pa ul Wilhelm , Duke ofWurttemberg ( 1823), John 
Dunbar ( 1839), and others. Eanh lodge counts by these 
individuals range rrom sixty· fou r to 145. A po rt ion of the 
site has not been culti vated, rendering it the best preserved 
Pa wnee cOllll11uni ty in the state. 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 


------DILLER-----­

COLMAN HO USE 
501 Lavelle Street 
The Col man House is a distinct and sophi sti cated turn or 
the century resi dence, designed by German-A lllcrican 

architect W. F. Gernandt. The house was built in 1908-9 
by Andrew H. Colm an fo r hi s wife Lilli e. The interior 
contains an exceptionally fine collection of painted and 
stenciled wa lls and ceilings executed in 19 12 by Charles 
Hansen and James Wi ller, of the loca l fi rm "Hansen and 
Willer, Painters and Decorators." These Danish il11 mi · 
grant art ists work ed in Jeffersonand surrounding counties. 
The linn also decorated the interior of the Anna C. Di ller 
Opera House. 

ANNA C. DILLER OPERA HOUSE 
Hilton and Commercial streets 
The opera house wa s bui lt in 19 12- 13 by Anna C. Diller, 
daughtcr· in · law of Samuel Diller, ror whom the town was 
named. The three·story brick bui lding was designed in the 
Second Renai ssa nce Reviva l sly Ie. The second level opera 
house has a raked noor, balcony, and orchestra pit. The 
wa ll s and ceil ing display stencil work and free- hand paint ­
ing by Danish immigrant anists Charles Hansen and 
James Willer. 

PEOPLE'S STATE BA NK 
Main Street 
The two-story brick bu ilding was constructed in 1892-93 
as the People's State Bank . It beca me known as the First 
Na tio nal Bank in 1904 and fin all y as the Citi zens' State 
Bank in 19 14. The structure is a fin e example of Renais­
sance Rev iva l architec ture. It is presentl y owned by the 
Diller Historical Soc iety. which uses it as a museum. 
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-----FAIRBURY----­

FAIRBURY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
601 Seventh Street 

In 1907 the Fairbury community received a grant of 
$ 12.500 from Andrew Carnegie. Ground was broken on 
October 5, 1908, and the library ope ned to the public 
December 10, 1909. The building is a fi ne exa mple of the 
Nco-Classical Reviva l style, designed by the Lincoln 
architeclural firm of Tyler and Son. 

I.O.O.F. TEMPLE BUILDING 
523 E Street 

Buill in 1894-95, thc two-story brick Romanesque Revi­
va l comm ercial building was jointly constructed by Sarah 
Moullon, wife of a county judge, and Ihe Independent 
Order of Odd Fell ows, Lodge 54. Mrs. Moulton buill Ihe 
basement and first noar of the building, which houses 
coml1lercial businesses, and the lodge constructed the 
second story, wh ich served as the Odd Fellows Hall for 
almost seventy years. (photo p. 78) 

JEFFERSON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
Fifth and E streets 

One of the state's fi nest counhouses, the limestone struc­
ture was designed in the Richardsonian Romanesquc style 
and fea tures a prominent centra l clock Lower. Fairbury 
becam e the county scat in 187 1, and the town wa s incor-

Moses Kinkaid BUilding. O'Neill, 19141p. 74) 
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JoHorson County Courthouse. Fairbury (p.77) 

.,==1... 

10.0 F. BUilding. Fairbury (p.77) 

porated the following year. In 1890 plans submitted by 
Topeka, Kansas arch itect J. C. Holland were adopted, and 
the courthouse was compl eted in 1892. (photo above) 

----FAIRBURy VICINITy---­
WORAL C. SMITH LIME KILN AND 
LIMESTONE HOUSE 
Loca ted on the Little Blue River, the kiln was bui lt in 1874 
by Woral C. Smith, a nati ve or New York. To show the 
durability of his products. Smith erected a large limestone 
dwell ing in 1876. During the I 870s the limestone industry 
Ilouri shed in Jefrerson Co unty, and as a result , many build­
in gs were constructed with the nati ve roc k. The Smith 
Lim e Kiln is one of the few remain ing examples of thi s 
important pioneer industry. It was donated to the JelTerson 
County Histori cal Society in 1964. (photo p. 79) 

~---POWELL VICINITY---­
DISTRICT 10 SCHOOL 
District 10 was organi zed March 20, 1869 . The present 
frame school bui l d in ~ wa s constructed about 1900 and is a 
good exa mpl e of a o l~e-roolll rural schoolhouse. The prop­
erly also includes a frame coal shed and boys' and girls' 
pri vies. In 1966 the Jefrerson County Hi storical Society, 
wi th th e A lexa ndri a Comm unity C lub, acquired a lease to 
ope rate the school as a mu seum. (photo p. 79) 



----REyNOLDS VICINITy---­
NEBRASKA-KANSAS PUBLIC LAND SURVEY 
THEMATIC GROUP 
These surveyors' monuments, and wi tness stones whi ch 
loca te them, played a vital role in the survey of public lands 
in Nebraska, Kansas, Colorado, South Dakota, and 
Wyoming. A cast- iron monument , loca ted on a bluff 
above the Missouri River in Richardson County. marks the 
initial point for survey. It was set in place on May 8, 1855. 
An 1856 red sandstone monument marks the intersection 
of the sixth principa l meridian and the forty degree north 
latitude base line (the poin t where present-day Thayer and 
Jefferson counties, Nebraska, and Washington and Repub­
lic counti es, Kansas, meet). The monuments remain major 
reference points to the present day in the rectangular land 
survey system. Broken off and reburied several times, the 
Slone monument was 111051 reccilily unearthed in 1986 by 
surveyors from fi ve sta tes who were sponsored by the 
Profess ional Surveyors Association of Nebraska . In June 
of 1987 a new historical monument was dedicated at the 
site. 

-----STEELE CITy----­
STEELE CITY fIISTORIC DISTRICT 
An irregular pal/ern between Caroline. CurtiS. Second, and 
Iowa streets 
Steele City was platted in 1873 and was named for D. M. 
Stee le, president of the 5t. Joseph and Western Rai lway. 
This railroad crossed the town and stimulated it s grow th. 
The hi storic district comprises religious, residential, and 
commercial structures dilling froll11 he late nineteenth and 
ea rly twentieth centuries. The bu ildings incorporate ele­
ments from va rious architectural styles. including Italian­
ate and Romanesq ue Revi val, and use wood, brick, and 
stone as build ing materials. Notable buildings in the dis­
tri ct inc lude the Baptist Church, a limestone building 
erec ted in 1882; the Zoellin House, an elaborate two- story 
frame dwelling, bui lt around 1890; and the 1900 sand­
stone blacksmith shop, owned by the Jefferson County 
Historica l Society and used as a museum. (photo p. 80) 

JOHNSON COUNTY 


----------TECUMSEH---------­
TECUMSEH HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Second. Seventh, Clay, and 
Washington streets 
Overloo king the north for k of the Big Nemaha River in 
southeast Nebraska 's Drift Hill s region, Tecum seh has 
been the county seat of John son Cou nty since the county's 
or!wni zation in 1856-57. The Tec um seh Histori c Distri ct 
is; fine example of a late ninelCenth century county seat 
town in Nebraska. A wide range of important bui lding 
types and bu ilding material s ex ist in the approximately 
fift y square bloc ks of the di strict. The 1888-89 courthouse. 
a two-story brick and slOne building designed by Lincoln 
architect Willia", Gray in the County Capi tol form. is the 
pivotal structure. Also included is the Tecumseh Opera 
House, a two-story brick bu ilding co nstructed in 1880 by 
W. R. Spicknell and W. H. Hassett. (photos pp. 8 1, 82) 

KEARNEY COUNTY 


-------AXTELL VICINITy---­
SALEM SWEDISH METHODIST EPISCOPAL 
CHURCH COMPLEX 
The Sa lem Swedish Method ist Episcopal Church complex. 
consisting ora church. parsonage. and school. wasbu ilt to 
meet the rel ie.ious and educational needs or Swedish 
immigrantsin thi s area during the late nineteenth and early 
twentieth ce nturies. The present church building. a Car­
penter Gothic structure. was dedicat ed on July 31. 1898. 
Since 1972 the church compl ex ha s served as the campus 
of John Fletcher Christian College and Academy. 

D,stnct 10 School. Powell'ilCIOI!)' (p 18) 

Woral C Smith limestone House. Faubu'y VICinity (p 18) 
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----KEARNEy VICINITy - --­

DOBYTOWN 
Kea rney Ci ty or Dobytown was a small commun ity which 
sprang lip two miles fro m Ft. Kearny in 1859. Although 
labeled by an Omaha newspaper "a collection of huts and 
hovels·· wi th more saloons than famili es, DobylOwn pro­
vi ded important services to both the military and tra velers 
alo ng the Overla nd Trail. Bl acksmi th shops and other 
businesses were important to freighters and emigrants 
trave li no along the Pl atte va ll ey. Less respectable services 
offered 'by Dobytown included saloons, ga mbling hall s, 
and houses of prostituti on. The compl etion of the Union 
Pac ifi e Rai lroad nOrlh of the Pl alte Ri ver in 1869 and the 
abandon ment of Ft. Kea rny in 187 1 led 10 the quick 
decl ine of Dobytown. 

Blncksmllh Shop, Sioeia City Historic District. Steele City (p.79) 

Blacksmith Shop, Steele City Hlstolle District, Steele City (p.79) 
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FORT KEARN Y 
FOri Kea rny was establi shed along the Overla nd Tra il by 
the United States Army in 1848 and abandoned in 187 1. 
Thi s mili tary post was one of the most im porlant in the 
West. Fort Kea rny was located where trails frol11 Mi ssou ri 
Ri ve r points such as Independence, St. Joseph , Nebraska 
City, and Omaha co nverged 10 fo rm a single major route 
westwa rd to Fort Larami e. It guarded emigran ts, the Pony 
Express, the telegraph, and rail roads in the Pl alte valley. 
FOri Kearny also served as an assembly and outfiuing 
point for numerous military expeditions during the Indian 
Wars. A portion of the original military reservation is 
operated as a state hislOrical park by the Nebraska Ga me 
and Park s Commission and includes severa l reconstructed 
buildings. (pholO p. 83 ) 

--- ---MINDEN-----­

W. T. THORNE BUILDING 
Fifth Street 
The three-story commercial building, designed in the 
Renai ssa nce Revival style, is an ex ample of a nineteenth 
century opera hOll se bloc k, a building type import ant to the 
cultural life of small towns in Nebraska. Constructed in 
189 1 by W. T. Thorne, the building was also known as 
Hostetler's Opera House, named for the Hostetler family, 
which was in volved in governmental , political, and busi­
ness affairs of early Buffalo and Kearney counties. 

KEITH COUNTY 


----BRULE VICINITy---­

BEAUVAIS RANCHE STATION SITE 
Follow ing a career with Pierre Chouteau, Jr. and CO I11 ­
pany, Geminian Pierre Beauva is established hisown trad­
ing post in 1849 on the So uth Platte River near Cali fornia 
Crossing. Beauvais traded with Indians and white travelers 
and was reported to have one of the best eq ui pped ranches 
on the Overl and Tra il. The ranch included log houses, a 
sod storehouse, and several shops. During Indi an raids 
along the Plaue in 1864-65 , Beauvais was used by the 
First Nebraska Cavalry as a base of operations for this 
portion of the westward route. A barracks was constructed 
to hOllse the troops and a fort ification erected. The ranch 
wasaba ndoned when the Union Pacific Railroad reached 
the vicinity in 1867. 

CALIFORNIA HILL 
This prominent hi ll marks one of the points where Oregon­
Ca liforn ia Trai l im migrant s crossed the South Platte Ri ver 
enrollte to Ash Hollow and the North Platte va lley. Ca li­
fornia Hill was the first major grade immigran ts were 
forced to clim b after leaving the Missouri Ri ve r. The pass­
ing of thousa nds of wagons up the hill has left deep, visible 
ruts. (pholO p. 83) 

J)JAMOND SPRINGS STATION SITE 
In 1859 the firm of Russell , Majors, and Waddell con­
structed thi s Pony Express station on a low terrace ovcr­



looking the South Platte Rive r. After the Pony Express 
ceased operation in 186 1, Diamond Springs was a stage 
and freight station under the ownership of Ben Holl aday. 
The station wa s closed in the wake of Indian attacks along 
the Platte va ll ey in 1864-65 , but reopened brie ny until the 
construction of the Union Pacific Railroad in 1867 ren­
dered stage travel obsolete. (photo p. 84) 

----------KEYSTONE---------­
KEYSTONE COMMUNITY CHURCH 
McGinley Street 
"The Littl c C hurch" was the inspirat ion of the wife of a 
wea lthy rancher, Bi ll Paxton , Jr. , and the " King 's Daugh­
ters," a tcen-age girls' club. The one-story board and 
batten structure was erected in 1908 in Keystone, a small 
unin corporated vill age. Due to the diverse fa iths of Key­
stone residents, the church was bui lt to accommoda te both 
Protestant and Catholic services. Apses protrude from 
bot h ends of the building, creating space for a Ca tho lic 
ahar at the north and a Protestant lectern at the so uth. The 
backs of the pews are hinged so that the sea ting can be 
reversed. Thi s church is the on ly known building of it s type 
in Nebra ska and one of very few such stru ctures in the 
United States. (photo p. 84) 

Johnson County Cour1house ITecumseh Historic DisuictJ. Tecumseh (p.79) 

-----------OGALLALA----------­
LEONIDAS A, BRANDHOEFER MANSION 
Tenth and Spruce streets 
Known as " The Man sion on the Hill ," the two- story brick 
residence was built in 1887 by Leonidas A. Brandhoefer. 
The house incorporates Italianate and Queen Anne ele­
ments in its design and was onc of the first western Ne­
braska homes to di splay the popu lar eastern residential 
styles. The house is used as the Keith Co unty Historica l 
Museum. 

KEYA PARA COUNTY 


--------- SPRINGVIEW --------­
KEYA PAHA COUNTY HIGH SCHOOL 
Twelfth and M streets 

The building is an exce ll ent ex ample of a co unty high 
school in Nebraska . Co unty hi gh schuols were estab li shed 
in sparsely populated areas of Nebraska to provide a hi gh 
school ed ucation for the youth of the region. As a result of 

8 1 



a J 9 J 3 mandatory co unty high school law, Keya Paha 
County establi shed a coullty high school in Springv iew, the 
count y scat. In [9 J 5 a construction cont ract was awarded 
to U.S. Weddell. a loca l bu ilder. Construct ion bega n in 
Septembe r 19 15. and the school opened on January 26 , 
1916. Local cont ractors J. E. Lee and J. H. Mock buil t an 
addi tion in 1929. The school was closcd in 1965 and noll' 
serves as the Keya Pa ha Cou nty Historica l Soc iety 
mllseum. 

KIMBALL COUNTY 


------KIMBALL----­

FRA TERNAL HALL 
Second and Chestnut streets 
In Ma rch 1904 members of the Knights of Pythias. 
Woodm en, and Royal Ne ighbors met to disc llss the possi­
bili ty or erecting a lodge hall. The corn erstone for the 
two- story framc build ing was laid August 4. 1904. and thc 
nell' Fra tern al Hall was dedicated in March 1905. The hall 
represent s a sim pl ified version of the Neo-Classical Revi­
va l style. The build ing is owned by the Plains His torical 
Society and used fo r a IllllseUIll . 
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STONE BUILDING 
126 South Chestnut Street 
The Stone Build ing is a two-story structure built in 1893­
94 of rough-cut, locally quarried limestone. It is the oldest 
cOlll mercia l building in Kimball and was bu ilt by John 
Bioos, who operated a lumber and hard ware business and 
l at~~ a oeneral merchandise store in the bu ilding. The 
second noor was a community center and dance hall until 
the Frate rn al Hall was completed in 1905. 

KNOX COUNTY 


- ----BLOOMFIELD----­
POSPESHIL THEATER 
123 Broadway Street 
Constructed by brick manufacturer John Pospeshil , the 
two-story brick bui lding has a raised entry leading into the 
first noor opera house, which has a stage and balcony. The 
interior is decorated with an elaborate pressed tin ceiling 
and fanc iful woodwork, incl uding wainscoting, pillars, 
and ra ilings. The gra nd opening was held on September 
20, 1906, and fea tured the Wall ack's Thea ter Company of 
Rock Island, Illinois. The building is used today for com­
mercia l storage. 

-----PISHELVILLE----­
RAD SLADKOVSKY (CS.P. S. CIS. 68 
Z.CB.). CIS. 8) (PISHELVILLE HALL) 
Pi shelvill e Lodge Hall Sladkovsky is one of the most no ­
tabl e lodge hall s in the state and is believed to be the first 
Czech lodge hall constructed in Nebraska. The modest 
one-a nd-one-half-story frame structure is located in the 
Pishelvill e or "Second Bottom '! Bohemian comm unity, 
firs t settl ed in 1869-70. The original bu ilding was con­
structed in 1884, and around 1920 a rea r addition was 
added. In 1897 Lodge Sladkovsky was among thirty-one 
midwestern and pla in s lodges to found the new Zapadni 
Cesko Bra trske Jednoty (Z.C.B.J .) or :Wcstern Bohemian 
Fra terna l Association headquartered in Omaha. Sladkov­
sky, which withdrew from the Cesko-Slovensky Podporujici 
Spo lek (C.S.P.S.), was a charter lodge of the Z.C. B.J. , 
incorporated in 1897 as lodge eight. (photo p. 85) 

-----------SANTEE----------­
PILGRIM CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH 
Santee Indian Reservation 
The Pilgrim Congrega tiona l Church and Manse recall the 
work of the Reverend Alfred Riggs, a Congregationa l 
mi ssionary who devoted most of his li fe to the Santee 
Norm al Training School and to the edu ca tion of lhe Santee 
Sioux Indians. The Reverend and Mrs. Ri ggs came to the 
Santee Reservati on in June 1870. The church was con­
structed in 1870-71, short ly after the Reverend Rigg's 
arriva l. and se rved as both a chapel and a trai ning school. 

CHURCH OFOUR MOST MERCIFUL SAVIO UR 
Santee Indian Reservation 
The church, built in [884, is a one-story structure with 
boa rd and ba tten siding. The building played an important 



role in the rel igio us li fe at the Santee Indi an Reservation 
and is the only surviving Episcopa l mission there. The 
Reverend Samllel D. Hinm an, a prominent early mission­
ary on the Sa ntee reservation, is credited with building thc 
first mission. 

- ---VERDEL VICINITy---­

PONCA FORT SITE 

Ponca Fort was a fort i ned Ponca Indian vill age occupied 
A.D. 1790- 1800. The site is comprised of numerous ea rth ­
lodge sites enci rclcd by a protective wall perhaps six feet 
high. In sOllle areas the fortification is still visibl e and 
archeolog ical excavations determined there was originally 
a dit ch thrcc feet dcep and ten feet widc. An carth 
embankment supporting a post palisade was discovered 
inside the di tch. The Ponca were actively involved in the 
fur tradc but thwartcd Spanish efforts to ga in a sol id foot­

24-10. HOWitzer. Fort Kearny State Historical Park. Kearney YIClnity (p.BO) 
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hold in th e Mi ssouri Ri ver trad e. European goods such as 
!!uns, hatchets. kni ves. beads. kettles. and cloth ha ve been 
~ecovered 1'1'0 111 Ponca Fort. a t es til ~lO ny to the village's 
important posit ion in the local fur trade. 

------VERDIGRE-----­

Z.CB../. OPERA HOUSE 
Fourth Avenue and Main Street 
The one ·story bri ck Czech cOJ1lmunity hall wa s CO Il ­
slruCied in 1903 by Lodge Bila Hora (While Mounlain) 5, 
with a rear addi ti on made in 19 13. Access to the opera 
house is thrOllgh doubl e doors on the front fa cade. The 
interior features a balcony and a stage with an elaborate 
prosceniulll arch. scenery curtain s. and a prompter's box . 
The buildi ng is used as a communil Y hall. (pholo p. 85) 

LANCASTER COUNTY 


-----LlNCOLN---- ­
ANTELOPE GROCERY 
2406 J Street 
Built in 1922 as a mi xed use (co l11mercial and apart1l1 ent) 
building. the two-story bri ck and stucco structure in corpo­
rat es architectural elements comlllon to Period houses. 
The Lin co ln architec tural firm or Fi ske :Ind Mcg inni s 
designed the bu ilding to be compatibl e wi th the surround ­
ing resid entia l Qeighborhood. 

JASPER NEWTON BELL HOUSE 
2212 Sheldon Street 
Located in Lin coln 's ncar northeaq suburb. the Jasper 
NeWlon Bel1 HOllse is one of the most nota ble dwellings in 
the Clinton and Ma lone neighborhoods. The onc-and­
one- half-story frallle house is a fi ne. simplified Rcnais­

sance Rev ival rendition oflh e popular "square" or "c ubic" 
Iype house. one of Nebraska's most common house lypes. 
The house probably was huill by its ow ner, Jasper NeWlon 
Bell. a carpcnler. 

WILLIAM JENNINGS BRYA N HOME 
(FAIRVIEW) (NHL) 
4900 Sumner Street 
For fifteen years. Fairview wa s Ihe home of William Jen­
nin gs Bryan. a nat iona lly known politica l leader and ora­
tor. Bryan held hl wn panics, public recept ions and po li tical 
rallics at Fai rvicw. Designed by Lin coln architect Artemus 
Roberl s. and buill in 1902· 3. lhe house is a fine example of 
the Queen Ann e style in tra nsiti on and incorporates Neo­
Classical Rev iva l element s in its design. The house is 
presenlly owned by Bryan Memorial Hospilal and serves 
as a museulll . 

CHRISTIA N RECORD BUIWING 
3705 Soutll Forty-eighth Street 
The Chri slian Record Building is localed in Ihe College 
View neighborhood of Lincoln. ncar the ca mpus of Union 
Coll ege. The two-story brick and li mestone structure, 
erecled in 1936. displays elcmenls of Ihe Art Deco sly Ie. Ii 
wa s designed and built hy local contractor, Feli x A. 
Lorenz. a graduat e of Union Col1ege. The Chri stian 
Record Assoc iat ion wa s found ed in 1899 in Battle Creek , 
Mi chigan , with support from the Seventh-Day Adventi st 
Genera l Con ference. In 1900 Ihe Associalion began pub­
li shing 711(' Christian N('('() rd the oldest continuously pub­
li shed Braille period ical in the Unit ed States. The assoc ia ­
ti on later reloca ted in Lincoln . The Chri stian Record 
Building is the only remai nin g hi storic structure assoc iated 
wi th th e orga ni zation. The ori gin al building now serves as 
offi ce s pac~ for a local bank . " " 

Keys10ne Communry Church. Keystone (p 81) 
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z ,e 8,J. Opera House, Vordigle (p 84) 

COLLEGE VIEW PUBLIC LIBRARY 
3800 Soulh Forly-eigh lh Sireel 
The bu il ding rcnects the state of the art in design and usc 
for library buildings erected in smaller cOllllllunities dur­
ing the nrst two decades of the twent ieth century. 
Designcd in a sim pl ified Nco-C lassica l Reviva l style. the 
li brary was constructed in 19 14 in the town of College 
View (now a neighborhood in southeast Lincoln) wi th 
fun ds from an Andrew Carnegie grant. 

EDDY-TAYLOR HO USE 
435 Norlh Twenty-fifth Street 

The house is a fi ne prod uct of the Queen Ann e style 
exec uted in bri ck. Constructed about 1891 by a loca l 
developer. Ambrose Eddy, the house was sold in 1902 to 
William George La ngworthy Taylor, a distingui shed 
member of the Uni versity of Nebraska faculL y. 

WILLIAM H. FERGUSON HOUSE 
700 Soulh Sixleenlh Streel 
Buill in 1909- 11 , the house is an excell ent exa mple of the 
Renaissance Reviva l style. " was designed by Cleveland 
architects Searl es. Hirsh. and Gavin. Willi am Henry Fer­
guson was a Lincoln capi tali st and entrepreneur. probably 
best known as a successful gra in merchant. The house is 
operated as a museum by the Nebraska State Historical 
Society and is ope n to the publ ic. (photo p. 95 ) 

.. 

Rad Sladkovsky )Prshelvllle Hall) Pishelvrile Ip 82) 
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FIRST STATE BANK OF BETHANY 
1551 North Cotner Boutevard 
The fo rm er ba nk, built about 19 14 in the tow n of Bethany 
(now a neighborhood in northeast Lincoln), is a one-story 
brick building with simple Neo-Classical Revival trim. It is 
the 111 0 SI substantia l commercial building remaining from 
the period before Bethany's annexation by Lincoln in 
1926. The ba nk was fo unded in 1904 wi th C. W. Fuller, a 
Beth any grain elevator ow ner, as president. The bank 
failed in 1930. The building has since served various edu­
ca tional and cOlllmercial purposes. 

GOLD AND COMPANY STORE BUILDING 
(GOLD-BRANDEIS BUILDING) 
1033 0 Street 
William Go ld, a nati ve of New York , establi shed "The 
Peopl cs' Store," a modest reta il business in 1902. The firm 
was incorporated in 19 15 with William Gold as president 
and son Nathan as vice-president and was later renamed 
" Gold and Company." The building is a landmark in 
Lincoln 's dow ntown business area. The oldest section, 
crectcd in 1924 , is six stor ies high and displ ays Gothic 
Revival detai ling. Addit io ns were made in 1929, 1947 , 
and 195 1, and ill ustrate the phenomenal growth expe­
rienced by the store. In 1964 Gold and Company merged 

with Omaha's J. L. Brandeis and Sons, and the busi ness 
was named " Brandeis, Go ld 's Di vision" until 1980 when 
the store was closed. The building has been rehabilitated 
for reta il and office space. (photo p. 99) 

HARRIS HOUSE 
1630 K Street 
The house is a fi ne example of the Neo-C lassica l Revival 
sty le. The large frame dwelling was built in 190 1- 3 for 
Sa rah F. Harri s, widow of George S. Harri s, who served as 
a land commi ssioner for the Burlington and Missouri Rail ­
road. He was responsible for inducing immigrants to pur­
chase land along the Burlington Railroad in Nebra ska. 
John F. Harris, a son, donated the land which becam e 
" Pioneers Park " in honor of hi s parents in 1928. 

HAYWARD SCHOOL 
1215 North Ninth Street 
Haywa rd School was built in 1903-4, with additions com­
pleted in 19 13 and 1925. Each building phase displays a 
distinct style of public school architecture. The onglllal 
school is at the center of the present structure and was 
designed by architect James H. Craddock, with Late 
Re naissance Revival detailing. The two additions displ ay 
Neo-C lassieal and Georgian Reviva l elements and are the 
work of the Lincoln architec tural firm s of Davis and Ber­
linghor, and Fiske, Meginnis, and Schaumberg respec­
ti vely. Named for U.S. Senator Monroe L. Hayward, the 
schoo l served the German Russian community in the 
North BOlloms area of Lincoln. It operated a special 
program from November to May when the "be"t fi eld 
children" returned from working in the sugar beet helds of 
western Nebraska. 

HOTEL CAPITAL (YMCA BUILDING) 
139 North Eleventh Street 
The Hotel Ca pital opened on May 19, 1926 , and provided 
hotel acco mm odations in downtown Lincoln for more 
than fou r decades. In 1962 Bennell S. Martin purchased 
the hotel and donated it to the Lincoln YM CA. The eleven­
story brick building is an outstanding product of the Geor­
gian Reviva l style and is probably the best remaini ng 
exa mple of an ea rly twentieth century hotel build ing in 
Lincol n's cen tral business district. The upper floo rs of the 
building have been rehabilitated as rental residential units; 
lowe r levels still house the YMCA offi ces. (photo p. 100) 

THOMAS P. KENNARD HOUSE 

(NEBRASKA STATEHOOD MEMORIAL) 

1627 H Street 
The Italianate brick house was built in 1869 as the resi­
dence of Sec retary of State Thomas P. Kennard, one of 
three commissioners who selected Lincoln as the state 
capit al. In 1965 the state legislature designated the Ken­
nard House as the "Nebraska Statehood Memorial " and 
directed the Nebraska State Historical Society to restore it. 
It serves as a museum and is open to the public. (photo p. 95) 

LEWIS-SYFORD HOUSE 
700 North Sixteenth Street 

The French Second Empire dwelling was constructed 
about 1878 for the Reverend Elisha M. Lewis, a Presby-

Filsi Plymou1h Church (Mounl Emerald and Capiiol Addi tions HiStor iC DiStr ict). Lincoln (p. 89) 
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Security Mutual Life BUilding (CcntOfstone BUi lding). Uncoln Ip 93) 
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UnI1ed Slales POS1 Office and Courlhouse (Old Cily Halil. lincoln (p.94J 

Lyman Terrace (191h Cenlury Terrace Housel. Lmcoln (p 89J 
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terian mi ssionary. The house is Linco ln 's best exa mpl e 
of th is style. The ho use was late r so ld to the Syford 
famil y, who owned it from approx im ately 1904 to 1965, 
whe n it was donated to the Nebraska State Historical 
Socie ty Fo undation. (photo p. 97 ) 

LINCOLN LIBERTY LIFE INSURANCE 
BUILDING 
113 North Eleventh Street 
The building was constructed in 1907-8 as the fi ve-story 
Lillie Building and then redesig ned in 1936 forth e Lincoln 
Liberty Life Insurance Company by the architectural firm 
of Meginni s and Schaumberg. The remodeling , whi ch 
included Ihe addilion of a siXlh Ooor, Iransformed Ihe 
building into a prominenl Art Deco slyle struclure. 

METROPOLITAN APARTMENTS 
502 South Twelfth Street 
Buill in 19 16-17 during Lincoln 's first apartmenl ho use 
constructi on "boom ," the nine-story concrete and brick 
build ing was ra nk ed as the city's tallest apartment build­
ing. EreclCd for William B. Shurtle ff, Lin coln builder and 
investor, the M etropolitan offered such luxuries as an ice 
machine to supply apartment iceboxes and optional maid 
service. 



MOUNT EMERALD AND CAPITOL 
ADDITIONS HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Seventeenth, A, the alley between 
Twentieth and Twenty-first, E, and Eighth streets 
The histo ric distric t is comprised of twenty blocks o f resi­
dential and religious structures dating fro m the late nine­
teenth ancl early twenti eth centuri es. The Mount Emerald 
and C apitol Additions area of Lincoln was a middle-and 
upper-middle-class residential neig hborhood, whose resi­
dents rc llcctcd the governmental , ed ucatio nal, and CO I11 ­

mercial character of the growing city. The Capitol Addi­
tion was platted in 1870. The oldest houses in this portion 
of the dislric t date from the 1880s and include notabl e 
residences such as the R. O. Phillips House, an impressive 
Richardsonian Romanesquc dwelling, and the James 
Wampler House, a fin e product of Ita lian " te design. The 
Mount Emerald Add itio n was platted in 1904. The most 
substantial building in Ihe distri ct is the First Plymouth 
Cong regati ona l C hurch, a Lincoln landmark dedicated in 
193 1. (photos pp. 86, 9 1, 92, 94) 

MUNICIPAL LIGHTING AND 
WATERWORKS PLANT 
2901 A Street 
The A Street Power and Water Statio n, a Oat - roofed struc­
ture of red bri ck with stone and brick trim , is an industrial 
building designed in the Nco-Classical Reviva l style by 
Fiske and Mcginnis, a loca l partnership especia ll y ac ti ve in 
municipal a rchitecture in the I 920s. In 1904 voters author­
ized a muni cipal e lectric plant to pump water and lig ht 
streets. II wa s located nea rthe well on A Stree t. In 191 3 the 
city authori zed sale of power to consumers, much en larg­
ing the kilowatt capac ity o f the A Street plant. In the spring 
of 192 1 the c ity council voted to build a new combined 
pumping station and powerhouse, with a substant ial 
increase in generating ca pacity. The current building was 
constructed in 192 1-22 a fte r the approval of bond issues 
for water system and muni cipal lighting improvements. It 
has been rehabilitated as residenti al units. (photo p. 93) 

NEBRASKA STATE CAPITOL (NHL) 
1445 K Street 
The capitol was constructed in 1922-32 and was designed 
by Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue, one of America's fo re­
most architects. The structure evolved through an elabo­
rate competition that was widely publicized in jo urn als 
and newspapers. Goodhue's design incorporated a 400­
foot tower as the major architectural feature, producing a 
modernistic skysc raper. The building is ri ch in decorative 
art and symbo li sm and demonstra tes the skill s of sc ul ptor 
Lee Lawrie and Dr. Hartley Burr Alex ander, a professor of 
philosophy a t the University of Nebraska. The capitol is 
internationally recogn ized as a building of outstandin g 
architectural distinction. (photos pp. 2,90) 

NEBRASKA TELEPHONE COMPANY 
BUILDING 
128-130 South Thirteenth Street 
The three-story commercial building was designed in the 
Renai ssan ce Revival style in 1894 by Thomas Rogers 
Kimball of the arch itec tural firm o f Walker and Kimball. 

Occupied in 1896, it wa s probably the first building 
erected as a telephone exchange in Lincoln. Constructed 
to sustain Ihe loads of Ihe telephone equipment and to 
provide a modern , fire resistant structu re, the bu ilding is an 
ea rly product of the communications industry in eastern 
Nebraska. 

NINETEENTH CENTURY TERRACE HOUSES 
OF LINCOLN 
Eleventh and H streets, 1111- 1119 H Street, 1022- 1028 K 
Street 
Three buildings, Barr Terrace, Lyman Terrace and Hei­
mer- Winnel! -White Flats. are the only remaining nine­
teenth -ce ntury terrace or row houses in Lincoln. The 
major period o r interest in the terrace hOllse as a building 
type occurred in the city in the la te 1880s and 1890s. Row 
houses were typica ll y bui lt by indi vidual s see king a maxi ­
mum number of rents per land unit. (pho los pp. 88 , 97) 

OLD MAIN 
Nebraska Wesleyan University 
Fiftieth and St. Paul streets 

The three-story Richardsoni an Romunesqlle structure was 
constructed as the mai n building for the Nebraska Wes­
leyan Uni vers ily campus in 1887-88. II was desig ned by 

VCllh BUilding. Lincoln (p_94) 
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Nebraska's Monuments East and West 

Chimney Rock 

N
ebraska's most famous landmark is 
Chimney Rock, located near Bayard 
in Morrill County (p. 100). A slender 

spire rising out of a conical base, the tip of 
the rock today is about 300 feet above the 
base of the cone, and some 470 feet above 
the North Platte River.This natural formation, 
composed of Brule Clay interspersed with 
layers of volcanic ash served as a reference 
point for fur traders, emigrants, and military 
expeditions traveling through the Platte Val­
ley in the nineteenth century, and is the most 
famous of all the landmarks of the westward 
migration. It is mentioned in fully 95 percent 
of the accounts of travel up the North Platte 
River. At least th irty-two sketches of the rock 
from the period 1837-1874 survive. 

The State Capitol 

N
early 500 miles to the east, Nebras­
ka's second famous tower rises 
above thecapital city of Lincoln. Cer­

tainly the state's most famous building, the 
State Capitol, built in the years 1922-32, is a 
modernistic skyscraper designed by archi ­
tect Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue. The 
struc ture, internationally recognized as an 
extraordinary architectural achievement, is 
the result of a widely publicized competition. 
Itsentire decorative scheme involves a uni­
fied symbolic pattern developed by Univer­
sity of Nebraska phi losophy professor Dr. 
Hartley Burr Alexander and sculptor Lee 
Lawrie working closely with Goodhue. The 
tower is crowned by Lawrie's famous 
" Sower," a symbol of hope expressed 
through a figure representing the state 's 
agricultural heritage. 

.. . 


.~. 

~ .' 
Sketch by J.G. BruN, July 1849. Courtesy Huntington Library, San Marino. CA 

Capitol tower construction, September 1928 

Layin g the capitol cornerslone, 1922 
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architects Gibbs and Parker of Kansas City. "Old Main " is 
a campus landmark , renecting the early hi story of the 
uni versity. 

OLD UNIVERSITY LIBRARY 
(ARCHITECTURE HALL) 
University 01 Nebraska- Lincoln city campus 
The Old Uni versity Library, co nstructed 1891 -95 , is the 
oldest ex isting building on the Uni versity of Nebraska's 
downtown campus. Designed by the architectural firm of 
Mendelssohn , Fisher and Lawrie of Omaha, the two-and­
one- half- story brick building incorporates Richardsonian 
Romanesquc styling in its design. The library has been 
adapted to a vari ety of educational functions. It is currentl y 
occ upied by the College of Architecture. (photo p. 98 ) 

PHI DELTA THETA FRATERNITY HOUSE 
1545 R Street 

Located in the Uni versity environs, the three-story Art 
Deco building is sheathed in Kan sas limestone. Martin I. 
Aitken designed the chapter house in 1937. A Lincoln 
native who graduated from the Uni versity of Nebraska and 
from Yal e School of Architecture, Aitken established an 
architectural prac tice in Lincoln around 1937. In later 
yea rs he was affili ated with the firm Aitken, Hazen, Hoff­
man, and Miller. 

ROCK ISLAND DEPOT 
1944 0 Street 
The depot is one of Nebraska 's fin est remaining nineteenth 
century railroad depots and an excellent exam ple of the 
Chatcau esquc style. Few exterior alte ration s ha ve 

occurred since the depot's construction in 1892-93. The 
building has been adapted for various commercial uses in 
recent years. (photo p. 98) 

ROYER- WILLIAMS HOUSE 
407 North Twen ty-sixth Street 
Constructed in the late 1880s, the Royer-Willi ams House 
is a fin e product of the Queen Anne style. The fram e 
dwelling was ori gin ally built by Henry Royer, a carpenter, 
and later used as a residence by Hattie Plum Willi ams, a 
Uni versity of Nebraska sc holar whose pioneering work in 
ethnic studies related to the German s from Russia. 

RYaNS-ALEXANDER HOUSE 
1835 Ryans Street 

The house, built in 1908, is important as the residence of 
Dr. Hartley Burr Al ex ander, philosophy professor of the 
Uni ve rsity of Nebras ka. Dr. Alexander's contributions in 
the fi elds of philosophy, architecture, and anthropology 
are nationally and internationally recogni zed, while hi s 
contributions in literature and the performing arts were 
widely acc laimed. The builder of the house, William B. 
Ryans, was a long-time vice- president of the First 
Na ti onal Bank in Linco ln and son of Irish-born Joseph L. 
Ryans, fo r whom Lincoln's Ryans Addition and Ryans 
Street were named. 

ST. CHARLES APARTMENTS 
4 7 17 Baldwin Avenue 

When SI. Charles Apartm ents were built in 192 3-24, Uni ­
versity Pl ace, Nebraska , was an in corporated town with a 
population of about 5,000. Uni versity Place was annexed 

Clark-Leonard House. Mount Emerald and Capitol Additions Historic District. Lincoln (p.89] Arthur C. Ziemer House. Lincoln (p.97] 
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by Lincoln in 1926. St. Charles was designed to accom­
modate sixteen dwelling units and was the first brick 
apartment house built in Uni versity Place and the only onc 
erected be fore annex ation. The buildin g, which incorpo­
rates Nco-C lassical Revival motifs, was constructed by 
Willi am Henry Seng, a major contractor in the Uni versity 
Pl ace area during the 1920s and 1930s. 

SCOTTISH RITE TEMPLE 
332 Centenmal Mall South 
Lin co ln 's Scotti sh Rite Temple is a reinforced concrete, 
Nco-C lassical Reviva l style building sheathed in Indi ana 
lim estone. The temple's most prominent fea ture is a colos­
sal orde r of ten Roman Dori c co lumn s on the front facade. 
By 19 16 when the temple was constructed, there were 
seventeen Masonic organizations in the city. On April 6, 
19 16, Lincoln 's Delta Lodge of Perfec tion No.4 voted to 
build a new Scottish Rite Temple. The building was 
designed by Ell ery L. Davis, Lincoln 's leading archi tect in 
the fi rst half of the twentieth century. 

SECURITY MUTUAL LIFE BUILDING 
(CENTERSTONE BUILDING) 
1206 0 Street 

The Sccurity Mutual Life Building, a ten- story skysc rapcr. 


92 



is a unique product of early twentieth century businesses 
on 0 Street, Lincoln 's ma in thoroughfare. Occupying the 
form er site o f the BUIT Block , the structure was substa n­
tially rebu ilt and transformed into the present Security 
Mutua l Life Bu ild ing in 19 16. For over four decades the 
bui lding housed o ffi ces for the Securi ty Mutual Life Insur­
ance Company. It is now known as Centerstone and houses 
commercial and rental residential space. (pho to p. 87) 

SOUTH BOTTOMS HISTORIC DIS TRICT 
An irregular pal/ern primarily bounded by A, Nin th, the alley 
between Hand J, Second, and M streets, and Salt Creek 
The South BOlloms Hi storic District, a predomin antly 
reside nti al area, with a park , school, churches, cOlllme rcial 
bu ild ings, and ag ri cultural outbuildings, is located on the 
flood plain o f Salt Cree k along the city's western edge. 
Built and occupied almost exc lusively by German s from 
Russia who e migrated to this area from the Volga Ri ve r 
reg ion, the distric t occ upies approximately seventy- four 
square bloc ks and comprises over 1,000 propert ies. The 
largest and probably the most distinct urba n ethnic ne igh­
borhood in the sta te, the South BOlloms exemplifi es the 
importance of immigrants in settling the ci ties and towns 
of the G reat Pl ain s. With the predominant Volga-Ge rm an 
culture of the neighborhood, the distric t portrays the archi ­
tectural charac ter of an Old World vill age. (photo p. 96) 

STATE ARSENAL (NEBRASKA NA TIONAL 
GUA RD ARSENAL BUILDING) 
Seventeenth and Court streets 

The State Arsenal , built in 19 13, was the fi rst perma nent 
fa cil ity provided by the Nebrask a leg isla ture fo r support o f 
the Nebraska Nat ional Gua rd . successor to the Nebraska 
Volunteer Militi a. The two-story. rec tangular, concrete 
and brie k building was used by the guard as a warehouse 
until 1963, when it was transferred to the state fair boa rd. 
Today the building serves as a mllseum . 

TEMPLE OF CONGREGA TION B'NAI 
JESH URA N 
(SOUTH STREET TEMPLE) 
Twentieth and South streets 

The So uth Street Te mple exemplifies the ear ly twentie th 
century ec lec tic architecture of temple bui ld ing types and 
incorporates Byza ntine and Moori sh design elements in its 
ornamenta tion and generalm <lssing. The large bric k struc­
ture. des igned by Lincoln a rchitects Davis and Wi lson and 
built in 1923-24, features a prominent central oc tagona l­
ly-shaped dome which ri ses above the roof line. It co n­
tinues in lise as a synagogue. 

MUniCipal llghtln9 and Waterworks Plan1. lincoln (p.B9) 

93 



A.D. Phillips House, Mount Emerald and Capitol Additions Histor ic District, Lincoln (p.69) 

TERMINAL BUILDING 
9470 Stree t 
The ten-story reinforced concrete offi ce building is 
sheathed in white-glazed terra cotta on the principal 
facades above the storefront level, while the remaining 
facadcs are fa ced wi th brick. The building was pl an ned in 
19 15 and erected in 19 16 as headquarters for the Lincoln 
Traction Company. The Lincoln Traction Company, 
fo rmed in 1897 as a reorga niza tion of the Lincoln Street 
Rail way Compa ny, was the major street rail way company 
in the city from 1909 until the end of streetcar service in 
1943. Designed by architect Paul V Hyland of Chicago, 
the Termin al Bu ilding is the city's best example of a Com­
mercial style offi ce building. 

TIFERETH ISRAEL SYNAGOGUE 
34 4 South Eigh teenth Street 
The fo rmer Tife reth Israel Synagog ue is a fine example of 
Nco-C lassicism as lIsed in small- scaled synagogue archi ­
tecture in the ea rl y twentieth century. The building is 
easily recog ni zable as a Jewish house of worship by the 
prominent Star of Davi d on the fro nt fa cade. The Tifereth 
Israel Sy nagogue was dedicated on May 25 , 19 13, and 
se rved the Orthodox Jewish congregation until the late 
1950s when a new synagogue was built. The building has 
been remodeled for apartment units. 

TOWNSEND PHOTOGRAPHY STUDIO 
226 South Eleventh Street 
Constructed in 1888, the two-story commercial building is 
a simplifi ed version of the Romanesque Revival style. It is 
im port an t fo r its associations with Alva C. Townsend, a 
na tionally-known comm ercial photographer who served 
two term s as president of the Nat ional PhOlog raphers 
Assoc iation or Ameri ca. 

WILLIA M H. TYLER HOUSE 
8080 Street 
The house was built in 189 1 for Willi am Tyler, who estab­
li shed the W. H. Tyler Stone Company in Linco ln . Tyler 
built the dwelli ng as a showpl ace to demonstrate various 

residenti al uses of stone. James Tyler, a talented architect 
and brother of Willi am, designed the brick and sandstone 
dwelling according to the fo rm al characteristics of a typi ­
cal Queen An ne dwell ing, with Richardsonian Roman­
esque motifs. 

U.S. POST OFFICE AN D COURTHOUSE 
(CITY HALL) 
920 0 Street 
The building was constructed in 1874-79 incorporating 
Gothic Reviva l and French Second Empire style elements 
in its design. Originally designed by Alfred Mullett , super­
vising architect of the United States Treasury, the building 
was redesigned by William Potter, who repl aced Mullett in 
1875. The limestone structure is one of downtown Lin ­
coln 's oldest buildings and perhaps its fi nest remaining 
example of nineteenth century architecture. Originally 
built as Lincoln's United States Post Office and Court­
house, the building later served as the City HaiL In 1978 
restoration bega n, and the building is now being used by 
civ ic gro ups. (photo p. 88) 

VEITH BUILDING 
816 P Street 
The Veith Building is one of the oldest commercial build­
ings in Lin coln and is an outstanding example of late 
nineteenth century commercial architecture, Constructed 
in 1884 as a grocery by the Veith fa mily, it features excel­
lent cast iron and pressed metal detailing. (photo p. 89) 

WHITEHALL-OLIVE WHITE RESIDENCE 
(NEBRASKA CENTER FOR CHILDREN 
AND YOUTH) 
5903 Walker Avenue 

The Neo-Classical Rev iva l style house was built fo r Mrs. 
Oli ve White, widow of C. C. White, owner of the Crete 
Mills from 1888 to 1895. Mr. White was a member of the 
Nebraska Wesleya n Uni versity's Board of Trustees fo r 
many years and an avid supporter of the in stituti on. Aft er 
her husband's death, Mrs. White moved to Lincoln where 
she built the residence in 19 10 near the Wesleyan Uni ver­
sity campus. Since 1926 the house has been used by the 
State of Nebraska as a home for children. (photo p. 92) 

WOODS BROTHERS BUILDING 
132 South Thirteenth Street 
The Woods Brothers Compa nies, which were formed in 
1889 in Lincoln by Mark, George, and Frank Woods, 
played a major role in the rea l estate deve lopment of the 
city. Many of the fi rst Lincoln neighborhoods, including 
Lincoln shi re, were pl atted, developed, and sold by the 
Woods Brothers Companies. Designed in 19 14 by the 
Woods Brothers Construction Company and completed in 
19 16, the building incorporates Neo-C lassical Rev ival 
clements. It was the home offi ce of the Woods Brothers 
Companies until 1939. Sin ce then, the building has been 
used for commercial purposes and presemly houses a res­
tallI'a nt and of/ke space, 
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WYUKA CEMETERY 
3600 0 Street 

The cemetery is important to the hi story of landscape 
des ign as one of the lew, and th e oldest, exa mpl es of a 
"rural" or "park" design cemetery in Nebraska . It wa s 
established in 1869 by the Nebraska leg islature as a state 
cemetery for the infant city of Lincoln. (photo p. 95) 

YOUNG WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION 
BUILDING (YWCA BUILDING) 
1432 N Street 

The Young Women'sC hri stian Association of Lincoln was 
orga ni zed in 1886, incorporated under Nebraska law in 
1893, and chartered as a member of the YWCA Nati onal 
Board i.n 1897. The Georgian Reviva l building was COIll ­

pleted III 1932 on the site of the original fa ci lity. The 
three-story, H-shaped building is brick with limestone trim 
and was designed by the Lincoln architec tural firm of 
Mcginni s and Schaumberg. 

ARTHUR C. ZIEMER HOUSE 
2030 Euclid Avenue 
The house, built in 1909- 10 for Arthur C. Ziemer, is an 
excell ent example of the Shingle sty le. The dwelli ng's 
romantic ex ternal appearance provides a striking contrast 
with the usc of almost tota lly classical motifs fo r the 
interior. Mr. Ziemer was an early resident of Lincoln , 
working brieny as an interior designer and later becoming 
a pract itioner of Christian Sc ience. (photo p. 9 1) 

- ---LINCOLN VICINITy---­

NINE-MILE PRAIRIE 

Nine-M il e Prairie. consisting of228 acres of nat ive prairie, 
is located northwest of Lincol n. The prairi e was so named 
in the 1930s because of its location exactly nine miles from 
the Lincoln City Square. The property is the largest intact 
virgin prclirie in eastern Nebraska . It was a principal site 

for th e pioneering studi es of plant ecology by Dr. John E. 
Weaver of the Uni versity of Nebraska. Weaver, the 
·'follndi.ng fath~~ o.f modern plant ecology:' bega n hi s 
study 01 the prairi e III 19 17. In the 1920s the prairie was a 
site for Uni versity of Nebraska student research projects 
under Dr. Wea ver's direction. The prairi e continues as a 
resea rch and educational site for students and nature study 
and conservati on groups. 

SCHRADER SITE 

Situated on a terrace of Salt Creek, the Schrader Site is a 
late prehistoric community. Pottery vessels and other arti ­
fac ts retrieved from three earth lodge ruins attribute the 
site 10 the Smoky Hill Phase (A.D.950- 1350), a cul tural 
manifestation in eastern Kansas and southeast Nebraska. 

STEVENS CREEK STOCK FARMIMARDALE 
FARMS (RETZLAFF FARMSTEAD) 
Located in the pic turesque Stevens C ree k va lley, the fa rm­
stead includes. nineteen separate structures arranged in a 
courtyard fashIOn. The original homestead was acqui red in 
1858 by Charles Retzlaff, a nati ve of Germ any, and 
ex panded in 186 1 and 1873. The farm operation ha s 
grown and prospered through fo ur generations of the Retz­
laff famil y. Major bu ildings of the farmstead incl ude the 
Charl es Retzlaff house, a one-and -o ne-hal f- slOry lime­
stone structure built in 1867; and the horse barn, an 
impressive structure dat ing from 190 I. 

- ---WAVERLy VICINITY - --­

PETER PETERSON FARMSTEAD 

The farm stead, loca ted on Salt Cree k upl ands in north­
eastern Lancaster County, is a well -preserved and unique 
exa mple of rural archi tecture in Nebraska. The late nine­
teenth century farmholl se is a di stinctive exa mple of the 
Queen Anne style and features a prom inen t tower. The 
large barn features two prominent octagonal cupolas. 

Lewls·Syford House. lincoln jp as) 
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Nallves of Sweden, Peter and Christina Peterson were 
active in the ag ricultural advancement of the local Swed­
ish communit y. (pholO p. 10 I) 

LINCOLN COUNTY 


Old UniverSity lJbrary (Archlleclure Halll UnrverSlty of Nebraska-lincoln (p.911 

---------NORTHPLATTE-------­
FOX THEATER 
301 East Fifth Street 
The Fox Theater is a fin e example of the "Picture Palace," 
a building type popular in America in the I 920s. A product 
of Eclec ticism. the theater incorporates decora tive fea ­
tures from variolls architectura l styles, including Egypt ian, 
Georgian, Moorish, and Roman. Keith Neville and Alex 
Beck of the North Plalle Realty Co mpany financed and 
erected the theater in 1929. Neville, governor of Nebraska 
19 17 - 19, also finan ced construction of the Hotel Yancey 
loca ted ac ross the street from the Fox Theater. Both bu ild­
ings were designed by Omaha architec t Frederick A. Hen­
ninger. The Fox Theater opened on November24, f929. It 
is named for Wi lliam Fox, a pioneer in the movie industry 

Rock Island Depot. Lincoln (p 91) 
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Gold and Company SIOI'e BUilding (Gold-Srandels Bulldrng). llflcoln Ip 86 ) 

of America. The buildi ng is owned by the North Plane 
Commun ity Playhouse and is used for social and cul ­
tura l events. 

HOTEL YANCEY (HOTEL PAWNEE) 
221 East Fifth Street 

The ho te l is na med for Wi ll iam L. Yancey, who beca me its 
proprietor after signing a lease with Keith Neville and Alex 
Bec k in 1928 . Construction bega n in March 1929, and the 
hotel opened in October. Yancey, who had been engaged 
in the ho tel business since he was a teen-ager, also had 
interests in Grand Island 's Yancey Hotel (see sepa rate 
summ ary). The six-sto ry steel and brick bui lding, late r 
known as the Hotel Pawnee, was designed in the Georgian 
Reviva l style. The interior is remarkably intac t and features 
a lobby and mezza nine of ec lec tic design. (photo p. 103 ) 

-----NORTH PLATTE VICINITY --­
SCOUT'S REST RANCH 

"Scout's Rest" was the home of William F. " Buffalo Bill " 
Cody. the prem ier showman whose Wild West shows 
embodied the legend of the American West. Ranch bu ild ­
ings include th; 1886 French Second Empire house, a 
one- and -one-half-sto ry frame dwell ing which fea tures a 
prominent tower; the late 1880s barn ; a cob house; ice 
house; a nd a wine cell a r. Sixty- fi ve acres of the orig ina l 
four-thousand-acre ranch have been preserved as Buffa lo 
Bill Ranch State Historical Park by the Nebraska Ga me 
and Pa rks Commission. (photo p. 102) 

---SUTHERLAND VICINITY--­
O'FALLON'S BLUFF 

O'Fallon's Bluff is a section of hill s located along the South 
Plane Rive r. Beca use the bluffs come very close to the 
river, early travelers were forced to traverse the bluffs 
above the bonom land. Some of the most clearly de fin ed 
and well preserved re mnants of the Oregon-California 
Trail remain here as evidence of the great westward migra­
ti on of the mid-nineteenth century. 

------WALLACE-----­
JOHNSTON MEMORIAL B UILDING 
Commercial Avenue 
The ha ll was built in 192 1 as a memorial to John R. 
Johnston, a resident of Pennsylvania who was prominent in 
the g lass industry. Johnston ca me to this Lincoln County 
com munity annually for twenty-four years to hunt and 
fi sh. His fa mily and friends built the hall as a memori al 
a fte r Johnston died of tuberc ulosis in 1920 at the age of 
fifty- three. The hall was designed by F. W. Fitzpatrick, a 
nationally known architec t. (photo p. 10 I) 

MADISON COUNTY 


------NORFOLK-----­
U.S. POST OFFICE AND COURTHOUSE 
125 SOUlll Fourth Street 

In 1902 Congress appropri ated $ 1 00,000 for the construc­

tion of a U.S. Post Office and Courthouse in Norfo lk. 
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Completed in 1904, the th ree-story stone and bric k bu ild­
ing is a fine example of the Second Renaissance Reviva l 
style, designed under pl ans att ribu ted to James Knox Tay­
lor, supervising architect of the U.S. Treasury. A 1930s 
addition g reatly ex pa nded the size of the building and wa s 
designed to replicate the origin al structure. Known today 
as the " McMi ll building," the fo rm er post o ffi ce deri ves its 
prese nt name from the date of its construction in Roman 
numera ls, MCMlll. The priva tely owned building houses 
co mmercial and offi ce space. (photo p. 103) 

MERRICK COUNTY 


-----CENTRAL CITY----­

MARTHA ELLEN AUDITORIUM 
(STATE THEATER) 
706 C Street 
The one-story brick building was constructed in 19 16 by 
Colonel William Shelton and named fo r hi s da ughter. It 
was the scene of musical concert s, operas, va udeville per­
formance s, and classics lik e "The Shepherd of the Hil ls." 
The balcony retains the original stairs, railings, and opera 
cha irs. The building served as a mov ie house in later yea rs 
and was known as the State Theater. 

HEBER HORD HOUSE 
1505 Sixteenth Street 
The original two-story fram e house was bui lt in 1906 and 
designed by Omaha architects Fisher and Lawrie. A 1923 
remodeling by Omaha architect F. A. Henninger gave the 
house its present appea rance. Heber Ha rd 's father, T. B. 
Ha rd, established Central City as the base of his vast 
business operations, which included livestock feedi ng and 
ranching, lumber yards, farm supply houses, and grai n 
elevators. Acquiring experience in business matters from 
his fa ther, Heber Ha rd establi shed the Alkali Products 
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Hotel Capotal (YMCA BUlldmg). Lincoln (p 86) 

Company and managed (he fa l1lil y opera tions aftcr the 
dea lh of T. B. Ha rd. Heber Ha rd li ved in the house from 
1906 unlil hi s dealh in 1949. 

WRIGHT MORRIS BOYHOOD HOME 
304 0 Street 
The Wrighl Morris Boyhood Home symboli zes Ihe nOled 
aUlhor's Nebraska childhood as reneCied in his wriling and 
pholOgraph s. Cenlral Cily, originally named Lone Tree 
(the name Morris used in his fict ion), appears in several of 
his 111 0st important works. Built in 1893 (he dwell ing was 
Ihe aUlho(s home from 19101019 19. The house is owned 
by the Lone Tree Literary Society and is now a museum. 

PATTERSON LAW OFFICE 
1517 Eighteenth Street 
The one-story. fa lse- rront cO llllllercial bu ilding was co n­
SlrUClcd abO UI 1872 and incorporales Greek Revival 
details in its design. It is one or (he oldest rrame eomlller­
cia l bu ildin gs in.... Ncbraska. John Patterson. a nat ive or 
Ireland, es,,;-b lished a law praclice in Merrick Cou nly and 
became a well -known Iriall awyer and public speaker. The 
huildin g is now ow ned by Ih e Lone Tree Lilerary Soeiely. 

----------CHAPMAN---------­

CAHOW BARBER SHOP 
Main Street 

The Cahow Barber Shop is impOrl anl for irs assoeial ion 
with Central Ci ty's noted allthor, Wright Morris. It appears 
both in hi s writing and in hi s photograph s. According to 

Hotel Cap lal (YMCA Buoldlng). Lmcoln. 1926 (p 86) 

form er owner Eddie Cahow. the shop is where Wright 
Morris's falher. Will. mel hi s fUlure wife. Conslruclechn 
1889, Ihe barber shop is a good loca l example of a frame, 
fa lse-fron l comm ercial bu ilding. The building is ow ned by 
Ihe Lone Tree Lilerary Sociely. 

MORRILL COUNTY 


--------BAyARD VICINITy-------­

CHIMNEY ROCK NATIONAL HISTORIC SITE 

Chimney Rock wa s the Illost ra mous landmark on the 
Oregon-Calirorn ia Trail. This natural rormat ion is a 
slender spire ri sing over 300 reet rro m a conica l base, an 
iso lat ed erosional remnant of the blurrs at the edge of the 
Plalle vall ey. II is co mposed of layers of Brule cla y of 
Oligocene age and layers of volcanic ash. The site is 
owned by Ihe Slale Hislo rical Soc icly. (pholos pp. 90. 105 ) 

------BRIDGEPORT VICINITY ----­

CAMP CLA RKE BRIDGE 

The Cusler ex pedilion's di scovery of gold in Ihe Black 
Hills in 1874 crealcd a need for supplies in Ihe gold fi elds. 
The most direct route to the mines was overland rrom the 
Union Pacific Railroad at Sid ney. A bridge was required so 
freigh t wagons and stagl!coaehes could cross the North 
Pl atte Ri ver. The bridge was designed by rreigh ter and 
archileel Henry T. Clarke and co mpleted in June of 1876. 
The massive stru cture contained sixty-one trusses and 
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spanned over 2,000 feel. Other structures were built near 
the bridge including a hotel, stores, corral s, shops, and a 
military blockhouse- referred to co ll ectively as Camp 
Clarke. Co nstruction ofa rail line in South Dakota and the 
decline of the Bl ac k Hills gold boom reduced tra vel over 
the Sidney- Black Hill s Trail by the mid-1 880s. Today, no 
structures remain at Camp Clarke. 

COURTHOUSE AND JAIL ROCKS 
This complex includes Court house and Jail roc ks, two 
prominent erosional remnant buttes; a portion of the Over­
land Trail dating 1856-69; an ea rly historic Pl ains Apache 
archeolog ical site; and remains of the Courthouse Pony 
Express Sta tion. From as earl y as 18 12 through the west­
ward migra tions of the mid-ninetee nth ce ntury, travelers 
recogni zed the rocks as major landmark s. 

----DALTON VICINITy---­

MUD SPRINGS STATION SITE 
From 1859 through the late nineteenth century, Mud 
Springs Station served travelers on the Julesburg "clltoff' 
connecting Lodgepole Creek to the main Oregon Trail. 
Mud Springs was constructed in 1859 as a Pony Ex press 
home station, to prov ide mea ls, lodging, and fresh horses. 
After the Pony Ex press ceased, the station operated as a 
stagecoach and telegraph station . In February of 1865 
employees of Mud Springs were attac ked by Siou x and 
Cheyenne wa rriors until troops from Ft. Laramie and Ft. 
Mitchell arri ved. (photo p. 104) 

NANCE COUNTY 


---FULLERTON VICINITY --­
CUNNINGHAM SITE 
The Cunningham Site may represent one of the more 
unusual element s of Pawnee culture. In 19 14 a Skidi Paw­

nee named White Eagle identified the site as the location 
of the 1830 Skidi "A ncient Vill age" and also as the spot 
where the fina l human sacrifice in the Morning Star 
Ceremony occurred. Archeological investigati ons uncov­
ered a patch offired earth and two post holes- possibly the 
remains of a Morning Star scaffold . Additional exc ava­
ti ons exposed several earthl odge floors, dating at least four 
centuries prior to the emergence of the hi storic Pawn ee. 

FULLERTON SITE 

Constructed by the Skidi band of the Pawnee in 1842, the 
Fu llerton earthl odge vill age was also home to other bands 
until it was burned by the Sioux in 1846. Wi lli am Clayton 
described the abandoned vill age in 1847, noting that all 
but one of the approximately 200 lodge sites were in ruin s. 
He also desc ribed a forti~cation ditch and embankment 
constructed by the Pa wnee to disco urage Sioux raiding 
panics, an undertaking which was evidently unsuccessful. 

HORSE CREEK SITE 

The Horse Creek Pawnee village was origin:.llly con­
structed by the Grand and Republi can bands in 1809, who 
then occ upied it until abo ut 1820 when the Republica n 
left. Shortly aft erwards the Grand moved elsewhere, prob­
abl y 10 the Clark s Site. and the Republica n band reestab­
lished residence at Horse Creek with the Tappage band. 
The site was fina ll y aba ndoned in 1842. The vill age 
reached ma ximum size in the early 1820s when it was 
reported to consist or 180 earthlodges acco lllmodating 
900 families with a IOtal popUl ation of over 3.500. 

-----------GENOA----------­

U.S. INDIA N IND USTR IAL SCHOOL 
Cottonwood Street and Webster Avenue 
Founded in 1884. the U.S. Indi an Industrial School was 
located on 320 acres in the town of Genoa. Opening with 
only one bui lding, the school grew to include thirty-nine 

Peter Peterson Farmstead. Waverly vicinity (p.97) Johnston Memorial BUlldrng. Wallace (p_99) 
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structures and a maximum student popu lation of 600 
chi ldren . The two-story brick shop building was con­
structed in 1907 ( 19 1 I add ition), and housed the black­
smithing, ca rpentry, tai loring, and harness-m ak ing shops. 
The harness shop contains wa ll murals which depict horse 
teams and harness ware, prov iding visual instructions for 
the students in harness- mak ing. Other buildings which still 
remain include the 1910 horse barn, the 19 17 dairy barn, a 
cattle ba rn , the blacksmi th shop constructed about 1922, 
the mac hine shed built in the 1920s, and several cottages, 
which served as residences for school employees. The 
school was one of twenty- fi ve bonded, non-reserva tion 
boarding schools operated by the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
to provide academic and vocational training to Indi an 
chi ldren. It was one of the first non-reservat ion schools 
(a nd the only one in Nebraska) to give instruction for 
grades one through twe lve. The school closed in 1934. The 
shop bu ilding is presently owned by the city of Genoa and 
used as a museum. (photo p. 106) 

----GENOA VICI NITY---­

BURKETT SITE 

Situated on a prominent natural terrace near the Loup 
River va ll ey, the Burkett Site is comprised of numerous 
ea rth lodge ruins cove ring an area of over 100 acres. The 
site is attrib uted to th e Lower Loup Phase, protohistoric 
ancestors of the historic Pawnee. The vi ll age is believed to 
have bee n occupied by the Sk id i band of the Pawnee 

during the early seventeenth century. Fifteen lodge sites 
and five trash heaps, or middens, were excavated, yielding 
an enormous artifact collection including over 20,000 
pieces of pottery. 

GENOA SITE 

After nearly three decades of Sioux harassment and epi­
demic diseases, all four bands of the Pawnee Confedera­
tion agreed by an 1857 treaty to congregate at a single 
vill age nea rtheir agency on Beaver Creek. Genoa was the 
fin al vi ll age of the Pawnee in Nebraska and was continu­
ously occupied fro m 1847 to 1876, when the tribe was 
transferred to a reservation in Oklahoma. The site 
included the vi ll age, an earthen fortifica tion, agency build­
ings, ce meteries, and trad ing posts. (photo pp. 106- 107) 

PAWNEE MISSION AND 
BURNT VILLAGE SITE 

In the spring of 184 1, Presbyterian missionary John Dun­
bar left Bellevue with the intention of establishing a per­
manent mission in the hea rt of Pawnee country. A site was 
selected on Plum Creek and several log buildings erected. 
Encouraged by Dunbar, many members of the Grand, Tap­
page and Republican bands of the Pawnee constructed a 
vi ll age near the mission in the spring of 1842. Dunbar's 
effort to convert the Pawnee met with on ly marginal suc­
cess.The fi nal blow came in the early summer of 1843 
when a Sioux war party attacked the Pawnee vi ll age, 

, 
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burning twenty lodges and killing nearly seventy residents. 
The Pa wnee moved fo ll ow ing the a ttack, and the mission 
ceased operation several years la ter. (photo p. 106) 

WRIGHT SITE 
Sometime between A.D.1600 and 1750 the ancestors of 
the Skid i Pawnee occup ied this immense village on a 
prominent terrace overlooki ng Beaver C reek and the 
Loup Ri ver. Archeologica l research at the site included 
excavation of ten earth lodge ruins. Overfifty hum an skele­
tons were discovered on the floo r of one lodge, apparent ly 
the victims of a massacre. 

----PALMER VICINITy--- ­

COTTONWOOD CREEK SITE 
Members of the 1820 Stephen Long expedition were the 
first Americans to visit th is fort ified Pawnee village nea r 
the Loup River. Edwin James and other members of the 
Long party describe the village as containing about fifty 
lodges occupied by over 1,000 Republica n and Tappage 
Pawnee under the leadership of Fool Robe. The vill age 
was probably abandoned prior to 1845. 

NEMAHA COUNTY 


- -----AUBURN---- -­

FIRST UNITED PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
1322 Nineteenth Street 
Synodical missionary George L. Litt le organized the First 
United Presbyterian Church of Auburn in 1887 as the 
Ca lvert Presbyterian C hurch. T he present church building 
was constructed in 1906- 7 in the Late Gothi c Revival 
style. The interior exhibits the "A kron pla n," which orig i­
nated in the 1860s and is characterized by an arrangement 
in which in structional rooms are adjacent to the auditor­
iu m and separated by a fold ing parti tion tha t ca n be ope ned 
for add itional seating during services. (photo p. I 12) 

U S. Post OHlce anc! Courthouse. Norfolk Ip.99) 

NEW OPERA HO USE 
921 Central Avenue 

The New Opera House was built in 1890 at a reported cost 
o f $20,000 by the Auburn Building a nd Im provemen t 
Assoc iat ion. The opera house is located on the seco nd 
fl oor of the two-s to ry brick bu ilding and has a balcony, 
dressing rOOI11 S, and a stage with trapdoor. Later known as 
the Maclay Opera House, it offered performance s such as 
"The Wolf, " "East Lynne," and "Toyland." The buildi ng 
now houses a retail establishment on the rirst level, wi th 
the second floor used for storage. 

WILBER T. REED HO USE 
1204 N Street 
Constructed in the Ita li anate style in 1884-85 , the two­
story b ri ck house was bu ilt by Wi lber T. Reed, a nati ve of 
Ohio. Reed's grocery and general merchandise store was 
important to the early settlers or central and western Nema­
ha County. (photo p. 109) 

- - - - AUBURN VICINITY - - -­

ST. JOHN'S LUTHERAN CHURCH COMPLEX 
German settlement in Benton Prec inct of Nemaha County 
commenced in the spring of 1856 when a small group of 
German Lu therans ca me from Illi noi s a nd settl ed by the 
timber-lined Muddy C reek. A Lutheran co ngregation was 
established in 1866. The church complex is a unique 
assemblage of bu ild ings and includes the "old stone 
church," bu ilt about 1868: the 1903 Gothi c Rev ival frame 
church bu ildi ng; a two-story parsonage const ructed in 
1925; and the parish cemetery, which contains over 500 
tombstones, the ea rliest one dated 1857 . (photo p. 113) 

- ---- BROWNVILLE--- -­

BROWNVILLE HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by First, Sevenlh, Nemaha, and Richard 
streets 
Known as the "C ity o f the Seven Hill s," Brownville was 
first settled by Richard Brown in 1854 and became a major 
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steamboat landing. ri ve r crossing, overland freighting 
termin us, and milling center along the M issouri River. The 
historic district is comprised of commercial, residentia l, 
and religiolls properties, including the 1859 Congrega­
tional , later Methodist, Church; the Brown-Carso n House, 
an Italianate dwelling erected in 1860; and the Lone Tree 
Saloon, a two-slOry brick b uilding constructed abollt 
1868. (photos pp. 108. 109, I 10, I I I. I 13) 

---BROWNVILLE VICINITY--­

JOHN W. BENNETT HOUSE 

The John W. Bennett HOllse is a remnant of what was once 
a substantial farmstead operated by John W. Benn ell . It 
was later a part of Governor Robert W. Furnas's pioneer 
Brownvill e nursery during the years 1889 to 1903. The 
two-story frame house, built in 1868, is a pa rt ic ularly fi nc 
example of the I-type house and is the oldest dated such 
house in ebraska. 

CAPTAIN MERIWETHER LEWIS DREDGE 

Constructed in 1932 by the Mariella Manufacturing 
Company of West Virgini a, the sidell' heel stea m dredge 
was built for the U.S. Army Corps of Engi neers at a cost of 
$523,898. The LelVis is a thirty-four-i nch dustpan dredge, 
so named beca use of the dustpan-shaped sect ion at the 
bow, which is lowered to dredge the river bottom. The 
Lewisdid dredging work on the Missouri River for naviga­
tion and fl ood control improvements by the federal 
governm ent. The dredge is now used as a mu seum and is 
open to the publi c. (photo p. I 13) 

-------PERU-----­

THOMAS J. MAJORS FARMSTEA D 
BOO Mulberry Street 
The farm stead is assoc iated wi th Thomas Jefferson 
Majors. born in 184 1 in Jcfferson Co unty, Iowa. Majors 
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served as state senator. lieutenant governor. and U.S. con­
gressman. He was acti ve in promot ing the idea of using 
Old Mount Vernon Co llege ( 1863) in Peru as a state 
norm al schoo l. His efforts were successful in 1867 when 
the property wa s given to the state and subsequentl y 
beca me Peru State COllege. The farm stead includes the 
1890s two-story brick house, a bank barn . and several 
outbuildings. (photo p. II I) 

NUCKOLLS COUNTY 


-----LAWRENCE----­

LAWRENCE OPERA HOUSE 
Second and Calvert streets 
Co nstructed by Henry Hoeveke in 190 I, the two- story 
brick building had re tail space on the fi rst floo r, and the 
opera house was loca ted on the second level. The wooden 
Iloor and pressed tin ceiling remain in the opera house 
interior, but the stage ha s been removed. Later known as 
McCa uley's Hall , the opera house held performances like 
" Rip Van Wink le" and "Ten Nights in a Barroom." 

OTOECOUNTY 


----NEBRASKA CITY ---­

MORTON-JAMES PUBLIC LIBRARY 
Eleventh Street and First Corso 
The Morton-James Pu blic Library is a bric k and stone 
struClll re erected in 1896-97 and desig ned in a si mpl ified 
Richardsonian Romanesque style by the Omaha architec­
tural firm of Fisher and La wrie. Discussions concerning 
the establishment of a liublic library in Nebraska City 
began as ea rl y as 1885 with John W. Steinhart as the main 
promoter. Joy Monon (see J. Sterling Morton House) pro ­
vided financial assistance 10 construct the library, which 
celebrated its grand opening on April 10, 1897. 

NEBRASKA CITY HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Third, Nineleenth streets, and Fifth 
and Central avenues 
The Nebraska City Histori c Distri ct, compri sed of fifty­
eight sq uare bloc ks, is a major residential neighborhood 
which had its beg innings in the 1850s. The histori cdistrict 
conta ins exce llent exa mples of architectural styles popular 
during the mid to late nineteenth and early twentieth cen­
turies including Greek Rev iva l, Gothic Revival, halianate, 
Queen Anne, Shingle, and Georgian Revival. These houses 
were occ upied by some of Nebraska City's most promi­
nent residents including George and Robert Hawke, 
Alexa nder Majo rs, Willi am Fulton, and Robert Payne, 
who were involved in commercial and freighting ve ntures. 
The distric t also incl udes a small commercial area along 
Central Avenue (old Main Street). The earl iest business 
activ ities of the city were concentrated along Central 
Ave nue, which connected the Missouri Ri ver and what 
cam e to be known as Stea m Wagon Road. The two-story 



IsadOle Haumont Sod House, Custer County, probably 1885 

Nebraska 

Marble 


Because there was so littte 
native timber, many Nebraska 
settlers built their homes out of 

sad bricks, sometimes humorously 
referred to as "Nebraska marble." In 
the 1880s sad construction came to 
characterize this vast treeless region, 
and while hundreds of these houses 
were built in the state, few remain 
stand ing. The grandest example of 
sad construction in Nebraska was the 
Isadore Haumont house in rural Cus­
ter County. The large two-story dwell­
ing was built about 1884 and was 
purportedly designed after a castle 
located in Haumont's native Belgium. 
It was demolished in 1972. 
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masonry commercial buildings, which date fro m the 
1870s and 1880s, replaced earlier structures, many of 
which were destroyed by li res in the 1870s. (photo p. I 15) 

OTOE COUN TY COURTHOUSE 
Eleventh Sireet and First Corso 
A contract for the new county courthouse was signed in 
August 1864. A. G. Basset was the archi tect and W. R. 
Craig and F. W. Wood were hired as builders. The ori gin al 
two-story brick structure was completed in 1865 with 
additions being made abo ut 1882 and 1936. The Otoe 
County Courthouse is the oldest public building in Ne­
braska still in usc. (photo p. I 17) 

ST. BENEDICT'S CATHOLIC CHURCH 
411 Fifth Rue 
5t. Benedict's Ca tholi c Church is assoc iated wi th Fa ther 
Emma nuel Hart ig, a missionary and Benedictine priest. 
Father Hartig, a nati ve of Germany, served 5t. Benedict's 
fo r fo rty years and was responsible for the erection of six 
Ca tholic churches and the establishment of several par­
ishes in southeastern Nebraska and north western Mi s­
souri. The church, built in 186 1, is a simplified version of 
the Romanesque Reviva l style and is bel ieved to be the 
oldest brick Ca tholi c church in Nebraska. 

SOUTH NEBRASKA CITY HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Fourth, Eleventh streets, and First, 
Fourth Corso 
The South Nebraska C ity Hi storic Di strict occ upies nine 
square bloc ks and contains ninety structures primarily 
residential in nature, including several religious buildings. 
The district is a good example of a nineteenth century, 

Genoa Site vicinity. Nance County (p.l 02) 

moderate- income neighborhood displaying various archi ­
tectu ral styles. The Taylor-Wessel House, a one-story 
brick dwell ing built in 1857 for Willi am H. Taylor, is one 
of the state's oldest bui ldings. The largest building in the 
distric t is the First Baptist Church, a sim plified Raman­
esq ue Revival structure built in 1884-85 and designed by 
Omaha architects Fisher and Law rie. 

SOUTH THIRTEENTH STREET 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Twelfth, Fourteenth streets, and 
First, Sixth Corso 
The South Thirteenth Street Hi storic District is compri sed 
of nine and one- half square bloc ks of residential and indus­
trial buildings located in the south west part of Nebraska 
City. Thi s area is assoc iated wi th some of Nebraska City's 
business, professional, and pol itica l ligures, inc ludi ng John 
Mattes, Sr., who operated the Ma ttes Brewing Compa ny; 
Dr. El isha Merri tt Whitten, a physician who arri ved in 
Nebraska City in 1867; and F. W. Rodenbroe k, a success­
fu l grocer. (photo p. I 16) 

U.S. COURTHOUSE AND POST OFFICE 
202 South Eighth Street 
Completed in 1889, the Nebraska City post office building 
was designed in 1886 under the direction of W. E. Bell , 
supervising architect for the U.S. Treasury, The two-story 
brick structure combines elements of the Chateauesque 
and Romanesque Revival styles to produce an impressive 
example ofl ate nineteenth century governmental architec­
ture. The building has been rehabilitated for use as a 
banki ng fac ility. (photo p. 11 7) 

---NEBRASKA CITY VICINITY--­

ARBOR LODGE 
(J. STERLING MORTON HOUSE) (NHL) 
Centennial Avenue 
J. Sterling Morton was the founder of Arbor Day, an 
America n holiday designated for pl anting trees. The origi­
nal house, built in 1855, was remodeled several times by 
the late 1800s. In 1903 Morton's son, Joy, converted the 
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Masonic Building. Brownville Historic DiSlricl . Brownville (p.l 03) 

house to the three-story, fifty- two- room, Neo-Cla ssical 
Revival mansion of today . As a pioneer Nebraskaj ourn al· 
ist, politician , and leader in horticulture and co nservation, 
J. Sterling Morton served as secretary of agriculture under 
President Grover Cleveland in 1893. Arbor Lodge was 
donated to the state of Nebraska in 1923 and is now a state 
historical park admini stered by the Nebraska Game and 
Parks Commi ssion. (photos pp. 114, 115, 116) 

BOSCOBEL 
Steam Wagon Road 
Located along the historic Steam Wagon Road , the two­
story, brick, Italianate dwelling wa s built in 1879 for the 
prominent Nebraska City fre ighter and businessman Rollin 
M. Rolfe. Rolfe became the first wholesale "jobber" south 
of the Pl atte Ri ver and was instrumental in develo ping a 
direc t route from Nebraska C ity to Fort Kearny, which 
became known as the Nebraska C ity- Fort Kearny cutoff. 

CAMP CREEK SCHOOL 
(OTOE COUNTY DISTRICT 54) 
The stuccoed brick building, constructed in 1870-75 , is a 
good example of the one- room school in Nebraska. The 
school district was created in 1857, ten yea rs before Ne ­
braska became a state, and the building has served as a 
rural meeting hall as well as an educational facility 
throughout its long hi story. 

GEORGE F. LEE OCTAGON HOUSE 
Located ncar the Missouri Ri ver, two octagon houses were 
built by George F. Lee, a farmer and carpenter who came 
to Otoe County in the fall of 1856. A frame octagon 
dwelling was built for George and Betsy L ee; in 1872 they 
moved ac ross the road and built a bri ck octagon house. 
Today only the frame house remains. 

JASPER A. WARE HOUSE 
(WILDWOOD CENTER) 
Steinhart Park Road 
Jasper A nderson Ware was born in Kentucky in 183 1 and 
moved to Otoe County in the 1850s. He opened one of the 
first priva te banks in Nebraska Territory in 1859 and wa s 
city treasurer from 1864 to 186 7. The property includes 
the 1869 brick dwelling, an outstanding product of Gothic 
Revival architecture; a brick barn built about 1869; and 
several outbuildings. Commonly known as Wildwood 
Center, the property is now a museum. (photo p. 11 4) 

PAWNEE COUNTY 


-----PAWNEE CITy---- ­

E. F. HEMPSTEAD HOUSE 
Fourteenth and H streets 
The large frame dwelling is a good example of the Queen 
A nne style. Known as the " Hempstead Mansion," the 

It's Not Just 

Buildings 


W
hen people think 01 historic 
preservation , they oiten 
think 01 fine old buildings 

important for their architecture or the 
persons or events associated with 
them. Historic preservation also rec­
ognizes the importance of archeolog­
ical sites which can provide us with 
knowledge about prehistory. While 
buildings serve as visible evidence of 
our past, archeological resources, 
buried in the ground, can be studied 
by scholars to answer questions 
about people who lived thousands of 
years ago. 

­..-
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Excavations al Ashland Slle. Cass County. 1937 (p. 18) 
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house was built in 1887 -88 by E. F. Hempstead, who came 
to Nebraska from Illinois in 1886. Hempstead was a busi­
nessman, founder of the Pawnee Electric Light Com pany, 
and owner and president of the Nebraska State Bank. 

-----STEINAUER----­

STEINAUER OPERA HOUSE 
(BANK OF STEINAUER) 
215 Main Street 
The Steinauer Opera House occupies the upper story of the 
Bank of Stei nauer, a two-story brick bu ilding constructed 
in 1888 by tow n founder Joseph Steinauer. The small 
opera house has a pressed tin ce iling, and the wall s are 
covered with both pressed tin and wooden wainscoting. A 
vintage scenery cunain still hangs in the stage area. The 
building continues in usc as a local ba nk. (photo p. 147) 
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----------TABLEROCK--------­
TABLE ROCK OPERA HOUSE 
(OLD OPERA HOUSE MUSEUM) 
Houston Street 

Constructed in 1893 by local merchant G. R. Manin, the 
brick comm ercial building housed retail establishments on 
the first level and the opera house on the second noo r. Two 
complete operational sets oforigi nal stage scenery remain . 
The building is now owned by the Table Roc k Historical 
Society and is preserved as a museum. 

----TABLE ROCK VICINITy----- ­
TABLE ROCK SITE 

The Table Rock Site is one of only a few docum ented late 
prehistoric earth lodge villages in the Nemaha basin. Arti­
facts recovered at the site renCCI inOucnccs from Central 
Plains Tradition (A.D.900- 1450) culture. 

PLATTE COUNTY 


----------COLUMBUS---------­
BUCHER SALOON (GLUR'S TAVERN) 
2301 Eleventh Street 
The two- story fram e tavern was built about 1876 as the 
Bucher Saloon. Joseph and Willi am Bucher, brothers 
whose famil y emigrated to Co lumbus in 1868 from Switz­
erland , were the proprietors. The properly was later pur­
chased by Loui s Glur, who was hired as an assistant to the 
Buchers in 19 14. The lavern is the oldest establishment of 
its type in continuous usc in Nebraska. (photo p. I 19) 

FREDERICK L. AND 
L. FREDERICK GOTTSCHALK HOUSES 
2022 Seventeenth Street 
The log house, built in 1857. is a one- and-one- half-story 
structure constructed by Frederick L. GOllschalk . In 1911 
L. Frederick GOllschalk. son of Frederick, built a larger, 
morc commodiolls hOllse. Designed by architect Charles 
Wurdeman. the hOllse is a large two-story frame dwelling, 
monumental in character and distinguished by itsclassical 
treatment. Frederi ck L. GOllsc halk. a nati ve of Genn a ny, 
was one of thineen original members of the Columbus 
Town Company, which fo unded the town of Columbus in 
May 1856. The company played an imporlant role in the 
locati on of claims and in the protection of property ri ghts 
for earl y Colum bus selliers. L. Frederick GOllsc hal k, long­
time Pl atte County surveyor. was noted for his work in 
Columbus and for the Loup River Publi c Power District 
canal. 

C SEGELKE BUILDING 
1065 Seventeenth Avenue 
The C. Segelke Bu ildin g is a good example of the com­
mercial ltali anate style. The bri ck structure wa s built by 
Charl es Segelke in 1887 as the Columbus BOllling Works 
and served in later years as the Columbus Coca-Cola 
BOllling Company. Charl es Segelk e was born in Germ any 
in 1848 and ca me to the United States in 1870. He and his 
three brothers played an imporlant role in establi shing 
bOllling companies in eastern Nebraska. (photo p. 11 9) 

H. E. SNYDER HOUSE 
2522 Sixteenth Street 
The Snyder House is a well -preserved product of twentieth 
century Period Rev ivals. comm onl y known as " Period 

Willmm H. Hoover House. Brownville Histone OlstnCI. Brownville (p.l 03) 
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hOllses." The hOllse displays design characteristics found 
in French Country houses. incorporating irregular mass­
ing. steeply pitched monines. half limbering, and case­
ment sash windows. The two-story bri ck dwelling was 
built in 1929 by George lohan sen, fo llow ing the plans of 
Omaha arch itec t Edward 1. Sessinghaus. (photo p. I 18) 

----CRESTON VICINITY ---­
FEYE SITE 

The Feye Site has yie lded evidence of a prehi storic occu­
pation attributab le to the Late Wood land Tradition (A.D. 
500- 1000). Unlik e many sites of sim ilar age, such as the 
Wurdema n-Lawson Site, Feye did not yield evidence of 
houses. The in ventory offood re fu se differs, and Feye may 
be an example of an occupat ion represe nting a season or 
functi on different from other contemporaneous sites. 

WURDEMAN-LAWSON SITE 

The Wurdeman-Lawson Site is a prehi storic village of the 
La te Woodland Tradition (about A.D. 500- 1000) situated 
on a terra ce above Loseke Creek. The dwellings were 
like ly sma ll th atch or hide-covered structurcs. Excava­
tions retrieved animal bones, charred corn kerne ls, and 
ma teri al goods. The site is importan t for the sc ientific 
study of the origins of agriculture in northeast Nebraska. 

----MONROE VICINITY---­

HILL-R UPP SITE 

The Hill -Rupp Sit e was a late prehi storic Indian village 
occupied somet ime during the period A.D. 1600- 1750, 
probably by the Sk id i band of the Pawnee. Excavations 
have foc used on two ci rcu lar earth lodge ruins, two trash 
disposal areas. nine storage pits, and one burial. In addition 
to a rich sample of nati ve- Illade artifacts) archeologists 
recovered a small quant ity of Euro-American manufac­
tured item s. 

HANNA LARSON SITE 

Sometime between A.D. 1600 and 1750 ancestors of the 
Pawnce, probably the Skid i band, bu ilt this large vill age on 
the terraces and hills above Looki ng Glass Creek. 

POLK COUNTY 


------OSCEOLA----­

GOVERNOR JOHN HOPWOOD M ICKEY 
HOUSE 
Soutll end of State Street 
John H. Mickey, a businessman and poli tician, was an 
innuentia l and respected citizen of Osceola and president 
of the State Bank of Osceola. He was elected Nebrask'a 
governor on the Republican ticket in 1902, serving two 
term s. The house was bu ilt by Mickey about 1883-84 and 
is now the Polk County Historical Society museum. 

----OSCEOLA VICINITy---­
CLARKS SITE 

The Grand band o r the Pawnee established th is village 
some ti me after 1823 and rema ined there unti l about 
1845. There is evidence tha t other banel s li ved at Cla rks 
during the 1840s. The vi ll age was besieged and burned by 
the Delawa re Indians in 1832. However, many of the 
Pawnee may have been absent on a sUlllmer bison hunting 
expedition when the attack occurred. and the village was 
rebu ilt fo llowing their return , 

--------STROMSBURG-------­
VICTOR E. WILSON HO USE 
518 Main Street 

The dwelling was bu ilt for Swedish immigrant V ictor E. 
Wil son. who was elected to the state legislature in 1909. 
D uring the teens W il son se rved as state banking examiner 
and was also elected state rai lway cOlllmi ssioner. The 
frame hou se, constructed in 1906-7, is completely 
shea thed wi th wooden shingles and exhibi ts elements of 
the Shingle style. The pa rlor. whi ch boasted a massive 
chimney with flankin g bookcases and half-tim bered ceil ­
ing and wa ll s. housed Wi lson's library tab le. which con­
verted into a bill iard table. The parlor wa s remodeled in 
latcr yea rs. 

---STROMSBURG VICINITY---­

CHARLES H. MORRILL HOMES TEAD 

The Charles H. Morri ll Homestead is located on a pictur­
esque site ncar the Big Blue River. The original house, a 
one-story rrame dwe lling, was built in 1872 and exhi bit s 
subtle Italianate detail ing in its design. The one-and-one­
half-story log house, fini shed in 190 I, was bu ilt by Ludwig 
Rudeen. In 1879 Morrill became Governor Albinus 
Na nce's pri va te secretary, and in 1904 he was elected 
Republican national com mitteeman. He was elected 
regent or the University of Nebraska in 1889, serving as 
presiden t of the Board of Regents from 1892 to 1902. In 
the 1890s he and Dr. E. H. Barbour. professor of geology. 
initiated yearly geologica l and paleontological expedi-

First United Presbyterian Church. Auburn (p.I03) 
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tions into all parts of the state. These expeditions ga thered 
the initi al collect ions of the Uni versity of Nebraska 
Museum. Later in life Morrill li berally finan ced expedi ­
tions and maintenance of the uni versity's collections. 
When the university mu seum building was erected in 
1927, it was named M orrill Hall. A cou nty in western 
Nebraska, organized in 1908 , and a community northwest 
of Scottsblu ff, Nebraska, also bear Morri ll 's name. 

RED WILLOW COUNTY 


----------- McCOOK ----------­
McCOOK CARNEGIE LIBRARY 
423 Norris Avenue 
The M cCook Library is an example of the Spani sh Colo­
nial Rev iva l style, designed by archi tec t Willis A. Marean 

1
of D enver, Colorado. Marean designed num erous turn -of-

Jasper A Ware House (Wildwood Center ), Nehraska City vicinity (p.108) 

The Many Faces 
Of Arbor Lodge 

The three-story, 52-room Neo-Classical Revival 
mansion familiar to Arbor Lodge visitors today 
(photo p. 116) is a far cry from the first house on 

the site. In 1855, newly married and just arrived from 
Bellevue, the 23-year old J. Sterling Morton built a 
four-room L-shaped frame house on the highest point 
of his 160-acre tract west of Nebraska City. It was 
said to be the only frame house from that point west to 
the Rocky MQuntains. 

As the need arose, the house was enlarged, Caro­
line Morton supervising its gradual transformation 
into an imposing mansion. The name "Arbor Lodge" 
first appears in 1875. As the Mortons' silver wedding 
anniversary approached in 1879, the almost constant 
process of improvement took on new momentum, 
and Morton wrote of working at home "among paper­
hangers, carpenters, plasterers, plumbers, and 
general noise makers." 

Caroline died in 1881 , but renovations continued 
vi rtually to the time of Morton's death in 1902. His 
eldest son Joy inherited the house, enlarging it to its 
present state. He used it only as a summer retreat, 
and in 1923 donated it to the State. It is now adminis­
tered by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 
as a state historical park. 

Arbor lodge. 1864 
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the-century buildings of prominence in Denver and the 
su rrounding area , but the library building in McCook is the 
only structure in Ncbraska known to have bee n designed 
by him. Property for a building site was don ated by a local 
finn , and Andrew Carnegie provided constructi on funds in 
December of 1905. The libra ry was dedicated on Febru­
ary 17, 1908. (photo p. 120) 

SENATOR GEORGE W. NORRIS HOUSE (NHL) 
706 Norris Avenue 
The house is important for its associations wi th George W. 
Norris, one of America's 111 0S t distinguished statesmen. 
The establishm ent of Nebraska's unica meral legislature 
and landma rk legislation, such as the Rura l Electrification 
Act and the Tennessee Valley Authority, were chiefly the 
resu lt of his efforts. He represented Nebraska for forty 
years in the U.S. Congress, as a representative ( 1903-13) 
and as a senator ( 19 13-43). Norris purchased the house in 
1899 and continued to occ upy it until his death in 1944. In 
1968 the house was donated to the state of Nebraska, 

-,,, 

Albor Lodge,aboU11879 

Arbof lodge. 1887 
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which now operates it as a branch Illuseum or the Nebras­
ka State Hi storical Soc iety.(photo p. 120) 

H. P. SUTTON RESIDENCE 
(THE WRIGHT HOUSE) 
602 Norris Avenue 
The two-story framc and stucco Prairie style house was 
built fo r Mr. and Mrs. Harvey P. Sutton. Sutton ow ned a 
jewelry store in McCook. was active in community affa irs. 
and served as director of the c.s.&Q. Rail road Concert 
Band. known throughout the state. Thc hOllse was 
des igned by renow ned architect Frank Lloyd Wright In 

1905-7 and was completed in 1908. (photo p. 121) 

----McCOOK VICINITy---­
DOYLE SITE 
Doyle is one of the finest examples of Woodland culture in 
the Republican Ri ver va lley of southwest Nebraska and 
north west Kansas. Work at the site uncovered a superb 
example of a Woodl and house nool'. Artifacts, part icul arly 

Dr E. M WhrMen Residence, S 13th SI. Historic District, Nebraska City ~ p 107) 

Aroor Lodge (J Sterling Morton Houso). Nebf ilska C,ty vlCIMy (p 107) 
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The Oldest 

Buildings 


N
ebraska's oldest buildings date from 
the territorial beginnings in the 1850s. 
The Bank of Florence (p. 371 was 

chartered by Nebraska's territorial legisla­
ture in 1856, and built the following year. 
The Fontenelle Bank and the William Hamil­
ton house (p.1221, dating from around 1856, 
are both located in Bellevue, one of the ear­
liest towns to be established along the Mis­
souri River. The Taylor-Wessel house 
(South Nebraska City Historic District, p. 
1071 and the Gottschalk log house in 
Columbus (p. 1111 were built by pioneers 
ten years before Nebraska became a state 
in 1867. The oldest known public building is 
the Otoe County Courthouse in Nebraska 
City (p. 107), constructed in 1864-65. 

0100 County Coulthouse, Nebraska City (p.107) 

potlcry vessels, atlribute the occupation to the Keith Phase 
(A .D. 500-1000), the only known Woodland culture in 
southwest Nebraska. Radiocarbon dares suggest two 
separate occupalions, the first about A. D. 50 and another 
about A .D. 550-600. These dates offer preliminary evi ­
dence of Woodland culture emerging in the Republican 
basin fi ve centuries ea rlier than previously thought. 

RICHARDSON COUNTY 


-----FALLS CITY ----­

GEHLING'S THEATER 
1592 Stone Street 
Constructed in 1892-93 by the Gehling fa mily, owners of 
the local brewery, the three-story brick bu i lding has a large 
opera house on the second level. The interior fea tures a 
curved balcony and a huge prosceniulll arch, which fill s 
the entire wall of the opera house. Old posters adverti sing 
silent movies remain on the wall s backstage. The opera 
house hosted stars like Fanny Rice and such classics as 
" Uncle Tom's Cabin" and " Shepherd of the Hi ll s. " The 
bui lding is used today for re tail business and storage. 

-----HUMBOLDT ----­

JOHN HOLMAN HOUSE 
947 Nemaha Street 
The two-and-one-half-story brick house was built about 
1893 by John Hol in an, a wea lthy farmer and landowner in 
the Humboldt area. The residence was purportedly fur­
ni shed with furniture purchased by Holman althe Chicago 
World's Fair of 1893. The Queen A nne mansion features a 

three-story, engaged corner tower; wrap-around porch 
with gingerbread: decorati ve brickwork ; and ornam elltal 
window hoods. (pholos pp. IS, 122) 

----RULO VICINITy---­

LEARY SITE (NHL) 
The Lea ry Site is the principal "Oneala" site west of Ihe 
Mi ssouri Ri ver. Oneola was a sophisticated Mi ssissippian­
like CUhUfC which flourished in Iowa, Wisconsin. and 
neighboring states from A.D. 1000 through Ihe earl y hi s­
toric period (aboul A.D. 1600- 1700). Oneota represents 

U.S. Courthouse and Post OffIce, Nebraska CIty (p.l 071 
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H.E. Snyder House, Columbus (p. l 1 1) 

prehistoric ancestors of the Siouan- speaking historic 
tribes, and Leary probably was inhabited by people related 
to the Iowa, Oto, and Missouria. The Leary Site provides a 
unique opportu nity to study the Oneota people at the 
western margin of their territory. 

NEBRASKA-KANSAS PUBLIC LAND 
SURVEY THEMATIC GROUP 
See Jefferson County. 

SALINE COUNTY 


------------ CRETE----------­
COLLEGE HILL HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Juniper, Fifteenth, and Boswell and 
Ninth streets 
The district derives its name from Doane College (see 
Doane College Historic District), a private educa tional 
institution affi li ated with the Congregational Church. The 
surrounding residential area, which was referred to by 
local residents as "College Hill ," consists ma inly of dwel­
lings bu ilt by the founde rs and supporters of Doane Col­

11 8 

lege and Crete's business district. Important individuals 
include James W. Dawes, governor of Nebraska, 1883-87; 
John S. Brown, Doane College professor and organizer of 
the Crete C hautauqua; William H. Morris, appointed dis­
trict court judge in 1883; and John L. Tidball, who organ­
ized the First National Bank in Crete. The district is com­
pri sed of architectural styles popular in Nebraska during 
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. 

DOANE COLLEGE HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Doane College Campus 
The district includes three buildings: Gaylord Hall , a large 
brick structure built in 1884 as a women's dormitory; 
Whitcomb Conservatory and Lee Memorial Chapel, a 
two- story brick and steel structure designed by the Chi­
cago architectural firm of Dean and Dean in 1905 and 
constructed in 1906-7; and the Boswell Observatory, a 
small , irregularly shaped structure built in 1883-84 to 
house Doane College's program in astronomy and meteor­
ology. The General Assoc iation of Congregational 
Churches, in its first annual meeting at Fremont in 1857, 
resolved to " lay the foundation s of a literary institution of a 
high order in Nebraska." Through the efforts of the local 
pa stor and Thomas Doane, chief eng ineer for the Burling­
ton and Missouri River Railroad, Doane College was 
established in 1872 . (photo p. 124) 



C. Segelke Building, Columbus (p. lll ) 

JOHNSTON-MUFF HOUSE 
1422 Boswell Street 
The Johnston-Muff House, constructed 1887-89 , is a fine 
example of the Queen Anne style. While employing the 
usual variety in building materials and roof lines, this 
dwelling has a side tower rather than the typical corner 
tower found on most Queen Anne houses in the area. The 
residence was bui lt for John R. Johnston, a businessman in 
C rete, and later purchased by Catherine Hier Muff in 
1892 . (photo p. 126) 

FRANK J. RADEMACHER HOUSE 
1424 Grove Street 
Built in 1894, the house was designed by the Lincoln 
arc hitectura l firm ofJames Tyler and Son and represents a 
simplified version of the Queen Anne style. Rademacher 
achieved success in the furniture and undertak ing business 
from 1870 to 1926 and was a charter member of the 
Nebraska Funeral Directors Association, organized in 
1885. 

TRINITY MEMORIAL EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
Fourteenth and Juniper streets 
The prese nt church building, a board and batten stucture, 
was built in 1872 and received add itions in 1889 and 
1896. It is representative of an im portant group of 
churches influenced by the 1852 publication, Upjollll 's 
Rural Archileclure. Richard Upjohn's book contained 
drawings for modern wooden church build ings. Since his 
drawings were merely intended to offer general guidelines, 
many parishes, including Trinity Memorial, adapted or 
modified the designs as local conditions warranted. 

Buchef Saloon (Glur's Tavern), Columbus (p.lll ) 

----CRETE VICINITy---­

JESSE C. BICKLE HOUSE (THE MAPLES) 
The present two-story frame dwelling, completed in the 
I870s, is a fine example of the Carpenter Gothic styl e. The 
house incorporates an earlier one-story, two-room log 
structure built by Jesse Bick le about 1864. A founding 
fa ther of Crete, Bickle was actively involved in the devel­
opment of the county. (photo p. 125 ) 

C. Segelke BUlldmg. Columbus. about 1900 
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---------DORCHESTER--------­

WILLIAM FREIDELL HOUSE 
Tenth and Main stree ts 
The house is a simplifi ed version of the Queen An ne style. 
Erected in 1890 the dwelling was built for William Frei­
dell , who operated a general merchand ise store in Dor­
chester for fifty- six years. (photo p. 127) 

-----DORCHESTER VICINITY - -­

FRANK P1SAR FARMSTEAD 
Frantisek " Frank" Pisar was a native of Bohemia. In 1872 
Pisar, his wife Terezie, and their children homesteaded this 
eighty-acre tract in Pleasant Hill Precinct. Pisar was an 
enterprising farm er and by 1885 he owned over 300 acres. 
He managed a nearly self-sufficient farming operation and 
built fruit ce llars or caves for produce storage. The farm is 
loca ted at the end of a small limestone vein , which sup­
plied bui lding material for the construct ion of the original 
one-a nd- one-half-story stone house ( 1877) and stone barn 
( 1888). The property also includes a corn crib, hog house, 
poultry sheds, and privy. (photo p. 124) 

RAD TABOR 74 Z_CB.J. (TABOR HALL) 
Tabor Lodge 74 in Saline Co unty was organized on 
October 8, 1899 , with fourtee n charter members. The 
Zapadni Cesko Bratrske l ednota (Z.C.B.1 .) or Western 
Bohemian Fraternal Assoc iation was an outgrowth of the 
Czech Freethinking movement, which began in Bohemia 
(a hi storic reg ion of present-day western Czechoslovakia) 
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in the mid-nineteenth century. The Freethinkers broke 
away from organized religion and promoted liberali sm 
and strong national and democratic views. As a fraternal 
orga nization, the Z.C.B.J . lodges provided security and 
ethnic solidarity for Czech immigrants in America. The 
Z.C. B.J . lodges have been primary conservators of Czech 
heritage. Tabor Hall was constructed in 19 14, with a large 
dance pavilion added in 1934. 

------FRIEND-----­

RICHARD R, KIDDLE HOUSE 
819 Eighth Street 
The Kiddie House, built in 1886, is an excellent example of 
the French Second Empire style and incorporates distin c­
ti ve features. including a prominent lwo-and-onc- half­

story entry tower. Builder Richa rd R. Kiddie was a local 
ca rpenter and is be lieved to have constructed other build ­
ings in the area. The property also includes the origi nal 
two-story carriage barn built in the 1880s. (photo p. 122) 

WARREN'S OPERA HOUSE 
5 11 Second Street 
The two- story brick commercia l block was built in 1885­
86 by businessman Joshua Warren, at a cost of more than 
fort y thousand dollars. The opera house occupies most of 
the building's second noor, and has a curved ba lcony, box 
office, dressing room s, and stage with a trapdoor. Rooms 
surrounding the opera house were used as a lodgehall and 
for professional omce space. The opera house offered 
performances such as "Romeo and Juliet" and "The Night 
Before Chri stmas." 

H.P. Sunon ReSidence [The Wllght House), McCook Ip 116) 
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Richard R. Kiddie House. Friend, aboUl1890 (p, 121) 

I' 

John Holman House, HumOOldl (p. 117) 

----WESTERN VICINITy---­

MICHAEL WITT FACHWERKBAU 
The fa chwerkbau or "half-timbered" house was built in 
1867-68 by Michael Witt, a naliveofGermany and one of 
the pioneer settl ers in the area. The dwelling is a relic of 
German fo lk architec tural trad itions and is the only known 
structure of its type in Nebraska. 

------WILBER-- ---­

HOTEL WILBER 
Second and Wilson streets 
The need for a commodious bri ck hotel in Wilber had been 
disc ussed as earl y as 1890, but not until the spring of 1895 
was a stock co mpany formed to fi nance the construction. 
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In August of 1895 the Hotel Wilber opened, The large, 
two- story bri ck hotel was an elaborate addition to the 
cOlllmercial development of this smail community of 
1,000, II was a social center for local citizens and a haven 
for Iravelers to thi s county seat. The Hotel Wilber is an 
important exa mple of a building type once common in 
Nebraska's small towns, (photo p, 126) 

WILLIAM H. MANN HOUSE 
524 West First Street 
This imposing house, designed with both Itali anate and 
French Second Empire fea tures, is the only remaining 
dwelling in the town of Wilber dating to the early 18805. 
The milling enterpri se founded by William Mann was the 
chief industry in Wilber for several decades and enjoyed a 
wide circle of trade, (photo p. 123 ) 

- ---WiLBER VICINITy---­

TELOCVICNA ]EDNOTA SOKOL 
(BRUSH CREEK HALL) 

Brush Creek Hall , a simple one·story frame building, was 
constructed aboul 1888 and is the oldest known Sokol hall 
in Nebraska, The Sokol movement, fo unded in 1862, is a 
Czech gymnastic order whi ch advoca tes a "hea lthy mind 
in a healthy body," while promoting patriotic and cultural 
education, The Brush Creek Sokol was established in 1888 
by a small group of boys, By the 1920s there were six ty 
members, includ ing teams for boys, girls, and ad ults. The 
hall is still used as a soc ial ce nter for the rural Czech 
community. (photo p, 123) 

SARPY COUNTY 


-----BELLEVUE----­

FONTENELLE BANK 
2212 Mam Street 
Built in 1856, the structure originally served as the Fonte· 
nell e Bank, a " wildcat" bank which failed in the Panic of 
1857. It was the Sarpy County Courthouse in the 1860s 
and 1870s and then was Bellev ue's IOwn hall until 1959 , 
The two-story brick bank is an excellent example oftransi· 
tional Greek Revival· ltaliante styl ing, (photos p, 128) 

WILLIAM HAMILTON HOUSE 
2003 Bluff Street 
The William Hamilton house, a two-story stone dwelling 
constructed about 1856, was built ror the Reverend William 
Hamilton, a leading fi gure in Nebraska 's early re ligious 
history, Hamilton came to Nebraska 10 direct the Presby­
lerian Indi an Mission established at Bellevue and became 
an influential pioneer missionary in Sarpy and Thurston 
co unties, He devoted much or hi s li fe ministering to the 
Omaha Indians. 

OLD LOG CA BIN 
1805 Hancock Street 
According to loca l legend , the cabin was built on the 
bottom lands along the Mi ssouri River about 1835. The 



ex terior walls are constructed of handhewn cOllonwood 
logs wi th wa ll spaces, origi nally pac ked wi th mud, now 
sea led with grout. The structure has been moved several 
tim es but has remained on the present site since the 1850s. 
It is owned by the Sarpy County Hi storical Society. 

PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH 
2002 Franklin Sireet 
The Presbyterian Church, constructed in the late 1850s, is 
one of Nebraska's oldest religious buildings. The wa lls are 
composed of stone rubble and grout, faced with stucco. 
The Presbyterian Church was organi zed in December of 
1850 under the direction of the Reverend Edward 
McKinney, who was succeeded by the Reverend Willi am 
Hamilton in 1853. Under Hamil ton's guidance. D E. Reed, 
builder, began construction in 1856 on the Presbyteri an 
Church as well as Hamilton's own dwelling in Bellevue 
(see William Hamilton House). (photo p. 129) 

----BELLEVUE VICINITy---­

FONTENELLE FOREST HISTORIC DISTRICT 

Fontenelle Forest is a pri vate 1500-acre botanical and 
game preserve along the Missouri Ri ver blu ffs between 
O maha and Bellevue. H istoric and archeologica l features 

r 

Wilham H. Mann House, Wilber (p.122) 
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Boswell DOseryalory. Doane Col lege Hlsloric District. Crete (p.I IS) 
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represent a broad cross-section of eastern Nebraska 's past. 
Most prehistoric sites are attributed to the Nebraska Phase 
(A.D. I 100- 1450). The lower Platte area, including Fon­
te ne lle Forest, was also home to the historic Oto, loway, 
and Missouri tribes and was frequently visited by Pawnee, 
Omaha , and Ponca trading parties. Early Euro-American 
use of the area is represented by the Mormon Hollow Trail, 
Peter Sarpy's ferry landing, Lucien Fontenelle's trading 
post, and severa l late nineteenth century farmsteads. Fon­
tenelle's post was established by the Missouri Fur Com­
pany in 1822 and operated by Fontenelle and others until 
1832, when it was sold to the U.S. Government. The Office 
of Indian Affairs used the post as an Indi an agency under 
the direction of John Dougherty and several other agents 
until its abandonment in 1842. 

FORT CROOK BLACKSMITH SHOP 
Offull Air Force Base 
The blacksmith shop is located on the o rig in al grounds of 
Fort Crook (now Offutt Air Force Base) outside the boun­
daries of the Fort C rook Historic District (see separate 
summ ary). Completed in 1893, the one-story brick build­
ing was designed as a regimental blacksmith, tinsmith, 
plumber, paint, carpenter, and wheelwright shop. In follow­
ing yea rs the building served various purposes including 
headquarters for the Seventh Army Corps and Civi lian 
Conservation Corps, and later a library and cultural center. 

FORT CROOK HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Offull Air Force Base 
The di strict is located on Offutt Ai r Force Base near Belle­
vue and includes twenty-three buildings. A bill signed by 
President Grover C leveland in July 1888 authorized con­
struction of Fort Crook, built between 189 1 and 1896 and 
named in honor of Major General George Crook (see 
General George Crook House, Omaha). The district con­
sists oflarge, two-and two-and-one-half-story brick build­
ings including a fire station, jail , headquarters buildings, 
dormitories, officers ' quarters, and a theater. Many of the 
buildings are used as housing for military personnel of 
Offutt Air Force Base. 

PETER A. SARPY TRADING POST SITE 
Lucien Fontenelle probably constructed this post in 1832 
and sold it to Peter A. Sarpy in 1840. Sarpy operated a 
trading house at the site until 1862, when he relocated to 
Plattsmouth. After about 1850 the post helped meet the 
needs of gold seekers and overl and emigrants. It was also 
the locat ion of the first Masonic lodge in Nebraska Terri­
tory, orga nized in 1855. 

Sa rpy was born in St. Louis in 1805 and was employed 
by the American Fur Company in the Upper Missouri 
cou ntry as early as 1823 . Hi s commercia l involvemen t in 
the area was responsible in part fo r the establishment of 
Bellevue and other local commu nities. Sarpy died in 
Platt smouth in 1865 . 

----LAPLATTE VICINITy - --­

MOSES MERRILL MISSION AND 
OTO INDIAN VILLAGE SITE 

In 1835, following several years of fruitful work at Belle­
vue. the Reverend Moses Merrill and his wife El iza 

decided to establi sh a permanent mission and school in 
Oto country near Zwiebel Creek. Merrill encou raged the 
Oto to move from their long-occupied vi ll age near Yutan 
to his mission. Although Merrill made substantia l progress 
in converting the Oto to C hri stianity, he wa s plagued by 
liquor merchants and unsavory government officials influ­
encing Oto opinion of white intent ions. Merrill died sud­
denly in 1840, and soon afte rwards the Oto moved to a 
new vi llage. 

- ----PAPILLlON--- - ­

JOHN SAUTTER FARMHOUSE 
220 North Jefferson Street 
The John Sautte r Farmhouse is a distinctly German struc­
ture. The dwelling, of nogged-frame construction, was 
built in the late 1860s by John Sautter, Sr. , a native of 
Wurttemberg, Germany. Sautter operated a g rist mill for a 
number of years and served as one of the founders of the 
First Lutheran Church of Papillion. The Sa utter House 
stood origina ll y on a farm locatedjust north of the prese nt 
city limits. In the 1970s housing developments destroyed 
the original fa rm setting. The house was saved from demo­
lition in 1979 by the Papillion Area Historical Society, 
whi ch moved it to the city park. The house is being re­
stored as a museum. 

- ---PAPiLLION VICINITy---­

KURZ OMAHA VILLAGE SITE 
On a journey up the Missouri River in 185 1, Swiss arti st 
Rudolph Frederick Kurz visited the Omaha Indi ans at this 
vi ll age above Papillion Creek. The Omaha, who referred 
to the site as " Hill-Rising-From- A-Plain," established the 
community about 1846 and resided there con tinuously 
until they were removed to their present northeast Nebras­
ka reservation in 1855 . The village also was occupied by a 
prehistoric group (A.D. 1100-1450) unrelated to the his­
toric Omah a. Kurz's lively journal and vivid illustrations 
provide the most detailed im age of a pre-reserva tion 
Indian village in Nebraska. Kurz describes both earth­
lodges and skin tipis at the site along with a fortification 
ditch, meat curing racks, and a large corral. 
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SAUNDERS COUNTY 


-----------ASHLAND---------­

ASHLAND CARNEGIE LIBRARY 
207 North Fifteenth Street 
Constructed in 1911 , the library is a good example of the 
Jacobethan Revival style. [t was designed by the architec­
tural firm of Fisher and Lawrie of Omaha, Funding to 
build the library was provided by Andrew Carnegie, often 
called the " Patron Saint" of libraries. (photo p. 13 1) 

NATIONAL BANK OF ASHLAND 
(LUTTON LAW OFFICE) 
1442 Silver Street 
The two-story brick and stone commercial building, which 
was constructed in 1889 in the Richardsonian Roman­
esque style, was designed by the architectural firm of!. and 
!. Hodgson, Jr. , with offices in Omaha and Portland, 
Oregon. Between 1889 and 1947 the building housed the 
National Bank of Ashland and the Citizens National Bank. 
The Lutton Law Office has occupied the building since 
1948. 

ST. STEPHEN'S EPISCOPAL CHURCH 
Sixteenth and Adams streets 
St. Stephen's Episcopal Church is a fine example of Gothic 
Revival architecture. Board and batten construction adds 
to its individuality, and the building has undergone only 
minor alterations since its construction in 1872. St. Ste­
phen's is the oldest church building in Ashland. 

-------ASHLAND VICINITy------­

ISRAEL BEET/SON HOUSE 
Located near the old Ox-Bow Trail, the Israel Beetison 
House is one of the fine st examples of the Italianate style in 
Nebraska. The residence was constructed in 1874-75 of 
locally quarried limestone by the Dalton Brothers, local 
masons, and feature s a frame cupola on the main portion 
of the house. The dwelling has been owned by the Beetison 
family since its completion. (photo p. 130) 

-----CEDAR BLUFFS VICINITy----­

PAHUKHILL 
Pahuk Hill is an impressive promontory overlooking the 
Platte River. It is one of the five sacred places of the 
Pawnee and is the best preserved. Pahuk was the most 
important gathering place of supernaturally endowed ani­
mals (Nahu'rak), venerated by the Pawnee. (photo p. 131 ) 

-------LESHARA VICINITy------­

LESHARA SITE 
LeShara is a Pawnee village occupied immediately prior to 
the tribe's removal to the Genoa reservation ( 185 1-59). 
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Observations on the village were made by a number of 
white travelers and early settlers, and it is depicted on an 
1856 General Land Office survey plat map. 

McCLEAN OR McCLAINE SITE 
McClean is one of the villages occupied by the Pawnee 
before moving to their reservation in the Genoa vicinity. 
The date of initial construction is unclear, although it 
appears to have been between 1847 and 1850 and was 
probably occupied by the Skidi band. Colorful descriptions 
of life at McClean are provided by Moravian Church 
emissaries Gottlieb Oehler and David Smith, who visited 
the community in 1851 . They reported that the village was 
comprised of some eighty lodges housi ng nearly 2,500 
people. The Skidi did not entirely abandon McClean until 
1859. 

WOODCLIFF SITE 
During the 1850s the Skidi band of the Pawnee lived in a 
vill age near present day Fremont prior to their removal to 
the Genoa reserva tion. The Woodcliff Site is probably the 
cemetery for that com munity. It has the potential to pro­
vide valuable data for the study of late historic Pawnee 
mortuary customs, diet, and disease. 

----MORSE BLUFF---­

RAD PLZEN CIS. 9 Z.C.B.J. 
Ann Street 
Lodge Plzen was originally organized in 1880 and reor­
ganized in 1897 as charter lodge number nine of the newly 
formed Zapadni Cesko Bratrske Jednoty (Z.C.BJ.) or 
Western Bohemian Fraternal Association (now Western 

Fraternal Life Association). The hall , a si mplifed version 
of the Renaissance Revival style, was built in 1910·1 1 and 
st ill serves as a local gathering place for members and the 
community. 

-----------WAH00----------­
HOWARD HANSON HOUSE 
Twelfth and Linden streets 

The house is important for its association with Howard 
Hanson, a world famous composer and music educator. 
Hanson was born in the house in 1896, and his family 
continued to reside there until 1943. Hanson was known 
for his innovative methods of teaching music. He served as 
director of the Eastman School of Music of the University 
of Rochester, New York, for forty years and is credited 
wi th making the school nationally famous. Hanson's own 
compositions won numerous awards. The house, con­
structed about 1888, is a good example of a simplified 
Queen Anne dwelling. It is presently owned by the Saun­
ders County Hi storical Society and is maintained by the 
Wahoo Woman's Club. (photo p. 129) 

WAHOO BURLINGTON DEPOT 
431 West Third Street 
The Wahoo Burlington Depot, a two- story wood frame 
bui lding on the Ashland-to-Schuyler line, was constructed 
in 1886, several months before the railroad's tracks were 
completed in 1887. Originally owned by the Omaha and 
North Platte Railroad Company, it was leased to the Chi­
cago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad in 1886, then 
deeded to the C.B.&Q. in 1908. It was the last depot 
constructed in Wahoo, joining the Northwestern and 
Union Pacific depots in providing service to this area of 

Hotel Wilber, Wilber Ip.122\ William Freidell House, Dorchester (p. 120J 
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FOnJ enelle Bank, Bellevue, 1934 (p. 122) 

Fonieneile Bank, Bellevue (p.122) 
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Sa unders County. The depot 's mai n fl oo r plan , which pro­
vided separate wait ing room s for men and women, is a 
va riation of a national!y used pattern ca lled the"combina­
tion " design. The second level was used for agent 's living 
quarters. C losed in 1972, the depot is owned by the Saun­
ders County Historica l Society and used as a museum. 

----yUTAN VICINITy---­
YUTA N SITE 

Spanish colon ial correspondence from 1777 notin g the 
ex istence ofa large 010 Indian vill age " fifteen leagues" up 
the Platte River from the Missouri lik ely refers to the 
Yutan Site. The vill age was occ upied until 1835, when the 
Oto moved down ri ver in an effort to ease tensions with 
neighboring tribes and Ameri can citi zens. The village was 
visited by a number of American travelers including John 
Irving in 1833 , who provided desc riptions of the village 
and specific lodge construction features. During the late 
eighteenth and nineteenth ce ntury Yutan would have been 
the first major Indian settlement seen by fur traders on the 
journey up the Platte to western bison hunting and beaver 
trapping ranges. 

SCOTTS BLUFF COUNTY 


------GERING-----­
SEVERIN SORENSEN HOUSE 
2345 Seventeenth Street 
Severin Sorensen. a Danish immigrant, headed the firm of 
S. Sorensen and Sons, ope rators o f the Gering Brick Com­



pany and genera l building contractors. The Gering bri ck 
factory prospered for nea rly thirty years and provided 
building material for the construction or numerous resi­
dential and commercial structures in the North Platte val­
ley. The Severin Sorensen house demonstrates the 
Sorensens· approach to residenti al comfort and style, 
which was expressed through the fa mily craft of brickmak ­
ing. The original house was built by the Sorensen fam il y 
about 1910 as a basement house with the first story added 
about 19 14- I 6. 

----GERING VICINITY---­

ROBIDOUX PASS (NHL) 

This narrow pass through the Wildcat Hills south of the 
North Platte valley witnessed the passi ng of thousands of 
emigra nts tra veling the Oregon-Californ ia Trail between 
1843 and 185 I. Robidoux Pass provided tra velers with 
their first glimpse of the Rocky Mountains and offered a 
good supply offuel and spring water. The earliest travelers 
using the pass were probably fur traders in the 1820s and 
1830s. East of the pass lies the site of a trading post 
established about 1847 by a Missourian named Joseph 
Robidoux. Robidoux sold a variety of goods and provided 
blacksmithing services. Following the opening of Mitchell 
Pass in 185 I, Robidoux Pass and the trading post fell into 
disuse. 

SCOTTS BLUFF NATIONAL MONUMENT 

Na med for Hiram Scott, a fur trapper who died in the 
vicinity in 1828, this prominent gcolog ical feature was a 
major landmark to travel ers in the North Platte valley. Fur 
trappers follow ing the Platte passed through the area as 
early as 18 12- 13. During the 1840s and 1850s emigrants 
along the Oregon-California trail s moved up the North 
Platte valley by the thousands. A variety of Pony Express, 
stage and freighting stations, and mi li tary posts were 

established in the area during the mid-nineteenth century. 
The Scotts Bluff vicinity has also yielded evidence of 
prehistoric Indian occupat ion. (photo p. 132) 

-----MITCHELL--- -­

M. B. QUIVEY HOUSE 
1462 Nineteenth Avenue 
The two·sto ry brick and framc dwelling, built in 19 14 by 
Maurice B. Quivey, is a modest interpretation of the Prairie 
style. The prope rty also incl udes a one-story frame gazebo. 
M. B. Qui vey was co-owner of the Mitchell Mercanti le 
Company, established wi th F. M. Raymond in 1905. 

---- SCOTTSBLUFF-- -­
MARQUIS OPERA HOUSE (FLYNN BUILDING) 
1601·3 Broadway Avenue 
The original building, constructed in 1909· I 0 by L. C. 
Marqui s, was Scottsb lu ffs first opera house. The brick 
comm ercial building housed retail space on the street level 
with the ope ra house aud itorium on the second floor. In 
1916 after the opera closed, the building was remodeled to 
provide add itional commercial and offi ce space. This 
remodeling gave the structure its present general Neo· 
Classica l Revival character. In 1936 the building was 
purchased by Wade Flynn and became known as the Flynn 
Building. 

SCOTTSBLUFF PUBLIC LIBRARY 
(WEST NEBRASKA ARTS CENTER) 
106 East Eigh teenth Street 
The Scottsbluff Carnegie Library was origi nally con­
structed in 1921-22 wi th a grant from the Ca rnegie Cor· 
poration. Only one other city in Nebraska received a Car· 
negie grant after Scottsbluff did. The Works Progress 
Administration funded a large addition to the building in 
19 36. The building, a product of the Neo·Classical Rev i· 
va l styl e, currently houses the West Nebras ka Arts Center. 

Prosbylcrian Church, Bellevue (p.123) Howard Hanson House. Wahoo Ip.1271 
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---SCOTTSBLUFF VICINITY --­

FORT MITCHELL 
With the outbreak of the Civil War, the government's 
ability to protect the overland trails from Indian raiding 
became increasingly difficult. Attacks by Sioux and 
Cheyenne war parties in 1864 led to the establishment ofa 
military post near Scotts Bluff. Fort Mitchell was con­
structed in I 864 and garrisoned by the Eleventh Ohio 
Cavalry under the command ofCaptain J. S. Shuman. The 
fort was a 180-by-1 OO-foot structure built primarily of sod 
and adobe and consisting of barracks, shops, and a horse 
corral. A civilian-operated road ranch was also established 
near the fort. Soldiers from Fort Mitchell participated in a 
skirmish with Sioux and Cheyenne Indians at Mud Springs 
Station near the present community of Dalton. Fort 
Mitchell was abandoned about 1868. 

SIGNAL BUTTE (NHL) 
Rising 120 feet above the North Platte valley, Signal Butte 
is capped with a thick mantle of gravels and windblown 

soil. This layer contains three distinct cultural horizons, 
separated by sterile soil. The approximate ages of the 
occupations are: A.D. 900-1700; 1000 B.C.-A.D.SOO; and 
3000-2000 B.C. The oldest occupation is attributed to the 
Middle Plains Archaic period and is a type component of 
the McKean Complex, a diverse culture widely distributed 
across the northern and western Plains during the period 
3000-1000 B.C.. Prehistoric peoples during this period 
developed sophisticated hunting and foraging techniques 
following a prolonged drouth on the Great Plains. 

SEWARD COUNTY 


-------BEE -----------­
STATES BALLROOM 
Second and Elm streets 
The States Ballroom, a twelve-sided reinforced concrete 
structure, is a notable product of modernistic design con­
ceived by a local architect-builder, Vladimir Sobotka. The 
building has played an important recreational, entertain-

Israel Beetison House, Ashland vicinity (p. 12S) 
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Ashland Carnegie Ubrary, Ashland [p.126) 

ment, and cultura l ro le in the surrounding Czech and 
German community. It was constructed in 1938-40 as a 
relief project of the Works Progress Administration. 

-----------GARLAND---------­
GERMANTOWN STATE BANK BUILDING 
Main Street 

The Germantown Sta te Bank was organized as an incor­
porated ba nk in 1904. Earlier, Germantown (as Garland 
was then known) suppo rted a private banking house 
known as the Bank of Germantown. Shortly afte r the end 
of World War I, bank president August Carl Beckman 
began plans to con struct a new faci lity. The new bank 
building was opened in the summer of 1920. The building 
is an excellent example of a sma ll town bank and is o ne of 
the sta te's fi nest products o f the Neo-Classical Revival 
style. 

-----------SEWARD---------­

CATTLE-HUGHES MANSION 
West Hillcres t Drive 
The French Second Empire ho use was bui lt in 1885 by 
Sewa rd banker Jo hn Catt le, Jr. Bankers since 188 1, the 
Cattle family established the Cattle Natio nal Ba nk in 
1930, which remains in operation today under thei r direc­
tion. John Cattle, Jr. a lso owned commercial and farming 
property in Seward County a nd was a stock holder in the 
Seward Cereal Mills. (photo p. 132) 

SEWARD COUNTY COURTHOUSE SQUARE 
HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Area roughly bounded by Seventh. Jackson. alley between 
Fourth and Filth, and South streets 
The Seward County Cou rthouse Sq uare Historic Distri ct 
conta ins sixty-four structures and is one of the state's finest 
nineteenth and early twentieth century commercial dis­
tricts. The distric t' s focu s is the two-sto ry, limestone 

Pahuk HIli, Cedar Bluffs vicinity [p.126) 

courthouse, constructed 1904-6, and desig ned in the 
County Capitol form by architect George A. Berlinghof. 
Other noteworthy buildings include the 1887 Tishue 
Block ; the 1. F. Goehner Building, built in 1908; and the 
Z im merer-Rolfsmeier Building, built about 1920. Public 
buildings and structures, such as the Carnegie Library, 
City Hall , and the Bandsta nd Park , are also found in the 
d istrict. (photo p. 133 ) 

-----STAPLEHURST VICINITY ----­

DEUTSCHE EVANGELISCH LUTHERISCHE 
ZION KIRCHE (OUR REDEEMER LUTHERAN 
CHURCH OF MARYSVILLE) 
O ur Redeemer Lutheran C hurch of Marysville was con­
structed in 19 16- 17 in the Late Gothic Revival style and is 
one of the state's fin es t examples o f an auditorium ­
pla nned church. The church 's desig n is the result of the 
combined tale nts of two of Nebra ska's leading early twen­
tie th century architec ts, George Berlinghof and Ellery L. 
Davis. 

SHERIDAN COUNTY 


-------ANTIOCH VICINITY---­

ANTIOCH POTASH PLANTS 
Prior to World War I, the United States was importing 
nearly a millio n tons o f potash annually from Germany fo r 
use as fertilizer. Followi ng the outbreak of wa r potash 
prices rose due to a halt in the now of imports. Severa l 
companies were chartered to ex trac t potash from domestic 
alkali lakes in the Sandhill s. The ruin s of the Antioch 
potash plants survive as remindersof this short-lived boom 
industry. 

By 191 8 fi ve companies were in operatio n to extract 
potash by evaporating lake water and co llect ing the 
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ScOIlS Bluff National Monument Gering vICinity Ip.1291 

Cattle-Hughes ManSion. Soward (p.13 t ) 
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potash-rich residue. Major plan t components included: 
solar or wind powe red tower evaporators, concrete reser ~ 
voirs, large stee l steam evaporators, dryers, crushers, 
warehouses. railroad trest les, and a variety of shops and 
houses to provide for the needs of employees. By early 
1920 Germa ny was once more selling potash to the United 
States for about one-half the cost of the domestic product. 
By the end of the yea r all Nebraska potash plant s were 
closed and they never reopened. 

- - -ELLSWORTH VICINITY--­

SPADE RANCH 

Spade Ran ch is located in the Sandhi ll s of northwestern 
Nebraska on a trac t of la nd in Sheridan and Cherry coun­
ties. The ranch includes numerous buildings and struc­
tures, including the log cook house built in 1879; bunk ­
houses which were used by the hired hands; the 1889 horse 
ba rn; ca lving sheds; break ing pens: and variolls corral 
areas. Bartlett Richards pu rchased the Spade Ranch fro m 
Bennett Irwin in 1888. Richards and Will Comstock. also 
involved in many of the ra nch's affa irs, were in strumental 
in recogni zing the importance of the Sandhi lis as grazing 
land . Because of Richards' conviction for ill egal fencing of 
publ ic lands and beca use of hi s unt imel y dea th whil e serv­
ing aj ai l sentence, the vast Spade "empire" has become <I 

legend in the history of catt le ranching in the Great Pl ai ns 
reg ion. (photo p. 134) 



---HAY SPRINGS VICINITY--­

CAMP SHERIDAN AND 
SPOTTED TAIL INDIAN AGENCY SITE 
In 1873 under the leadership of Spotted Tail , the Brul e 
Sioux moved from their prio r agency ncar Fort Randall. 
South Dakota, to no rthwest Ne braska, and fina lly to a n 
agency overloo king Beaver C reek. The agency was CO I11 ­

posed of storehouses, a n issue bui lding, a carpentry shop, a 
sawmill , stables, and other structures. To guard the agency, 
Cam p Sheridan was estab li shed as a tent ca mp in the fa ll o f 
1874 about one mil e from Spotted Tail Agency. Perm a­
nent facilities were constructed in the spring of 1875 con­
sist ing ofover thirty fram e and bri ck structures. Fo llowing 
remova l o f the Bru le to the Rosebud Agency in So uth 
Dakota, acti vity decl ined and Ca mp Sherid an was aba n­
doned by the arm y in 1880. (pho to p. 4) 

-----RUSHVILLE----­

GOURLEY'S OPERA HOUSE 
(PLA INS THEATER) 
Second Street 
The one-story false- front bu ilding was constructed by 
Dave Gourley in 19 14. The opera house has a raked noor 
a nd reta ins the orig inal opera chairs. A wooden noor fo und 
in the basement was purpo rtedly used for dances and ro ller 
skating. The opera house was later used for motion pic­
tures and was known as the Plain s Theater. 

SHERMAN COUNTY 


SWEETWATER VICINITY--­

SWEETWATER SITE 

Sweetwater is the type site o f the Itskari Ph ase, a prehis­
to ric Plain s Vi ll age culture occ upying the Loup Ri ver 
basin from the early thirteenth century th rough the mid -fif­
tee nth century. It incl udes the re mains of earth lodges, 
sto rage pits and trash deposits covering a forty- acre tribu ­
tary creek te rrace severa l miles fro m the South Loup 
River. The Itskari Phase is thought to be the progenitor of 
Pawnee culture. 

SIOUX COUNTY 


----AGATE VICINITY---­

HAROLDJ. COOK HOMESTEAD 
(BONE CABIN COMPLEX) 

The Harold J. Cook Homestead is within the Agate Foss il 
Beds National Monument in Sioux County, Nebras ka. 
Harold J. Cook was a rancher, pa leonto logist, and son of 
Ja mes H. Cook , the fa med fro ntiersman and India n advo­
cate. The complex , which at one time included a cabin , 
cook shack. and ba rns, served as a base operation for the 
Cook family and other paleonto logists who excava ted at 
the Agate Springs Foss il Q uarries. The foss il deposit s arc 

of international scienti fic im port ance in revealing the 
paleonto logical story of the " Age of Ma mm als." 

----HARRISON VICINITY - - -­

HUDSON-MENG BISON KILL SITE 

So metime between 8000 and 7700 B.c. a group of big 
ga me hunters slaughtered and processed more than 600 
bison at thi s site. Archeologica l excavations focused on a 
butchering area composed of a dense bone bed concen­
trated around fi re hearths. Numerous stone too ls and 
manufacturing debri s were fo und throughout the deposit. 
The ki ll site has not been loc ated; however the mass ive 
quantity of bones suggest it was likely at a nearby cliff or 
ravine. Based on analysis of bi son teeth archeologists 
beli eve the site represents a single bison kill. which proba­
bly occurred in mid -autumn. 

THAYER COUNTY 


-----ALEXANDRIA ----­

RICHARD E. DILL HOUSE 
Sixth and Mercy streets 

Bu ilt in 1936, the one-story house is constructed of post­
tensioned, twelve- and fo urteen-foOl concrete channel 
pl ank s. Richard E. Dill is recogni zed nationally and int er­
na tiona lly as the " father" of prestressed concrete technol­
ogy. The house is a n excellent exa mp le of concrete modu ­
la r construction. Dill patented thi s method in 1928. 

Seward County Courthouse. Courthouse Square HIStOflC DistriCt. Seward [p 131) 
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THOMAS COUNTY 


--- -HALSEy VICINITy---­

BESSEY NURSERY 
The Bessey Nursery, as originally established, comprised 
fifteen acres of land south of the Middle Loup River and 
included a two-story headquarters building, mess hall , 
barn, and shop building. The nursery was created in 1903 
to produce seedling trees for planting on the Dismal River 
Forest Preserve, wh ich later became the Nebraska 
National Forest. It was the first federa l forest tree nursery 
and was developed by the U.S. Bureau of Forestry, which 
later became the Forest Service of the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture. Originally called the Halsey Nursery, the 
name was changed in 1915 in honor of Dr. Charles E. 
Bessey, former professor of botany at the University of 
Nebraska. 

THURSTON COUNTY 

----MACy VICINITy---­

BLACKBIRD HILL 
This prominent topographic feature overlooks the Mis­
souri flood plain. Traditional Omaha tribal accounts indi­
cate several prominent chiefs, including Black bird and Big 

" 
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Spade RanCh, Ellsworth. about ' 890 ( p 132) 
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Fort Alkmson, Fort Calhoun vicinity (p.139) 

Elk , are buried here. The promontory served as an impor­
tant natural landmark and meeting place for early Euro­
pean a nd America n travelers including Lewis and Cla rk 
( 1804-6), naturali st John Bradbury ( 1809), and George 
Catlin ( 1833). In a downslope gorge, natural sandstone 
bedrock exposures display a fascinating collection of 
Nat ive American rock carvings, or petroglyphs, whi ch 
depict huma n and a nimal figures as well as supernatural 
beings. Tribal or chronological affi liation of the carvings is 
unknown; however, one resem bling a human on horseback 
suggests that it was created after A.D. 1700. (photo p. 134) 

VALLEY COUNTY 


- ---ELyRIA VICINITy - --­

FORT HARTSUFF HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Fort Hartsuff, 1874-81 , was established to protect settle­
ment in the North Loup va lley and was designed to house 

People's UMar lan Church, Old (p , 37) 
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The Recipe for a Fort 

The recipe for a good, long-lasting fort is sim­
ple: 24 bushels sand and gravel, four 
bushels common lime, and one-half bushel 

of cement. These ingredients and the recipe pre­
served in the notes of Fort Hartsufi's post surgeon 
suggest why this frontier fort, established in 1874 
and abandoned in 1881 , survived to become prob­
ably the best example of its type in the nation. Most 
log and frame forts of the era did not last long after 
they were abandoned by the army, but Hartsuff's 
grout walls, made possible by local sources of 
sand, gravel and lime, were impervious enough to 
the effects of time to permit nearly complete resto­
ration following the Nebraska Game and Parks 
Commission's acquisition of the property in 1961 . 
The fort complex includes ten restored and recon­
structed buildings, and is open to the public as a 
state historical park. 

Commanding Officer's House, Fort Hartsuff Historic District, Elyria vicinity (p.135) 

Abraham Castener House, Blall (p.137) 
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Congregational Church 01 Blair. Blair (p.137) 

one co mpany of in fantry. All o f the majo r structures were 
built in 1874 of grout , from specifications of the U.S. Army 
Quarterm aster's Department. The d istrict includes several 
res tored o r reconstructed buildings: the post adjutant's 
o ffi ce; enli sted men's barmc ks; company officers' quar· 
ters; commanding office r's quarters; post hospital ; quar­
te rmaster's storehouse; laundresses' quarters and bakery; 
quarte rm aster's stables; a nd guardhouse. Fort Hartsuff is a 
state hi storical park operated by the Neb raska Game and 
Park s Commission. (photo p. 136) 

---NORTH LOUP VICINITY--­

SCHULTZ SITE (NHL) 

The Schult z Site, inhabited a t some point during the period 
A.D. I-A .D. 500 , in cludes the remains of small ova l li ving 
structures, storage and trash pits, food refuse, and a di verse 
inventory of pottery and bone and stone implements. 

The people who li ved at the Schultz Site were among the 
first to manufacture pottery in the state, and they borrowed 
aspects of their culture from the Mississippi and O hio 
valleys. The site suggests a trade or cultural network 
e manating from the Midwest' s Hopewell culture, wh ich 
lin ked other groups from the eastern seaboard to the Gulf 
of Mex ico to the northern Rocky Mou ntai ns. 

--------ORD- -----­

PEOPLE'S UNITARIAN CHURCH 
1640 N Street 
The People's Uni tarian C hurch is one of few oc tagonal 
buildings in Nebraska. Its unusual design incorporates a 
square plan wit h brick wa ll materi al on the first sto ry and 
a n octagon-shaped second story covered with wooden 
shing les. The church was o rga nized in early 1899 under 
the leadership of Reverend A. H. Tyrer, who resigned from 
the Episcopal C hurch due to hi s liberal views. A Un itarian 
Soc iety was o rga ni zed shortly thereafter. Construction of 
the church bui lding began in 190 I with the dedicat ion in 
November of th at year. The bui lding has a lso been used for 
va rious commercial and fra ternal purposes and as a 
library. (pho to p. 135) 

Dr. W. C. Wlghlman House (Wightman-ley House). Wayne (p.139) 

WASHINGTON COUNTY 


-------BLAIR--- --­

ABRAHAM CASTETTER HOUSE 
1815 Grant Street 
Located on what was known as " Silk Stocking Row" in 
Blair during the late nineteenth and early twentieth centur­
ies, the Abraham Castetter house is a product of Eclecti­
c ism. The o rigina l house was built in the French Second 
Empire style in 1876. wi th later additi ons fo llowing var­
ious architectural styles th at were popular during the 
1880s and I 890s. Castetter, a native of Ohio, moved to 
Bla ir in 1869 and entered the banking business. In 1898 he 
es tablished "The Banking House of A. Castetter'" In 1887 
Castetter deeded to the city land which form ed the nucle us 
of the city park . (photo p. 136) 

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF BLAIR 
Sixteenth and Colfax streets 

The Congregational C hurch of Bl ai r is a good exa mple of 
the Carpenter Gothic style. The board and batten structure 
was constructed in 1874 by George Sutherland, a local 
bu ilder, to the designs of Charles F. Drisco ll , an Omaha 
architect. Several add itions were made in late r years. Eight 
charter members organi zed the church on February 10. 
1870. eleven months a ft er Blai r was pla tted. (photo above) 

c. C. CROWELL, JR. HOUSE 
2138 Washington Street 
The C. C. C rowell , Jr. House was built in 190 I by C hri s­
topher Columbus Crowell , Jr. and is transitional in style. 
exhibiting both Queen Anne and Neo-C lassica l Revival 
details. The C rowell famil y and their businesses, the 
C rowell Lumber and Grain Company and the Crowell 
Elevato r Company, were associated with the development 
and commercia l growth of the c ity of Blair for seventy 
years. 
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Grace Episcopal Church, Red Cloud (Willa Calher Themallc Group. p.140) 
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Willa Calher House, Red Cloud (p.140) 

- - --DESOTO VICINITy---­

BERTRAND STEAMBOAT SITE 
Beginning in the early nineteenth centu ry, steamboat tra f­
fic increased on the Missouri Ri ver. The Bertralld, owned 
by the Montana and Idaho Steamship Lines, was one of the 
largest steamboats to ply the Missouri north of the Pl atte 
Ri ver. The 160- by-30-foot stern -wheeler hit a snag on the 
Mi ssouri Ri ver north of Om aha and sank in April 1865 . 
The boat was discovered and excavated in the late 19605. 
The artifac ts recovered are displayed in the Bertrand 
museum at the DeSoto National Wildl ife Refuge. The 
stea mboat hull was reburied at the site of its discovery. 

-----FONTANELLE- ---­

FONTANELLE TOWNSHIP HALL 
The Fonta nelle Township Hall is a well-preserved exam ­
ple of the township meeting hall. Fontanelle voters held 
thei r fi rst a nnual meeting in April 1884, and in 1896 they 
approved the construction of a one- story brick ha ll. The 
build ing served as a meeting ha ll and polling place for the 
loca l rura l residents. It has beenin pri vate ownership since 
1975 . 



--- FORT CALHOUN VICINITY -- ­

FORT ATKINSON (NHL) 
The Yellowstone Expedi tion, under the com mand of 
Colonel Henry Atkinson, traveled up the Missouri in IS I9 
with the intention of establishing military posts near 
Council Bluffs, the Mandan villages, and the Yell owstone 
Ri ver. On ly the former was established and named Fort 
Atkinson. The post was constructed on a prominent Mis­
souri Ri ver terrace nea r present Fort Calhoun in IS20 and 
occupied until IS27. Fort Atki nson was the only American 
military post west of the Missouri at th at time. The fort was 
critical in forging politica l links between the U.S. govern ­
ment and local Indian tribes, as well as protecting Ameri­
can fur trade and frontier interests. 

The fort consisted ofa 450-foot-square barracks quad­
rangle with two bastions enclosing the parade ground, 
magazine, and possibly other structures. A wide assort ­
ment of structures was built on the ex teri or including a 
council house, stab les, carpentry and blacksmith shops, 
laundresses' quarters, and slaughterhouses. Based on over 
ten seasons of archeological fi eldwork, most of the fort has 
been reconstructed and an interpretive center established. 
It is operated as a state hi storical park by the Nebraska 
Game and Parks Commission. (photo p. 135) 

WAYNE COUNTY 


------ -WAYNE----------- ­

WAYNE COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
5 10 Pearl Street 

The two- story brick and stone courthouse, which fea tures 
a prominent, eighty-foot-tall square tower, is a good 
example of the Richardson ian Romanesque style. It was 
designed by the architectural firm of Orrf and Guilbert of 
Minneapolis. The courthouse, built in IS99, is one of the 
county's grandest and most substantial bui ldings. 

DR_ W. C. WIGHTMAN HOUSE 
(WIGHTMAN-LEY HOUSE) 
702 Lincoln Street 

The Shingle style house was bu ilt in 1900 by Dr. W. C. 
Wightman , a Wayne physician and doc tor for the Union 
Pacific Railroad Company. In 19 12 Wightman moved to 
Ca lifornia and sold the house to Rollie W. Ley, who served 
as clerk and later president of the State National Bank of 
Wayne. The residence is now owned by the Wayne County 
Historical Society. (photo p. 137) 

WEBSTER COUNTY 


- - ----BLADEN------ ­

I,O,O,F, f1ALLAND OPERA HOUSE 
Main Street 
Excavation for the combination opera house and lodge 
hall started in August 19 12. The two- story brick building 

held its grand opening on March 25, 1913, featu ring the 
Fisher Shipp Concert . The fi rst noor opera house, used for 
a variety of entertainments and public gatherings, has an 
auditorium wi th a raked fl oor, stage, a nd project ion booth. 
The building is now a community theater operated by the 
Bladen Opera House Associa tion. 

---GUIDE ROCK VICINITY--­

PIKE-PAWNEE SITE (NflL) 
Occupied from 1770 to abo ut IS IO or later, the Pike­
Pawnee National Hi storic Landmark has been the subject 
of intense hi storical and archeologica l research. Former 
Nebraska State Historica l Society Museum Director A. T. 
Hill documented the site as the RepUblican Pawnee com­
munity visited by the IS06 Zebulon Pike expedition. It 
encompasses nea rl y 300 acres of Republican River ter­
race, bluffs, and dra ws. In addition to the village area of 
100 lodge sites, fi ve cemeteries, two hoop game "courts," 
and a council site comprise the complex. Artifacts of both 
native and European origin are common. 

Willa Cather Muscum. Red Cloud (WIlla Cather Thcmatlc Group. p.140) 
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Burlington Depot. Red Cloud (WiUa Cather Thematic Group. p.140) 

----------REDCLOUD---------­

WILLA CATHER HOUSE (NHL) 

245 Cedar Street 

World famous au thor Willa Sibert Cather ( 1873-1947) 
moved with her famil y from Virginia to the Red C lo ud 
area in 1883. Many of her best known writings deal with 
life in the Red C loud vicinity. TheCather Hou se, in whi ch 
she li ved from 1884 to 1890, figures prominently in The 
SOl/g ojthe Lark, The 8es/ Years. and Old Mrs. Harris. This 
house is the most important Nebraska building associated 
with her litera ry career. (photo p. 138) 

WILLA CATHER THEMATIC GROUP: 

SITES AND DISTRICTS IN 

WEBSTER COUNTY 

The Willa Ca ther Themati c Group consists of twenty-six 
individual sites and four hi stori c districts related to the life 
and writings of Wi lla Cather. The si tes and districts 
represe nt a broad, representati ve cross section of Webster 
County's environment and architecture. The Themati c 
Group includes commercia l and residential districts, fanll ­
steads, reli gious structures, a grave site, archeologica l 
sites, and two natural features, one of which is a large tract 
of unbro ken prairie. The Willa Cather Ho use is a lso 
included. (photo above, pp. 138, 139) 

------RED CLOUD VICINITY ----- ­

STARKE ROUND BARN 
The Starke Round Barn was built in 1902-3 by the four 
Starke brothers. Conrad. Ernest, Bill , and Chris, who cam e 

to Nebraska from Milwaukee. The massive structure mea­
sures 130 feet in diameter and has three levels: the bottom 
for animal s, the second for machinery, and the third (or 
loft ) for hay. The construct ion method combines balloon 
fram ing and heavy timber supports. The Starke Round 
Barn is the state's largest and one of the largest in the 
nation. (photo p. 141 ) 

YORK COUNTY 


-------BENEDiCT VICINITY------ ­

W. S. JEFFERY FARMSTEAD 
The ho mestead of the W. S. Jeffery famil y is a fin e exa mpl e 
of a prosperous farm stead in eastern Nebraska , dating 
from 1878 to the present. The largest and oldest structure 
is the board and batten horse barn , built in 1879-80. On the 
opposite side of the road, the Queen Anne style ho use, built 
in 1900-1902, is pl aced on a slightly hig her e levation than 
the barn. It is surrounded by a well-m ai ntained yard ou t­
lined by a windbreak, rows of trees and shrubs, and a 
decorative wire fence. Other structures of the farm group 
include the 1899 cow barn , the 1930 hog house, brooder 
house, milk house, wash hou se, cob house, pri vy, and 
windmill. William and Laura (Dickey) Jeffery of Engl ish 
descent were early settlers in the area, and Jeffery becam e 
one of York County's most successful farmers and stoc k­
me n. Their e ldest son, Orman S. Jeffery, continued to 
operate the farm and became a prominent York County 
landowner. (photo p. 141 ) 
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----------BRADSHAW---------­
BRADSHAW TOWN HALL 
Main Street 
The Bradshaw Town Hall, a two-story brick municipal 
building constructed in 1902-3, is a good exa mple of the 
lOwn hall , a building type which became common in many 
Nebraska communities in the early twentieth century. The 
hall served as a public meeting pl ace for local civic and 
governmental activities. It is now a community center. 

----------GRESHAM---------­
CLEM'S OPERA HOUSE 
Main and Post streets 
The two-story brick building was constructed about 189 1 
by local businessmen W. N. Hylton, N. Clem, and A. L. 
Clem. The fi rst level was retail space, with the opera house 
located on the upper fl oor. The opera house has a box 
offi ce and stage with trapdoor. Later known as the 
Gresham Opera House, it offered entertainments such as 
"The Mysterious Harrell ," magician, and "The Great La­
Wayne, an Australian Hypnotist. " 

Slarkc Round Barn, Rod Cloud vicmily (p.140) 
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overhanging eaves, arched entries and second story porches. Window 

treatments vary from story to story and are flat or round arched. See 

Kilpatrick House, page 63. 


Second Renaissance Revival 1900-1920 

Recognized by the large scale and size, these buildings are organized 

into distinct horizontal divisions, with each story finished in a different 

fashion. Flat and arched openings, massive cornices, and roof balu­

strades (railings) are often amployad. See Douglas County Court­

house, page 58. 


Georgian o r Colonial Revival 1900-1930 

A style characterized by a symmetrical facade enriched with classical 

detail, gable or hip roof, and eaves detailed as classical cornices. The 

standard window is rectangular with a double-hung sash. The Palla ­

dian window la three-part window with the center portion arched and 

the sides flat} is often used as a focal point See Nye House, page 43. 


Spanish Colonial Revival 1900-1920 

These bu ildings, which have a southwestern flavor, show masonry 

construction usually covered with plaster or stucco, red -tiled hipped 

roofs, and arcaded porches. Some facades are enriched with curvi ­

linear and decorated roof lines. See McCook Carnegie Library, page 

120. 

Prairie 1900-1930 

This movement, popularized by Frank Lloyd Wright, emphasized the 

integration of a building and its site. Elements of the style include a 

low-pitched roof line with wide over-hanging eaves, two stories high 

with one-story porch, and an overall horizontal emphasis in the design. 

See Sutton House, page 121. 


Period 1920-1930 

Influenced by the styles of medieval English and French country cot­

tages, these houses are usually of two stories and display irregular 

massing, steeply pitched roofs with slate or clay tile covering, massive 

chimneys, half-timbering. casement windows, and attached garages. 

See Snyder House, page I I 8. 


Modernistic 1930-1940 

Art Deco, the earlier Modernistic phase, was used primarily for public 

and commercial buildings and is characterized by angular composi­

tion, with towers and vertical projections and smooth wall surfaces with 

stylized and geometric motifs, including zigzags and chevrons. See 

Redick Tower, page 54. Art Moderne, the later version, was used 

mainly in domestic architecture and shows smooth wall finishes with­

out surface ornamentation, asymmetrical facades with a horizontal 

emphasis, flat roofs, rounded corners, and bands of windows or curved 

window glass creating a streamlined effecl See Bartenbach House, 

page 70. 


Branch Museums and State Historical Parks 

Branch Museums 
Operated by the 
Nebraska State Historicat Society 

O Willa Cather Historical Center 
338 N. Webster 
Red Cloud, NE 68970 

A. Senator George Norris House 
V 706 Norris Avenue 

McCook, NE 69001 

A Neligh Mills Museum 
V N Street at Wylie Drive 

P.O. Box 271 
Neligh, NE 68756 

O John G. Ne lhardt Center 
P.O. Box 344 
Bancroft, NE 68004 

A Thomas P. Kennard House 
V 1627 H Street 

Lincoln, NE 68508 

O Fort Robinson Museum 
P.O. Box 304 
Crawford, NE 69339 

A Will iam H. Ferguson House 
V 161h & H streets 

lincoln, NE 68508 

O Fairview­
. William Jenn ings Bryan Home 

49th and Sumner streets 
Lincoln. N E 68506 

A Chimney Rock National Historic Site 
V Highway 92 near Bayard, NE 69334 
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State Historical Parks 
Operated by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission 

O Arbor Lodge 
Nebraska City, NE 684 I 0 
(402)873-7222 

A Arthur Bowring Sandhi lis Ranch 
V Box 246 

Merriman, NE 69218 
(308) 684·3428 

A Ash Hollow 
V Box A 

Lewellen. NE 69147 
(308) 778·5651 

O Ashfa ll Fossil Beds 
Orchard NE 
(Under development: projected opening. 
early 1990s) 

Buffalo Bill Ranch 
RI.1, Box 229 
North Platte, NE 69101 
(308) 532-4795 

O Champion Mill 
P.O. Box I 17 
Champion, NE 69023 
(308) 882-5860 

A Fort Atkinson 
V Box 237 

Fort Calhoun, NE 68023 
(402) 468-5895 

o Fort Ha rtsuff 
RI. I 
Burwell, NE 68823 
(308) 346-471 5 

o Fort Kearny 
RI. 4 
Kearney, NE 68847 
(308) 234-9513 

~ Rock Creek Station 
W RI. 4. Box 36 

Fairbury, NE 68352 
(402) 729·5777 
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Allen's Opera House, Cozad, 32 

Anheuser-Busch Office Bldg., Omaha, 37 

Antelope Co. Courthouse, Neligh, 11,13 
Antelope Grocery, Lincoln, 84 

Antioch Potash Plants, Sheridan Co., 131 

Antioch School, Adams Co., 11,9 
Aquila Court Bldg., Omaha, 37,57 
Arbor Lodge, Otoe Co., 107,114-15,116 
Arrow Hotel, Broken Bow. 30 

Ash Hollow Cave. Garden Co., 66 

Ash Hollow District, Garden Co., 66.65 
Ashland Carnegie Library, 126,131 
Ashland Site. Cass Co., 18.108 
Astro Theater. Omaha, 37 

Auditorium, Geneva, 60 

Bank of Florence. Omaha, 37,56 
Barcal or Skull Creek Site. BuUer Co.• 17 

Barnd House. Kearney. 13,17 
Bartenbach House. Grand Island. 68,70 
Beatrice Chautauqua Pavilion, 62 

Beatrice City Library. 62 

Beauvais Ranche Station Site. Keith Co., 80 

Beetison House,·Saunders Co., 126.130 
Bell House, Lincoln, 84 

Bellwood Site, Butler Co., 17 

Bemis Omaha Bag Company Bldg.• Omaha, 38 

Bennett House, Nemaha Co., 104 

Bertrand Steamboat Site, Washington Co., 138 

Bessey Nursery, Thomas Co.• 134 

Bickle House, Saline Co., 119,125 
Big Village Site, Dakota Co., 31 

Blackbird Hili, Thurston Co., 134,134 
Blackstone Hotel, Omaha, 38,51 
Blue Springs or Wonder Site, Gage Co., 64 

Bordeaux. Trading Post, Dawes Co.; 32,39 
Boscobel, Otoe Co., t08 
Bow Valley Mills, Cedar Co., 26 

Brach House, Hastings, 8 

Bradford-Pettis House, Omaha, 38 

Bradshaw Town Hall, Bradshaw, 141 

Brandeis & Sons Store·Bldg•• Omaha, 38,51 
Brandeis-Millard House, Omaha. 39,47 
Brandhoefer Mansion. OgaUala, 81 

Bridenthal House, Wymore, 65,63 
Brownville District, 103,108,109,110,111,113 
Bryan Bridge, Cherry Co., 28. ' 
Bryan Home (Fairview), Lincoln, 84 

Bucher Saloon, Columbus. 111,119 
Bullock House, Fremont, 35 

Burkett Site, Nance Co., 102 

Burlington Headquarters Bldg., Omaha, 39 

Burlington Station, Beatrice, 62,64 
Burlington Station, Omaha, 39,59 
Burlington Station, Hastings. 8 

Cabanne's Trading Post, Douglas Co., 59 

Cahow Barber Shop, Chapman, 100 

California Hill, Keith Co., 80,83 
Calling House, Gothenburg, 33 

Camp Clarke Bridge, Morrill Co., 100 

Camp Creek School (District 54), Otoe Co., 108 

Camp Sheridan/Spotted Tail Agency Site, Dawes 


Co., 133,4 

Capt Meriwether Lewis Dredge, Nemaha Co., 104, 


113 

Castetter House, Blair, 137,136 
Cathedral ... Blessed Virgin Mary, Grand Island, 

68,73 
Cather House, Red Cloud, 140,138 
Cather Thematic Group, Webster Co., 140,138, 

139,140 
Cattle-Hughes Mansion, Seward, 131,132 
Center School, Omaha, 39 

Chadron St. College Bldgs.• 32,39 
Champe-Fremont Site. Douglas Co., 60 

Champion Mill, Champion, 27,30 
Chautauqua Pavilion, Hastings, 8 

Chimney Rock, Morrill Co., 100.90,105 
Christian Record Bldg.• Lincoln. 84 

Christian Specht Bldg., Omaha, 39 

Church of Our Most Merciful Saviour. Santee. 82 

Church of The Visitation of The Blessed Virgin 

Mary. O'Connor. 67.66 
City Hall &AuditOrium. Hartington, 25 
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City Nat. Bank Bldg.lOrpheum Theater, Omaha. 39 
Clark House. Sutton, 28.33 
Clarke Hotel. Hastings, 8,12 
Clarks Site. Polk Co., 112 

Clem's Opera House, Gresham, 141 

Colfax Co. Courthouse. Schuyler, 29,34 
College Hill District, Crete. 118 

College View Public Library, Lincoln, 85 

Colman House. Diller. 76 

Congregational Church of Blair. Blair. 137.137 
Cook Blacksmith Shop, Ponca, 34 

Cook Homestead. Sioux Co.• 133 

Co-operative Block Bldg., Crawford, 32 

Cornish House, Omaha, 40 

Cottonwood Creek Site, Nance Co., 103 

Coufal Ridge Site, Howard Co., 76 

Courthouse &Jail Rocks, Morrill Co., 101 

Couser Barn. Cedar Co., 25 

Crook House. Omaha, 44,49 
Crowell House. Blair, 137 

Cunningham Site. Nance Co., 101 

Custer Co. Courthouse and Jail. Broken Bow, 

30,37 
Daniel House. Hayes Co.• 73 

Daniel School. Hayes Co.• 73 

Davis Site, Cass Co.• 25 

Deutsche Evangelische Lutherische, Burt Co., 16, 


19 

Deutsche Evangelische Lutherische. Seward Co.• 


131 

Dewitt Flour Mills/King Iron Bridge. Gage Co.• 64 

Diamond Springs Station Site, Keith Co., 80.84 

Dill House, Alexandria, 133 

Diller Opera House, Diller, 76 

District 10 School, Jefferson Co., 78,79 

Doane College District, Crete, 118,124 

Dobytown, Kearney Co., 80 

Douglas Co. Courthouse, Omaha, 40.58 
Dowse House, Custer Co., 31,6-7 
Doyle Site, Red Willow Co., 116 

Drake Court &Dartrnore Apartments, Omaha, 40 

Dupee Music Hall, Franklin, 61 

Eagle Creek Site, Holt Co., 75 

Eddy-Taylor House, lincoln, 85 

Elms, The, Elmwood, 21 

Emmanuel Lutheran Church, Dakota City, 31 

Evangelische Lutherische, Grand Island, 68,71 
Fairbury Public Library, Fairbury, 77 

Fairmont Creamery Company Bldg., 60,60 
Farrell Block, Hastings, 8 

Father Flanagan's House/Boys Home, Douglas 


Co., 37 

Ferguson House, Lincoln, 85,95 

Feye Site, Platte Co., 112 

Filley Stone Barn, Gage Co., 65,62,63 

Fillmore Co. Courthouse, Geneva, 60,61 

First Congregational Church, Naponee, 62.60 

First National Bank Bldg., Omaha, 40 

First State Bank of Bethany, Lincoln, 86 

First Unitarian Church, Omaha, 40,55 

First United Presbyterian Church, Auburn, 103,112 

Flatiron Hotel, Omaha, 42,50 

Fontanelle Township Hall, Fontanelle, 138 

Fontenelle Forest District, Sarpy Co., 123 

Fontenelle Bank, Bellevue, 122,128 

Ford Hospital, Omaha, 42 

Fort Atkinson, Washington Co., 139,135 

Fort Crook Blacksmith Shop, Sarpy Co.• 125 

Fort Crook District, Sarpy Co., 125 

Fort Hartsuff District, Valley Co., 135,136 

Fort Kearny. Kearney Co., 80,83 

Fort Mitchell. Scotts Bluff Co., 130 

Fort Omaha District, Omaha, 42 

Fort Robinson/Red Cloud Agency, Dawes Co., 32, 


41 

Fort Sidney DistriCt, Sidney, 28,31 

Fox Theater, North Platte. 98 

Frank House, Kearney, 14,17 

Fraternal Hall. Kimball. 82 

Freeman Homestead & School, Gage Co., 64,65 

Freidell House. Dorchester, 120,127 

Fremont, Elkhorn, &Mo. Valley Depot, Dwight, 18, 


21 

Fullerton Site. Nance Co., 101 

Garfield Co. Fairgrounds, Burwell, 67,66 

Gameau-Kilpatrick House, Omaha, 44 


Gates College Gymnasium, Neligh, 11 

Gehling's Theater, Falls City, 117 

Genoa Site, Nance Co., 102,106-7 

Georgia Row House, Omaha, 45 

Germantown State Bank Bldg., Garland, 131 

Gibson House. Weeping Water, 24,26 

Gilmore Site, Cass Co., 21 

Glade-Donald House, Grand Island, 69.69 

Gold & Company Store Bldg., Lincoln, 86,99 

Gothenburg Library. Gothenburg, 33 

Gottschalk Houses, Columbus, 111 

Gourley's Opera House, Rushville, 133 

Grand Island Public Library, 69,72 

Grand Island FCC Station, Hall Co., 71 

Hall Co. Courthouse, Grand Island, 69.23 

Hamilton Co. Courthouse. Aurora, 71.76 

Hamilton-Donald House, Grand Island, 69,68 

Hamilton House, Bellevue, 122 

Hampton Homestead, Banner Co., 12 

Hanson House, Wahoo, 127,129 

Hanson-Downing House, Kearney. 14,16 

Hargis House, Grand Island, 70.74 

Harris House, Lincoln. 86 

HavenS-Page House, Omaha, 45 

Hayward School, Lincoln, 86 

Hearn Bldg., Aurora, 72 

Hempstead House, Pawnee City, lOB 

Hendee Hotel, Cozad, 33,41 

Hill Hotel, Omaha, 45 

Hill-Rupp Site, Platte Co., 112 

Holman House, Humboldt, 117,15.122 

Holy Family Church, Omaha, 45 

Hooper District, Hooper, 36,45 

Hard House, Central City. 99 

Horse Creek Site, Nance Co., 101 

Hotel Capital (yMCA Bldg.), Lincoln, 86,100 

Hotel DeFair. Hyannis, 67,67 

Hotel Yancey, North Platte, 99,103 

Hotel Yancey, Grand Island, 70,71 

Hotel Wilber, Wilber,l22,126 

Houston House, Tekamah, 16,18 

Hudson-Meng Bison Kill Site, Sioux Co., 133 

Humphrey Site, Hooker Co., 75 

I.O.O.F. Hall & Opera House, Bladen,139 
1.0.0.F. Opera House, Hampton, 73 

I.O.O.F. Temple Bldg.• Fairbury, 77,78 

Indian Hill District, Dixon Co., 33,42 

Janecek House, Schuyler, 29. 

Jefferson Co. Courthouse, Fairbury, 77.78 

Jeffery Farmstead, York Co., 140,141 

Jewell Bldg., Omaha, 47 

Johnston Memorial Bldg., Wallace, 99,101 

Johnston-Muff House, Crete, 119,126 

Joslyn Mansion, Omaha,.47,49 

Kehlbeck Farmstead, Cass Co., 18,25 

Kelly House, Omaha, 48 

Kelso Site, Hooker Co.• 75 

Kennard House. Lincoln. 86,cover,95 

Kennedy Bldg., Omaha. 48 

Keya Paha Co. High School. Springview. 81 

Keystone Community Church, 81,84 

Kiddie House, Friend, 121,122 

Kilpatrick House, Beatrice, 64,63 

Kinkaid Bldg., O'Neill, 74,76-77 

Knoell Farmstead, Dodge Co., 35 

Kurz Omaha Village Site, Sarpy Co., 125 

Larson Site, Platte Co., 112 

Lawrence Opera House, Lawrence, 104 

Leary Site. Richardson Co., 117 

Lee Octagon House, Otoe Co., 108 

Leone, Florentine, Carpathia Bldgs., Omaha, 48 

Leshara Site, Saunders Co., 126 

Lewls-Syford House. Uncoln, 86,97 

Liederkranz, Grand Island, 70,74 

Lincoln Highway, Douglas Co., 37,51 

Lincoln Liberty Life Insurance Bldg., B8 

Linwood Site. Butler Co., 18,21 

Lodgepole Opera House, 28 

Logan Creek Site, Burt Co., 16 

Lost Creek Site, Franklin Co., 61 

Love-Larson Opera House, Fremont, 35,43 

Lovitt Site, Chase Co., 27 

Lynch Site, Boyd Co., 13 

Majors Farmstead, Peru. 104.111 

Malcolm X House Site. Omaha, 4B 

Mann House. Wilber, 122,123 
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Marquis Opera House, Scottsbluff, 129 

Martha Ellen Audllorium, Central City, 99 

Mason School, Omaha, 48,48 

Massacre Canyon/Woodland Site, Hitchcock Co., 


McClean or McClaine Site, Saunders Co., 127 

McCook Carnegie Library, 114.120 

McCormick Hall, Hastings, 8,10 

McDonald House, Fremont, 35,44 

McLaughlin House, Omaha, 48 

McLaughlin.Waugh·Dovey House, Plattsmouth, 24 

Meisch House, South Sioux City, 32 

Meisner House, Buffalo Co., 14 

Mercer House, Omaha, 50 

Merrill Mission/OIO Village Site, Sarpy Co., 125 

Metropolitan Apartments, Uncoln, 88 

Mickey House, Osceola, 112 

Monmouth Park School, Omaha, 50 

Morrill Homestead, Polk Co., 112 

Morris Boyhood Home, Central City, 100 

Morton·James Library, Nebraska City, 104 

Mt. Emerald & Capitol Additions District, Lincoln, 


89,86,91 ,92,94 

Mowry Bluff Site, Frontier Co., 62 

Mud Springs Slation Site, Morrill Co., 101 ,104 

Municipal Lighting & Waterworks, Lincoln, 89,93 

Naomi Institute, Cass Co., 24 

Nash Block, Omaha, 50 

National Bank of Ashland, Ashland, 126 

Nebraska City District, 104,115 


South District 107 

South 13th Street District, 107,116 


Nebraska-Kansas Land Survey Themalic Group, 

Jefferson-Richardson Co., 79 


Nebraska Loan and Trust Bldg., Hastings, 8,11 

Nebraska Telephone Co. Bldg., Lincoln, 89 

Nebraska State Capitol, Lincoln, 89,2,90 

Nehawka Flint Quarries, Cass Co., 21 

Neihardt Study. Bancroft, 30,36 

Neligh Mill and Elevators, Neligh, 11,13 

New Opera House, Auburn, 103 

New York Life Insurance Bldg., Omaha, 51 .46 

Nine-mile Prairie, Lancaster Co., 97 

19th-Century Terrace Houses, Lincoln, 89.88,97 

Norris House, McCook, 115,120 

North Bend Carnegie Library, 36 

North Presbyterian Church. Omaha. 51 

Nowlan-Dietrich House, Hastings. 10 

Nye House, Fremont, 35,43,45 

O'Connor House, Dakota Co., 31,38 

O'Fallon's Bluff. Uncoln Co.. 99 

Oak Ballroom. Schuyler, 29,35 

Old Log Cabin. Bellevue. 122 

Old Main. Lincoln, 89 

Old Market District Omaha, 51 

Old People's Home, Omaha. 51 

Old University Library, Lincoln, 91,98 

Omaha High School, 51,50 

Omaha Public Library, 52,23 

Omaha Quartermaster Depot District, 52,54 

Osterman & Tremaine Bldg.. Fremont, 35,44,45 

0 10 Agency Site, Gage Co.. 62 

Dtoe Co. Courthouse, Nebraska City, 107,117 

Our lady of Perpetual Help Catholic Church and 


Cemetery, Colfax Co., 29 

Packer's National Bank Bldg., Omaha, 52 

Paddock Hotel, Beatrice, 64 

Paddock House, Beatrice. 64 

Pahuk Hill, Saunders Co.• 126,131 

Palmer Site, Howard Co., 76 

Patterson Law Office, Central City, 100 

Pawnee Mlssion/Burnt Village Site, Nance Co., 


102,106 

People's State Bank. Diller, 76 

People's Unitarian Church, Ord, 137,135 

Peterson Farmstead, Lancaster Co.• 97,101 

Phelps Hotel, Big Springs, 33,41 

Phi Della Thela Fraternity House. Lincoln, 91 

Pike-Pawnee Slle, Webster Co.. 139 

Pilgrim Congregational Church, Santee, 82 

Pilgrim Holiness Church, Arthur, 12,14·15 

Pisar Farmstead. Saline Co., 120,124 

Plattsmouth Main Street District, 24.24,27 

Ponca Fon Site, Knox Co.. 83 

Ponca District, Ponca. 34,43 

Poppleton Block, Omaha, 52 


Porter-Thomsen House, Omaha, 52 

Pospeshil Theater. Bloomfield, 82 

Prague Hotel, Omaha, 55,58 

Presbyterian Church, Bellevue, 123,129 

Quivey House, Mitchell, 129 

Rad Plzen Cis. 9 Z.C.B.J .• Morse Bluff, 127 

Rad Sladkovsky, Pishelville, 82,85 

Rad Tabor 74 Z.C.B.J" Saline Co., 120 

Rademacher House, Crete, 119 

Red Smoke Site, Frontier Co., 62 

Redbird Sile I, Hall Co., 75 

Redick Tower, Omaha, 55,54 

Reed House, Auburn, 103,109 

Robidoux Pass, Scotts Bluff Co., 129 

Robinson House, Waterloo, 60,48 

Rock Island Depot Lincoln, 91 ,98 

Roeser House, Grand Island, 71 

Rosewater School, Omaha, 55,54 

Royal Highlanders Bldg., Aurora, 72,75 

Royer-Williams House, Lincoln, 91 

Running Water Station Site, Box Butte Co., 12 

Ryons-Alexander House, lincoln, 91 

Sacred Heart Catholic Church, Omaha, 55 

SI. Benedict's Catholic Church, Nebraska City, 107 

51. Bonaventure Catholic Church, Raevilie, 12,14 
51. Boniface Catholic Church, Menominee, 26.28 
SI. Cecilia's Calhedral, Omaha, 55,23 
51. Charles Apartments, Lincoln, 91 

SI. John's African Melhodist Episcopal, Omaha, 55 

SI. John's Evangelical Church & Cemetery, Hayes 


Co., 73 

SI. John's Lutheran Church, Nemaha Co., 103,113 

51. Joseph Parish Complex, Omaha, 55,57 
SI. Luke's Protestant Episcopal Church, Kearney. 
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SI. Mark's Episcopal Pro·calhedral, Hastings, 10,8 
51. Martin's Catholic Church. Clay Co.. 28 

SI. Martin of Tours Episcopal Church, Omaha. 56 

SI. Matthias' Episcopal Church, Omaha, 56 

SI. Michael's Catholic Church, Spalding, 67,68 

SI. Paul Methodist Protestant Church. Hitchcock 


Co., 74 

SI. Peter's Episcopal Church, Neligh, 12,15 

SI. Philomena's Cathedral, Omaha, 56 

SI. Stephen's Episcopal Church, Ashland, 126 

Salem Swedish Methodist Episcopal. Kearney Co.. 


79 

Sanford Hotel, Omaha, 56 

Sarpy Trading Post Site, Sarpy Co., 125 

Saunders School, Omaha, 56 

Saulter Farmhouse, Papillion, 125 

Schneider House, Fremont, 35 

Schneider's Opera House, Snyder. 37 

Schrader Site, Lancaster Co., 97 

Schulte Site. Cedar Co., 26 

Schultz Site, Valley Co., 137 

Schuyler City Hall, Schuyler, 29,33 
Scottish Rite Temple, Lincoln, 92 

Scotts Bluff Nat. Monument, Scotts Bluff Co., 92, 132 

Scottsbluff Public library, 129 

Scout's Rest Ranch, Lincoln Co., 99,102 
Security Mutual life Bldg., Uncoln. 92,87 
Security State Bank Bldg., Broken Bow. 30 

Segelke Bldg., Columbus, 11 1,119 
Seward Co. Courthouse Square District, 131 ,133 
Sherman, The, Omaha, 56 

Signal Butte, Scotts Bluff Co.• 130 

Smith House. Geneva, 60,59 
Smith lime Kiln/Umestone House. Jefferson Co.• 


78,79 

Snyder House, Columbus, 111,1 18 

Sorensen House, Gering, 128 

South Bottoms District, Lincoln. 93,96 

Spade Ranch, Sheridan Co., 132,134 

Spielman House, Tekamah, 17 

Standard Oil Company Bldg.. Omaha, 56 

Starke Round Barn, Webster Co.. 140.141 

State Arsenal, Uncoln, 93 

States Ballroom, Bee, 130 

Steele City District, 79.80 

Siein Brothers Bldg.. Hastings, 11 

Steinauer Opera House, Steinauer, 110,147 

Stevens Creek Stock Farm. Lancaster Co.. 97 

Stevens Site, Cheyenne Co.• 28,32 

Stolley Homestead/FI. Independence Site, Grand 


Island. 71,72 

Slone Bldg., Kimball, 82 

Stork Log House, Burt Co., 17 

Storz House, Omaha, 56,4 7 

Strehlow Terrace, Omaha, 57 

Surprise Opera House, 18 

Sutton ReSidence, McCook, 116,121 
Swedish Evangelical Lutheran. Dixon Co.. 35,42 
Sweetwater Site. Sherman Co., 133 

Table Rock Opera House, 111 

Table Rock Site, Pawnee Co., 111 

Taylor House. David City, 18,20 
Tecumseh District, 79,81 ,82 
Tefocvicna Jednota Sokol, Saline Co., 122,123 
Temple of Congregation B'nai Jeshuran. Lincoln, 

93 

Terminal Bldg., Uncoln. 94 

Thlrty-Two-Mile Station Site, Adams Co., 11 

Thomas House, Kearney, 14 

Thorne Bldg.• Minden, 80 

Thorpe's Opera House, David City, 18 

Tifereth Israel Synagogue. Lincoln, 94 

Townsend Photography Studio, Lincoln. 94 

Tnnity Cathedral, Omaha, 58,53 

Trinity Memorial Episcopal ChurCh, Crete, 119 

Tyler House, Lincoln, 94 

U.S. Courthouse & Post Office, Nebraska City, 107, 


11 7 

U.S. Indian Industrial School. Genoa. 101,106 
U.S. Post Office and Courthouse, Lincoln, 94,88 
U.S. Post Office and Courthouse, Norfolk, 99,103 
U.S. Post Office, Kearney. 14 

U.S.S. Hazard/U.S.$. Marlin. Omaha, 58 

Uehling Barn, Dodge Co., 37 

Union Passenger Terminal, Omaha, 59,52 . 

Valenline Public School. Valentine, 27 

Veith Bldg., Lincoln, 94,89 

Victory Bldg .• Hastings. 11.10 

Wahoo Burlington Depot, 127 

Walcon House, Valentine, 27,31 

Ware House, Otoe Co., 108,114 

Warren 's Opera House, Friend, 121 

Wayne Co. Courthouse, Wayne, 139 

Webster Telephone Exchange Bldg., Omaha, 59 

Weeping Water District, Weeping Water. 24,27 

Wescott, Gibbons & Bragg's Store, ComstOCk, 30, 


3. 
Whitehall-Olive White Residence, Uncoln, 94,92 
Wightman House, Wayne, 139,137 
Wilson House, Siromsburg, 112 

Wiseman Site, Cedar Co., 27 

Witt Fachwerkbau, Saline Co.. 122 

Wolfe and Gray Sites, Colfax Co., 29,34 
Woodcli ff Site, Saunders Co., 127 

Woods Brolhers Bldg., Uncoln, 94 

Wright Bldg., Scotia, 67 

Wright Site. Nance Co.• 103 

Wurdeman-Lawson Sile, Platte Co., 112 

Wyuka Cemetery. Uncoln, 97,95 
YWCA Bldg.. Uncoln, 97 

Yutan Slle, Saunders, 128 

Z.C.B.J. Opera House. Clarkson, 29 

Z.C.B.J. Opera House, Verdigre, 84.85 

Zabriskie House, Omaha, 59.59 

Zavadil Farmstead, Cedar Co.. 26,29 

Ziemer House. Uncoln, 97,91 

Zion Presbyterian Church, Colfax Co.• 29 
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